# **Residential and commercial<sup>1</sup> buildings**

## **Coordinating Lead Authors:**

Mark Levine (USA), Diana Ürge-Vorsatz (Hungary)

## Lead Authors:

Kornelis Blok (The Netherlands), Luis Geng (Peru), Danny Harvey (Canada), Siwei Lang (China), Geoffrey Levermore (UK), Anthony Mongameli Mehlwana (South Africa), Sevastian Mirasgedis (Greece), Aleksandra Novikova (Russia), Jacques Rilling (France), Hiroshi Yoshino (Japan)

## **Contributing Authors:**

Paolo Bertoldi (Italy), Brenda Boardman (UK), Marilyn Brown (USA), Suzanne Joosen (The Netherlands), Phillipe Haves (USA), Jeff Harris (USA), Mithra Moezzi (USA)

## **Review Editors:**

Eberhard Jochem (Germany), Huaqing Xu (PR China)

## This chapter should be cited as:

Levine, M., D. Ürge-Vorsatz, K. Blok, L. Geng, D. Harvey, S. Lang, G. Levermore, A. Mongameli Mehlwana, S. Mirasgedis, A. Novikova, J. Rilling, H. Yoshino, 2007: Residential and commercial buildings. In Climate Change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [B. Metz, O.R. Davidson, P.R. Bosch, R. Dave, L.A. Meyer (eds)], Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.

<sup>1</sup> The category of non-residential buildings is referred to by different names in the literature, including commercial, tertiary, public, office, and municipal. In this chapter we consider all non-domestic residential buildings under the "commercial" sector.

## **Table of Contents**

Execu	tive Summary
6.1 I	ntroduction 391
6.2 T	Frends in buildings sector emissions
6.3 S	Scenarios of carbon emissions resulting from energy use in buildings
6.4 ( e	GHG mitigation options in buildings and equipment
6.4.	1 Overview of energy efficiency principles
6.4.	2 Thermal envelope
6.4.	3 Heating systems
6.4.	4 Cooling and cooling loads
6.4.	5 Heating, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) systems
6.4.	6 Building energy management systems (BEMS). 400
6.4.	7 Active collection and transformation of solar energy
6.4.	8 Domestic hot water 402
6.4.	9 Lighting systems 402
6.4.	10 Daylighting 402
6.4.	11 Household appliances, consumer electronics and office equipment
6.4.	12 Supermarket refrigeration systems
6.4.	13 Energy savings through retrofits
6.4.	14 Trade-offs between embodied energy and operating energy 405
6.4.	15 Trade-offs involving energy-related emissions and halocarbon emissions
6.4.	16 Summary of mitigation options in buildings 406
6.5 H	Potential for and costs of greenhouse gas nitigation in buildings409
6.5.	1 Recent advances in potential estimations from around the world 409
6.5.	2 Recent advances in estimating the costs of GHG mitigation in buildings
6.5.	3 Supply curves of conserved carbon dioxide 414
6.5.	4 Most attractive measures in buildings 415
6.5.	5 Energy and cost savings through use of the Integrated Design Process (IDP) 416

6.6 Co res	-benefits of GHG mitigation in the idential and commercial sectors
6.6.1	Reduction in local/regional air pollution
6.6.2	Improved health, quality of life and comfort 416
6.6.3	Improved productivity
6.6.4	Employment creation and new business opportunities
6.6.5	Improved social welfare and poverty alleviation 418
6.6.6	Energy security
6.6.7	Summary of co-benefits
6.7 Ba	rriers to adopting building technologies
an	d practices that reduce GHG emissions 418
6.7.1	Limitations of the traditional building design process and fragmented market structure 418
6.7.2	Misplaced incentives
6.7.3	Energy subsidies, non-payment and theft 419
6.7.4	Regulatory barriers 420
6.7.5	Small project size, transaction costs and perceived risk
6.7.6	Imperfect information
6.7.7	Culture, behaviour, lifestyle and the rebound effect
6.7.8	Other barriers
6.8 Po bui	licies to promote GHG mitigationin ildings
6.8.1	Policies and programmes aimed at building construction, retrofits, and installed equipment and systems
6.8.2	Policies and programmes aimed at appliances, lighting and office/consumer plug loads
6.8.3	Cross-cutting policies and programmes that support energy efficiency and/or CO <sub>2</sub> mitigation in buildings
6.8.4	Policies affecting non-CO <sub>2</sub> gases430
6.8.5	Policy options for GHG abatement in buildings: summary and conclusion
6.9 Int vul dev	teractions of mitigation options with Inerability, adaptation and sustainable velopment
6.9.1	Interactions of mitigation options with vulnerability and adaptation
6.9.2	Synergies with sustainability in developing countries
6.10 C	ritical gaps in knowledge437
Referen	ces

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

In 2004, emissions from the buildings sector including through electricity use were about 8.6 GtCO<sub>2</sub>, 0.1 GtCO<sub>2</sub>- eq N<sub>2</sub>O, 0.4 GtCO<sub>2</sub>-eq CH<sub>4</sub> and 1.5 GtCO<sub>2</sub>-eq halocarbons (including CFCs and HCFCs). Using an accounting system that attributes CO<sub>2</sub> emissions to electricity supply rather than buildings end-uses, the direct energy-related carbon dioxide emissions of the building sector are about 3 Gt/yr.

For the buildings sector the literature uses a variety of baselines. Therefore a baseline was derived for this sector based on the literature, resulting in emissions between the B2 and A1B SRES scenarios, with 11.1 Gt of emissions of  $CO_2$  in 2020 and 14.3 GtCO<sub>2</sub> in 2030 (including electricity emissions but omitting halocarbons, which could conceivably be substantially phased out by 2030).

Measures to reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from buildings fall into one of three categories: reducing energy consumption and embodied energy in buildings, switching to low-carbon fuels including a higher share of renewable energy, or controlling the emissions of non-CO<sub>2</sub> GHG gases.<sup>2</sup> This chapter devotes most attention to improving energy efficiency in new and existing buildings, which encompasses the most diverse, largest and most cost-effective mitigation opportunities in buildings.

The key conclusion of the chapter is that substantial reductions in  $CO_2$  emissions from energy use in buildings can be achieved over the coming years using mature technologies for energy efficiency that already exist widely and that have been successfully used (*high agreement, much evidence*). A significant portion of these savings can be achieved in ways that reduce life-cycle costs, thus providing reductions in  $CO_2$  emissions that have a net benefit rather than cost. However, due to the long lifetime of buildings and their equipment, as well as the strong and numerous market barriers prevailing in this sector, many buildings do not apply these basic technologies to the level life-cycle cost minimisation would warrant (*high agreement, much evidence*).

Our survey of the literature (80 studies) indicates that there is a global potential to reduce approximately 29% of the projected baseline emissions by 2020 cost-effectively in the residential and commercial sectors, the highest among all sectors studied in this report (*high agreement, much evidence*). Additionally at least 3% of baseline emissions can be avoided at costs up to 20 US\$/tCO<sub>2</sub> and 4% more if costs up to 100 US\$/tCO<sub>2</sub> are considered. However, due to the large opportunities at lowcosts, the high-cost potential has been assessed to a limited extent, and thus this figure is an underestimate (*high agreement, much evidence*). Using the global baseline  $CO_2$  emission projections for buildings, these estimates represent a reduction of approximately 3.2, 3.6 and 4.0 GtCO<sub>2</sub>/yr in 2020, at zero, 20 US\$/tCO<sub>2</sub> and 100 US\$/tCO<sub>2</sub> respectively. Our extrapolation of the potentials to the year 2030 suggests that, globally, about 4.5, 5.0 and 5.6 GtCO<sub>2</sub> at negative cost, <20 US\$ and <100 US\$/tCO<sub>2</sub>-eq respectively, can be reduced (approximately 30, 35 and 40% of the projected baseline emissions) *(medium agreement, limited evidence)*. These numbers are associated with significantly lower levels of certainty than the 2020 ones due to very limited research available for 2030.

While occupant behaviour, culture and consumer choice and use of technologies are also major determinants of energy use in buildings and play a fundamental role in determining  $CO_2$ emissions (*high agreement, limited evidence*), the potential reduction through non-technological options is rarely assessed and the potential leverage of policies over these is poorly understood. Due to the limited number of demand-side enduse efficiency options considered by the studies, the omission of non-technological options and the often significant cobenefits, as well as the exclusion of advanced integrated highly efficiency buildings, the real potential is likely to be higher (*high agreement, limited evidence*).

There is a broad array of accessible and cost-effective technologies and know-how that have not as yet been widely adopted, which can abate GHG emissions in buildings to a significant extent. These include passive solar design, highefficiency lighting and appliances<sup>3</sup>, highly efficient ventilation and cooling systems, solar water heaters, insulation materials and techniques, high-reflectivity building materials and multiple glazing. The largest savings in energy use (75% or higher) occur for new buildings, through designing and operating buildings as complete systems. Realizing these savings requires an integrated design process involving architects, engineers, contractors and clients, with full consideration of opportunities for passively reducing building energy demands. Over the whole building stock the largest portion of carbon savings by 2030 is in retrofitting existing buildings and replacing energyusing equipment due to the slow turnover of the stock (high agreement, much evidence).

Implementing carbon mitigation options in buildings is associated with a wide range of co-benefits. While financial assessment has been limited, it is estimated that their overall value may be higher than those of the energy savings benefits (medium agreement, limited evidence). Economic co-benefits include the creation of jobs and business opportunities, increased economic competitiveness and energy security. Other co-benefits include social welfare benefits for low-income households, increased access to energy services, improved indoor and outdoor air quality, as well as increased comfort,

<sup>2</sup> Fuel switching is largely the province of Chapter 4, energy supply.

<sup>3</sup> By appliances, we mean all electricity-using devices, with the exception of equipment used for heating, cooling and lighting.

health and quality of life. In developing countries, safe and highefficiency cooking devices and high-efficiency electric lighting would not only abate substantial GHG emissions, but would reduce mortality and morbidity due to indoor air pollution by millions of cases worldwide annually *(high agreement, medium evidence)*.

There are, however, substantial market barriers that need to be overcome and a faster pace of well-enforced policies and programmes pursued for energy efficiency and de-carbonisation to achieve the indicated high negative and low-cost mitigation potential. These barriers include high costs of gathering reliable information on energy efficiency measures, lack of proper incentives (e.g., between landlords who would pay for efficiency and tenants who realize the benefits), limitations in access to financing, subsidies on energy prices, as well as the fragmentation of the building industry and the design process into many professions, trades, work stages and industries. These barriers are especially strong and diverse in the residential and commercial sectors; therefore, overcoming them is only possible through a diverse portfolio of policy instruments (*high agreement, medium evidence*).

Energy efficiency and utilisation of renewable energy in buildings offer a large portfolio of options where synergies between sustainable development and GHG abatement exist. The most relevant of these for the least developed countries are safe and efficient cooking stoves that, while cutting GHG emissions, significantly, reduce mortality and morbidity by reducing indoor air pollution. Such devices also reduce the workload for women and children and decrease the demands placed on scarce natural resources. Reduced energy payments resulting from energy-efficiency and utilisation of buildinglevel renewable energy resources improve social welfare and enhance access to energy services.

A variety of government policies have been demonstrated to be successful in many countries in reducing energy-related CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in buildings (high agreement, much evidence). Among these are continuously updated appliance standards and building energy codes and labelling, energy pricing measures and financial incentives, utility demand-side management programmes, public sector energy leadership programmes including procurement policies, education and training initiatives and the promotion of energy service companies. The greatest challenge is the development of effective strategies for retrofitting existing buildings due to their slow turnover. Since climate change literacy, awareness of technological, cultural and behavioural choices are important preconditions to fully operating policies, applying these policy approaches needs to go hand in hand with programmes that increase consumer access to information and awareness and knowledge through education.

To sum up, while buildings offer the largest share of costeffective opportunities for GHG mitigation among the sectors examined in this report, achieving a lower carbon future will require very significant efforts to enhance programmes and policies for energy efficiency in buildings and low-carbon energy sources well beyond what is happening today.

## 6.1 Introduction

Measures to reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from buildings fall into one of three categories: reducing energy consumption<sup>4</sup> and embodied energy in buildings, switching to low-carbon fuels including a higher share of renewable energy, or controlling the emissions of non-CO2 GHG gases. Renewable and low-carbon energy can be supplied to buildings or generated on-site by distributed generation technologies. Steps to decarbonise electricity generation can eliminate a substantial share of present emissions in buildings. Chapter 4 describes the options for centralized renewable energy generation, while this chapter covers building-level options for low-carbon electricity generation on-site. This chapter devotes most attention to energy efficiency in new and existing buildings, as fuel switching is largely covered elsewhere in this report (Chapter 4). Non-CO<sub>2</sub> GHGs are treated in depth in the IPCC special report on safeguarding the ozone layer and the climate system (IPCC/ TEAP, 2005), but some of the most significant issues related to buildings are discussed in this chapter as well.

A very large number of technologies that are commercially available and tested in practice can substantially reduce energy use while providing the same services and often substantial co-benefits. After a review of recent trends in building energy use followed by a description of scenarios of energy use and associated GHG emissions, this chapter provides an overview of the various possibilities in buildings to reduce GHG emissions. Next, a selection of these technologies and practices is illustrated by a few examples, demonstrating the plethora of opportunities to achieve GHG emission reductions as significant as 70–80%. This is followed by a discussion of co-benefits from reducing GHG emissions from buildings, and a review of studies that have estimated the magnitude and costs of potential GHG reductions worldwide.

In spite of the availability of these high-efficiency technologies and practices, energy use in buildings continues to be much higher than necessary. There are many reasons for this energy waste in buildings. The chapter continues with identifying the key barriers that prevent rational decision-making in energy-related choices affecting energy use in buildings. Countries throughout the world have applied a variety of policies in order to deal with these market imperfections. The following sections offer an insight into the experiences with the various policy instruments applied in buildings to cut GHG emissions worldwide. The past five years have shown increasing application of these policies in many countries in Europe and growing interest in several key developing and transition economies. In spite of this fact, global CO<sub>2</sub> emissions resulting from energy use in buildings have increased at an average of 2.7% per year in the past five years for which data is available (1999-2004). The substantial barriers that need to be overcome and the relatively slow pace

of policies and programmes for energy efficiency will provide major challenges to rapid achievement of low-emission buildings.

## 6.2 Trends in buildings sector emissions

In 2004, direct emissions from the buildings sector (excluding the emissions from electricity use) were about 3  $GtCO_2$ , 0.4  $GtCO_2$ -eq  $CH_4$ , 0.1  $GtCO_2$ -eq  $N_2O$  and 1.5  $GtCO_2$ -eq halocarbons (including CFCs and HCFCs). As mitigation in this sector includes a lot of measures aimed at electricity saving it is useful to compare the mitigation potential with carbon dioxide emissions, including those through the use of electricity. When including the emissions from electricity use, energy-related carbon dioxide emissions were 8.6 Gt/yr (Price *et al.*, 2006), or almost a quarter of the global total carbon dioxide emissions as reported in Chapter 1. IEA estimates a somewhat higher fraction of carbon dioxide emissions due to buildings.

Figure 6.1 shows the estimated emissions of  $CO_2$  from energy use in buildings from two different perspectives. The bar at the left represents emissions of  $CO_2$  from all energy end-uses in buildings. The bar at the right represents only those emissions from direct combustion of fossil fuels. Because the electricity can be derived from fuels with lower carbon content than current fuels,  $CO_2$  emissions from electricity use in buildings can also be altered on the supply side.

Carbon dioxide emissions, including through the use of electricity in buildings, grew from 1971 to 2004 at an annual rate of 2%, – about equal to the overall growth rate



Figure 6.1: Carbon dioxide emissions from energy, 2004 Sources: IEA, 2006e and Price et al. 2006.

<sup>4</sup> This counts all forms of energy use in buildings, including electricity.

of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from all uses of energy. CO<sub>2</sub> emissions for commercial buildings grew at 2.5% per year and at 1.7% per year for residential buildings during this period. The largest regional increases in CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (including through the use of electricity) for commercial buildings were from developing Asia (30%), North America (29%) and OECD Pacific (18%). The largest regional increase in CO<sub>2</sub> emissions for residential buildings was from Developing Asia accounting for 42% and Middle East/North Africa with 19%.

During the past seven years since the IPCC Third Assessment Report (TAR, IPCC, 2001), CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (including through the use of electricity) in residential buildings have increased at a much slower rate than the 30-year trend (annual rate of 0.1%versus trend of 1.4%) and emissions associated with commercial buildings have grown at a faster rate (3.0% per year in last five years) than the 30-year trend (2.2%) (Price *et al.*, 2006).

Non-CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (largely halocarbons, CFCs, and HCFCs, covered under the Montreal Protocol and HFCs) from cooling and refrigeration contribute more than 15% of the 8.6 GtCO<sub>2</sub> emissions associated with buildings. About 1.5 GtCO<sub>2</sub>-eq of

halocarbon (HFCs, CFCs and HCFCs) emissions, or 60% of the total halocarbon emissions was due to refrigerants and blowing agents for use in buildings (refrigerators, air conditioners and insulation) in 2002. Emissions due to these uses are projected to remain about constant until 2015 and decline if effective policies are pursued (IPCC/TEAP, 2005).

## 6.3 Scenarios of carbon emissions resulting from energy use in buildings

Figure 6.2 shows the results for the buildings sector of disaggregating two of the emissions scenarios produced for the IPCC Special Report on Emissions Scenarios (SRES) (IPCC, 2000), Scenarios A1B and B2, into ten world regions (Price *et al.*, 2006). These scenarios show a range of projected buildings related  $CO_2$  emissions (including through the use of electricity): from 8.6 GtCO<sub>2</sub> emissions in 2004 to 11.4 and 15.6 GtCO<sub>2</sub> emissions in 2030 (B2 and A1B respectively), representing an approximately 30% share of total  $CO_2$  emissions in both scenarios. In Scenario B2, which has lower economic growth, especially in



Figure 6.2: CO<sub>2</sub> emissions including through the use of electricity: A1B (top) and B2 (bottom) IPCC (SRES) scenarios

Note: Dark red – historic emissions 1971–2000 based on Price *et al.* (2006) modifications of IEA data. Light red – projections 2001–2030 data based on Price *et al.* (2006) disaggregation of SRES data; 2000–2010 data adjusted to actual 2000 carbon dioxide emissions. EECCA = Countries of Eastern Europe, the Caucasus and Central Asia.

the developing world (except China), two regions account for the largest portion of increased  $CO_2$  emissions from 2004 to 2030: North America and Developing Asia. In Scenario A1B (which shows rapid economic growth, especially in developing nations), all of the increase in  $CO_2$  emissions occurs in the developing world: Developing Asia, Middle East/North Africa, Latin America and sub-Saharan Africa, in that order. Overall, average annual  $CO_2$  emissions growth is 1.5% in Scenario B2 and 2.4% in Scenario A1B over the 26-year period.

For the purpose of estimating the  $CO_2$  mitigation potential in buildings, a baseline was derived based on the review of several studies. This baseline represents an aggregation of national and regional baselines reported in the studies (see Box 6.1). The building sector baseline derived and used in this chapter shows emissions between the B2 and A1B (SRES) scenarios, with 11.1 Gt of  $CO_2$ -eq emissions in 2020 and 14.3 Gt in 2030 (including electricity emissions).

## 6.4 GHG mitigation options in buildings and equipment

There is an extensive array of technologies that can be used to abate GHG emissions in new and existing residential and commercial buildings. Prior to discussing options for reducing specific end-uses of energy in buildings it is useful to present an overview of energy end-uses in the residential and commercial sectors, where such information is available and to review some principles of energy-efficient design and operation that are broadly applicable. Figure 6.3 presents a breakdown of energy end-use in the residential and commercial sector for the United States and China. The single largest user of energy in residential buildings in both regions is space heating, followed by water heating (China) and other uses - primarily electric appliances (USA). The order of the next largest uses are reversed in China and the United States, suggesting that electric appliances will increase in use over time in China. The end-uses in commercial buildings are much less similar between China and the United States. For China, heating is by far the largest end-use. For the United States, the largest end-use is other (plug loads involving office equipment and small appliances).

Water heating is the second end-use in China; it is not significant in commercial buildings in the United States. Lighting and cooling are similarly important as the third and fourth largest user in both countries.

The single largest use of energy in residential buildings in both regions is for space heating, followed by water heating. Space heating is also the single largest use of energy in commercial



Figure 6.3: Breakdown of residential and commercial sector energy use in United States (2005) and China (2000). Sources: EIA, 2006 and Zhou, 2007. buildings in the EU, accounting for up to 2/3 of total energy use and is undoubtedly dominant in the cold regions of China and in the Former Soviet Union. Lighting is sometimes the largest single use of electricity in commercial buildings, although in hot climates, air conditioning tends to be the single largest use of electricity.

## 6.4.1 Overview of energy efficiency principles

Design strategies for energy-efficient buildings include reducing loads, selecting systems that make the most effective use of ambient energy sources and heat sinks and using efficient equipment and effective control strategies. An integrated design approach is required to ensure that the architectural elements and the engineering systems work effectively together.

#### 6.4.1.1 Reduce heating, cooling and lighting loads

A simple strategy for reducing heating and cooling loads is to isolate the building from the environment by using high levels of insulation, optimizing the glazing area and minimizing the infiltration of outside air. This approach is most appropriate for cold, overcast climates. A more effective strategy in most other climates is to use the building envelope as a filter, selectively accepting or rejecting solar radiation and outside air, depending on the need for heating, cooling, ventilation and lighting at that time and using the heat capacity of the building structure to shift thermal loads on a time scale of hours to days.

## 6.4.1.2 Utilize active solar energy and other environmental heat sources and sinks

Active solar energy systems can provide electricity generation, hot water and space conditioning. The ground, ground water, aquifers and open bodies of water, and less so air, can be used selectively as heat sources or sinks, either directly or by using heat pumps. Space cooling methods that dissipate heat directly to natural heat sinks without the use of refrigeration cycles (evaporative cooling, radiative cooling to the night sky, earth-pipe cooling) can be used.

# 6.4.1.3 Increase efficiency of appliances, heating and cooling equipment and ventilation

The efficiency of equipment in buildings continues to increase in most industrialized and many developing countries, as it has over the past quarter-century. Increasing the efficiency – and where possible reducing the number and size – of appliances, lighting and other equipment within conditioned spaces reduces energy consumption directly and also reduces cooling loads but increases heating loads, although usually by lesser amounts and possibly for different fuel types.

# 6.4.1.4 Implement commissioning and improve operations and maintenance

The actual performance of a building depends as much on the quality of construction as on the quality of the design itself. Building commissioning is a quality control process that includes design review, functional testing of energy-consuming systems and components, and clear documentation for the owner and operators. Actual building energy performance also depends critically on how well the building is operated and maintained. Continuous performance monitoring, automated diagnostics and improved operator training are complementary approaches to improving the operation of commercial buildings in particular.

## 6.4.1.5 Change behaviour

The energy use of a building also depends on the behaviour and decisions of occupants and owners. Classic studies at Princeton University showed energy use variations of more than a factor of two between houses that were identical but had different occupants (Socolow, 1978). Levermore (1985) found a variation of 40% gas consumption and 54% electricity consumption in nine identical children's homes in a small area of London. When those in charge of the homes knew that their consumption was being monitored, the electricity consumption fell. Behaviour of the occupants of non-residential buildings also has a substantial impact on energy use, especially when the lighting, heating and ventilation are controlled manually (Ueno *et al.*, 2006).

#### 6.4.1.6 Utilize system approaches to building design

Evaluation of the opportunities to reduce energy use in buildings can be done at the level of individual energy-using *devices* or at the level of building 'systems' (including building energy management systems and human behaviour). Energy efficiency strategies focused on individual energy-using devices or design features are often limited to incremental improvements. Examining the building as an entire system can lead to entirely different design solutions. This can result in new buildings that use much less energy but are no more expensive than conventional buildings.

The systems approach in turn requires an integrated design process (IDP), in which the building performance is optimized through an iterative process that involves all members of the design team from the beginning. The steps in the most basic IDP for a commercial building include (i) selecting a highperformance envelope and highly efficient equipment, properly sized; (ii) incorporating a building energy management system that optimises the equipment operation and human behaviour, and (iii) fully commissioning and maintaining the equipment (Todesco, 2004). These steps alone can usually achieve energy savings in the order of 35–50% for a new commercial building, compared to standard practice, while utilization of more advanced or less conventional approaches has often achieved savings in the order of 50–80% (Harvey, 2006).

# 6.4.1.7 Consider building form, orientation and related attributes

At the early design stages, key decisions – usually made by the architect – can greatly influence the subsequent opportunities to reduce building energy use. These include building form, orientation, self-shading, height-to-floor-area ratio and decisions affecting the opportunities for and effectiveness of passive ventilation and cooling. Many elements of traditional building designs in both developed and developing countries have been effective in reducing heating and cooling loads. Urban design, including the clustering of buildings and mixing of different building types within a given area greatly affect the opportunities for and cost of district heating and cooling systems (Section 6.4.7) as well as transport energy demand and the shares of different transport modes (Chapter 5, Section 5.5.1).

#### 6.4.1.8 Minimize halocarbon emissions

Many building components – notably air conditioning and refrigeration systems, foam products used for insulation and other purposes and fire protection systems – may emit greenhouse gases with relatively high global-warming potentials. These chemicals include chlorofluorocarbons, hydrochlorofluorocarbons, halons (bromine-containing fluorocarbons) and hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs). While the consumption of the first three is being eliminated through the Montreal Protocol and various national and regional regulations, their on-going emission is still the subject of strategies discussed in the IPCC special report (IPCC/TEAP, 2005). Meanwhile, the use and emissions of HFCs, mostly as replacements for the three ozone-depleting substances, are increasing worldwide.

For many air conditioning and refrigeration applications, the  $CO_2$  emitted during the generation of electricity to power the equipment will typically vastly outweigh the equivalent emissions of the HFC refrigerant. Some exceptions to this general rule exist and two building-related emission sources – CFC chillers and HFC supermarket refrigeration systems – are discussed further. In addition to these applications, some emission mitigation from air conditioning and refrigeration systems is achievable through easy, low-cost options including education and training, proper design and installation, refrigerant leakage monitoring and responsible use and handling of refrigerants throughout the equipment lifecycle.

Like air conditioning and refrigeration systems, most foams and fire protection systems are designed to exhibit low leak rates, and therefore often only emit small portions of the total fluorocarbon under normal use conditions. Upon decommissioning of the building and removal and/or destruction of foam products and fire protection systems, however, large portions of the remaining fluorocarbon content may be released, particularly if no specific measures are adopted to prevent such release. This raises the need to ensure that proper end-of-life management protocols are followed to avoid these unnecessary emissions.

## 6.4.2 Thermal envelope

The term 'thermal envelope' refers to the shell of the building as a barrier to unwanted heat or mass transfer between the interior of the building and the outside conditions. The effectiveness of the thermal envelope depends on (i) the insulation levels in the walls, ceiling and ground or basement floor, including factors such as moisture condensation and thermal bridges that affect insulation performance; (ii) the thermal properties of windows and doors; and (iii) the rate of exchange of inside and outside air, which in turn depends on the air-tightness of the envelope and driving forces such as wind, inside-outside temperature differences and air pressure differences due to mechanical ventilation systems or warm/cool air distribution.

Improvements in the thermal envelope can reduce heating requirements by a factor of two to four compared to standard practice, at a few percent of the total cost of residential buildings, and at little to no net incremental cost in commercial buildings when downsizing of heating and cooling systems is accounted for (Demirbilek et al., 2000; Hamada et al., 2003; Hastings, 2004). A number of advanced houses have been built in various cold-climate countries around the world that use as little as 10% of the heating energy of houses built according to the local national building code (Badescu and Sicre, 2003; Hamada et al., 2003; Hastings, 2004). Reducing the envelope and air exchange heat loss by a factor of two reduces the heating requirement by more than a factor of two because of solar gains and internal heat gains from equipment, occupants and lighting. In countries with mild winters but still requiring heating (including many developing countries), modest (and therefore less costly) amounts of insulation can readily reduce heating requirements by a factor of two or more, as well as substantially reducing indoor summer temperatures, thereby improving comfort (in the absence of air conditioning) or reducing summer cooling energy use (Taylor et al., 2000; Florides et al., 2002; Safarzadeh and Bahadori, 2005).

## 6.4.2.1 Insulation

The choice of insulation material needs to maximize longterm thermal performance of the building element overall. As mentioned previously, this involves consideration of remaining thermal bridges and any water ingress, or other factor, which could result in deterioration of performance over time. For existing buildings, space may be at a premium and the most efficient insulation materials may be needed to minimize thicknesses required. Where upgrading of existing elements is essentially voluntary, minimization of cost and disturbance is equally important and a range of post-applied technologies can be considered, including cavity wall insulation, spray foams and rolled loft insulation. Only a few specific applications with effective control of end-of life emissions have been identified in which foams containing high GWP blowing agents will lead to lower overall climate impacts than hydrocarbon or  $CO_2$ solutions. However, where this is the case, care should still be taken to optimize life-cycle management techniques in order to minimize blowing agent emissions (see 6.4.15).

#### 6.4.2.2 Windows

The thermal performance of windows has improved greatly through the use of multiple glazing layers, low-conductivity gases (argon in particular) between glazing layers, lowemissivity coatings on one or more glazing surfaces and use of framing materials (such as extruded fibreglass) with very low conductivity. Operable (openable) windows are available with heat flows that have only 25-35% of the heat loss of standard non-coated double-glazed (15 to 20% of singleglazed) windows. Glazing that reflects or absorbs a large fraction of the incident solar radiation reduces solar heat gain by up to 75%, thus reducing cooling loads. In spite of these technical improvements, the costs of glazing and windows has remained constant or even dropped in real terms (Jakob and Madlener, 2004). A major U.S. Department of Energy program is developing electrochromic and gasochromic windows which can dynamically respond to heating and cooling in different seasons.

## 6.4.2.3 Air leakage

In cold climates, uncontrolled exchange of air between the inside and outside of a building can be responsible for up to half of the total heat loss. In hot-humid climates, air leakage can be a significant source of indoor humidity. In residential construction, installation in walls of a continuous impermeable barrier, combined with other measures such as weatherstripping, can reduce rates of air leakage by a factor of five to ten compared to standard practice in most jurisdictions in North America, Europe and the cold-climate regions of Asia (Harvey, 2006).

In addition to leakage through the building envelope, recent research in the United States has demonstrated that leaks in ducts for distributing air for heating and cooling can increase heating and cooling energy requirements by 20–40% (Sherman and Jump, 1997; O'Neal *et al.*, 2002; Francisco *et al.*, 2004). A technology in early commercial use in the United States seals leaks by spraying fine particles into ducts. The sticky particles collect at leakage sites and seal them permanently. This technology is cost-effective for many residential and commercial buildings; it achieves lower costs by avoiding the labour needed to replace or manually repair leaky ducts.

#### 6.4.3 Heating systems

#### 6.4.3.1 Passive solar heating

Passive solar heating can involve extensive sun-facing glazing, various wall- or roof-mounted solar air collectors, double-façade wall construction, airflow windows, thermally massive walls behind glazing and preheating or pre-cooling of ventilation air through buried pipes. Technical details concerning conventional and more advanced passive solar heating techniques, real-world examples and data on energy savings are provided in books by Hastings (1994), Hestnes et al. (2003) and Hastings (2004). Aggressive envelope measures combined with optimisation of passive solar heating opportunities, as exemplified by the European Passive House Standard, have achieved reductions in purchased heating energy by factors of five to thirty (i.e., achieving heating levels less than 15 kWh/ m<sup>2</sup>/yr even in moderately cold climates, compared to 220 and 250-400 kWh/m<sup>2</sup>/yr for the average of existing buildings in Germany and Central/Eastern Europe, respectively (Krapmeier and Drössler, 2001; Gauzin-Müller, 2002; Kostengünstige Passivhäuser als europäische Standards, 2005).

## 6.4.3.2 Space heating systems

In the industrialized nations and in urban areas in developing countries (in cold winter climates), heating is generally provided by a district heating system or by an onsite furnace or boiler. In rural areas of developing countries, heating (when provided at all) is generally from direct burning of biomass. The following sections discuss opportunities to increase energy efficiency in these systems.

#### Heating systems used primarily in industrialized countries

Multi-unit residences and many single-family residences (especially in Europe) use boilers, which produce steam or hot water that is circulated, generally through radiators. Annual Fuel Utilization Efficiencies (AFUE) values range from 80% to 99% for the boiler, not including distribution losses. Modern residential forced-air furnaces, which are used primarily in North America, have AFUE values ranging from 78% to 97% (again, not including distribution system losses). Old equipment tends to have an efficiency in the range of 60-70%, so new equipment can provide substantial savings (GAMA (Gas Appliance Manufacturers Association), 2005). In both boilers and furnaces, efficiencies greater than about 88% require condensing operation, in which some of the water vapour in the exhaust is condensed in a separate heat exchanger. Condensing boilers are increasingly used in Western Europe due to regulation of new buildings, which require higher-efficiency systems.

Hydronic systems (in which water rather than air is circulated), especially floor radiant heating systems, are capable of greater energy efficiency than forced air systems because of the low energy required to distribute a given amount of heat, low distribution heat losses and absence of induced infiltration of outside air into the house due to poorly balanced air distribution systems (low-temperature systems also make it possible to use low-grade solar thermal energy).

Heat pumps use an energy input (almost always electricity) to transfer heat from a cold medium (the outside air or ground in the winter) to a warmer medium (the warm air or hot water used to distribute heat in a building). During hot weather, the heat pump can operate in reverse, thereby cooling the indoor space. In winter, drawing heat from a relatively warm source (such as the ground rather than the outside air) and distributing the heat at the lowest possible temperature can dramatically improve the heat pump efficiency. Use of the ground rather than the outside air as a heat source reduced measured energy use for heating by 50 to 60% in two US studies (Shonder et al., 2000; Johnson, 2002). Due to the large energy losses (typically 60–65%) in generating electricity from fossil fuels, heat pumps are particularly advantageous for heating when they replace electric-resistance heating, but may not be preferable to direct use of fuels for heating. The ground can also serve as a lowtemperature heat sink in summer, increasing the efficiency of air conditioning.

# *Coal and biomass burning stoves in rural areas of developing countries*

Worldwide, about three billion people use solid fuels – biomass and, mainly in China, coal – in household stoves to meet their cooking, water heating and space heating needs. Most of these people live in rural areas with little or no access to commercial sources of fuel or electricity (WEC (World Energy Council and Food and Agriculture Organization), 1999). Statistical information on fuel use in cooking stoves is sketchy, so any estimates of energy use and associated GHG emissions are uncertain.<sup>5</sup> The global total for traditional biofuel use – a good proxy for energy use in household stoves – was about 32 EJ in 2002, compared to commercial energy use worldwide of 401 EJ (IEA, 2004c).

Worldwide, most household stoves use simple designs and local materials that are inefficient, highly polluting and contribute to the overuse of local resources. Studies of China and India have found that if only the Kyoto Protocol basket of GHGs is considered, biomass stoves appear to have lower emission factors than fossil-fuel alternatives (Smith *et al.*, 2000; Edwards *et al.*, 2004). If products of incomplete combustion (PICs) other than methane and N<sub>2</sub>O are considered, however, then biomass stove-fuel combinations exhibit GHG emissions three to ten times higher than fossil-fuel alternatives, and in many cases even higher emissions than from stoves burning coal briquettes (Goldemberg *et al.*, 2000). Additional heating effects arise from black carbon emissions associated with woodburning stoves. Programmes to develop and disseminate moreefficient biomass stoves have been very effective in China, less so in India and other countries (Barnes *et al.*, 1994; Goldemberg *et al.*, 2000; Sinton *et al.*, 2004). In the long term, stoves that use biogas or biomass-derived liquid fuels offer the greatest potential for significantly reducing the GHG (and black carbon) emissions associated with household use of biomass fuels.

#### 6.4.4 Cooling and cooling loads

Cooling energy can be reduced by: 1) reducing the cooling load on a building, 2) using passive techniques to meet some or all of the load, and 3) improving the efficiency of cooling equipment and thermal distribution systems.

## 6.4.4.1 Reducing the cooling load

Reducing the cooling load depends on the building shape and orientation, the choice of building materials and a whole host of other decisions that are made in the early design stage by the architect and are highly sensitive to climate. In general, recently constructed buildings are no longer adapted to prevailing climate; the same building forms and designs are now seen in Stockholm, New York, Houston, Hong Kong, Singapore and Kuwait. However, the principles of design to reduce cooling load for any climate are well known. In most climates, they include: (i) orienting a building to minimize the wall area facing east or west; (ii) clustering buildings to provide some degree of self shading (as in many traditional communities in hot climates); (iii) using high-reflectivity building materials; (iv) increasing insulation; (v) providing fixed or adjustable shading; (vi) using selective glazing on windows with a low solar heat gain and a high daylight transmission factor and avoiding excessive window area (particularly on east- and west-facing walls); and (vii) utilizing thermal mass to minimize daytime interior temperature peaks. As well, internal heat loads from appliances and lighting can be reduced through the use of efficient equipment and controls.

Increasing the solar reflectivity of roofs and horizontal or near-horizontal surfaces around buildings and planting shade trees can yield dramatic energy savings. The benefits of trees arise both from direct shading and from cooling the ambient air. Rosenfeld *et al.* (1998) computed that a very large-scale, citywide program of increasing roof and road albedo and planting trees in Los Angeles could yield a total savings in residential cooling energy of 50–60%, with a 24–33% reduction in peak air conditioning loads.

#### 6.4.4.2 Passive and low-energy cooling techniques

Purely passive cooling techniques require no mechanical energy input, but can often be greatly enhanced through small amounts of energy to power fans or pumps. A detailed discussion of passive and low-energy cooling techniques can be found in

<sup>5</sup> Estimates are available for China and India, collectively home to about one third of the world's population. Residential use of solid fuels in China, nearly all used in stoves, was about 9 EJ in 2002, or 18% of all energy use in the country (National Bureau of Statistics, 2004). The corresponding figures for India were 8 EJ and 36% (IEA, 2004c). In both cases, nearly all of this energy is in the form of biomass.

#### Natural and night-time ventilation

Natural ventilation reduces the need for mechanical cooling by: directly removing warm air when the incoming air is cooler than the outgoing air, reducing the perceived temperature due to the cooling effect of air motion, providing night-time cooling of exposed thermal mass and increasing the acceptable temperature through psychological adaptation when the occupants have control of operable windows. When the outdoor temperature is 30°C, the average preferred temperature in naturally ventilated buildings is 27°C, compared to 25°C in mechanically ventilated buildings (de Dear and Brager, 2002).

Natural ventilation requires a driving force and an adequate number of openings, to produce airflow. Natural ventilation can be induced through pressure differences arising from insideoutside temperature differences or from wind. Design features, both traditional and modern, that create thermal driving forces and/or utilize wind effects include courtyards, atria, wind towers, solar chimneys and operable windows (Holford and Hunt, 2003). In addition to being increasingly employed in commercial buildings in Europe, natural ventilation is starting to be used in multi-story commercial buildings in more temperate climates in North America (McConahey *et al.*, 2002). Natural ventilation can be supplemented with mechanical ventilation as needed.

In climates with a minimum diurnal temperature variation of 5°C to 7°C, natural or mechanically assisted night-time ventilation, in combination with exposed thermal mass, can be very effective in reducing daily temperature peaks and, in some cases, eliminating the need for cooling altogether. Simulations carried out in California indicate that night-time ventilation is sufficient to prevent peak indoor temperatures from exceeding 26°C over 43% of California in houses with an improved envelope and modestly greater thermal mass compared to standard practice (Springer et al., 2000). For Beijing, da Graça et al. (2002) found that thermally and wind-driven night-time ventilation could eliminate the need for air conditioning of a six-unit apartment building during most of the summer if the high risk of condensation during the day due to moist outdoor air coming into contact with the night-cooled indoor surfaces could be reduced.

#### Evaporative cooling

There are two methods of evaporatively cooling the air supplied to buildings. In a '*direct*' evaporative cooler, water evaporates directly into the air stream to be cooled. In an 'indirect' evaporative cooler, water evaporates into and cools a secondary air stream, which cools the supply air through a heat exchanger without adding moisture. By appropriately combining direct and indirect systems, evaporative cooling can provide comfortable conditions most of the time in most parts of the world. Subject to availability of water, direct evaporative cooling can be used in arid areas; indirect evaporative cooling extends the region of applicability to somewhat more humid climates. A new indirect-direct evaporative cooler in the development phase indicated savings in annual cooling energy use of 92 to 95% for residences and 89 to 91% for a modular school classroom in simulations for a variety of California climate zones (DEG, 2004).

### Other passive cooling techniques

Underground earth-pipe cooling consists of cooling ventilation air by drawing outside air through a buried air duct. Good performance depends on the climate having a substantial annual temperature range. Desiccant dehumidification and cooling involves using a material (desiccant) that removes moisture from air and is regenerated using heat. Solid desiccants are a commercially available technology. The energy used for dehumidification can be reduced by 30 to 50% compared to a conventional overcooling/reheat scheme (50 to 75% savings of conventional sources if solar energy is used to regenerate the desiccant) (Fischer *et al.*, 2002; Niu *et al.*, 2002). In hot-humid climates, desiccant systems can be combined with indirect evaporative cooling, providing an alternative to refrigeration-based air conditioning systems (Belding and Delmas, 1997).

## 6.4.4.3 Air conditioners and vapour-compression chillers

Air conditioners used for houses, apartments and small commercial buildings have a nominal COP (cooling power divided by fan and compressor power, a direct measure of efficiency) ranging from 2.2 to 3.8 in North America and Europe, depending on operating conditions. More efficient mini-split systems are available in Japan, ranging from 4.5 to 6.2 COP for a 2.8 kW cooling capacity unit. Chillers are larger cooling devices that produce chilled water (rather than cooled air) for use in larger commercial buildings. COP generally increases with size, with the largest and most efficient centrifugal chillers having a COP of up to 7.9 under full-load operation and even higher under part-load operation. Although additional energy is used in chiller-based systems for ventilation, circulating chilled water and operating a cooling tower, significant energy savings are possible through the choice of the most efficient cooling equipment in combination with efficient auxiliary systems (see Section 6.4.5.1 for principles).

Air conditioners – from small room-sized units to large building chillers – generally employ a halocarbon refrigerant in a vapour-compression cycle. Although the units are designed to exhibit low refrigerant emission rates, leaks do occur and additional emissions associated with the installation, service and disposal of this equipment can be significant. The emissions will vary widely from one installation to the next and depend greatly on the practices employed at the site. In some cases, the GWPweighted lifetime emissions of the refrigerant will outweigh the  $CO_2$  emissions associated with the electricity, highlighting the need to consider refrigerant type and handling as well as energy efficiency when making decisions on the purchase, operation, maintenance and replacement of these systems.

Until recently, the penetration of air conditioning in developing countries has been relatively low, typically only used in large office buildings, hotels and high-income homes. That is quickly changing however, with individual apartment and home air conditioning becoming more common in developing countries, reaching even greater levels in developed countries. This is evident in the production trends of typical room-to-house sized units, which increased 26% (35.8 to 45.4 million units) from 1998 to 2001 (IPCC/TEAP, 2005).

# 6.4.5 Heating, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) systems

The term HVAC is generally used in reference to commercial buildings. HVAC systems include filtration and, where required by the climate, humidification and dehumidification as well as heating and cooling. However, energy-efficient houses in climates with seasonal heating are almost airtight, so mechanical ventilation has to be provided (during seasons when windows will be closed), often in combination with the heating and/or cooling system, as in commercial buildings.

## 6.4.5.1 Principles of energy-efficient HVAC design

In the simplest HVAC systems, heating or cooling is provided by circulating a fixed amount of air at a sufficiently warm or cold temperature to maintain the desired room temperature. The rate at which air is circulated in this case is normally much greater than that needed for ventilation to remove contaminants. During the cooling season, the air is supplied at the coldest temperature needed in any zone and reheated as necessary just before entering other zones. There are a number of changes in the design of HVAC systems that can achieve dramatic savings in the energy use for heating, cooling and ventilation. These include (i) using variable-air volume systems so as to minimize simultaneous heating and cooling of air; (ii) using heat exchangers to recover heat or coldness from ventilation exhaust air; (iii) minimizing fan and pump energy consumption by controlling rotation speed; (iv) separating the ventilation from the heating and cooling functions by using chilled or hot water for temperature control and circulating only the volume of air needed for ventilation; (v) separating cooling from dehumidification functions through the use of desiccant dehumidification; (vi) implementing a demand-controlled ventilation system in which ventilation airflow changes with changing building occupancy which alone can save 20 to 30% of total HVAC energy use (Brandemuehl and Braun, 1999); (vii) correctly sizing all components; and (viii) allowing the temperature maintained by the HVAC system to vary seasonally with outdoor conditions (a large body of evidence indicates that the temperature and humidity set-points commonly encountered in air-conditioned buildings are significantly lower than necessary (de Dear and Brager, 1998; Fountain et al., 1999),

while computer simulations by Jaboyedoff *et al.* (2004) and by Jakob *et al.* (2006) indicate that increasing the thermostat by  $2^{\circ}$ C to  $4^{\circ}$ C will reduce annual cooling energy use by more than a factor of three for a typical office building in Zurich, and by a factor of two to three if the thermostat setting is increased from  $23^{\circ}$ C to  $27^{\circ}$ C for night-time air conditioning of bedrooms in apartments in Hong Kong (Lin and Deng, 2004).

Additional savings can be obtained in 'mixed-mode' buildings, in which natural ventilation is used whenever possible, making use of the extended comfort range associated with operable windows, and mechanical cooling is used only when necessary during periods of very warm weather or high building occupancy.

## 6.4.5.2 Alternative HVAC systems in commercial buildings

The following paragraphs describe two alternatives to conventional HVAC systems in commercial buildings that together can reduce the HVAC system energy use by 30 to 75%. These savings are in addition to the savings arising from reducing heating and cooling loads.

#### Radiant chilled-ceiling cooling

Aroom may be cooled by chilling a large fraction of the ceiling by circulating water through pipes or lightweight panels. Chilled ceiling (CC) cooling has been used in Europe since at least the mid-1970s. In Germany during the 1990s, 10% of retrofitted buildings used CC cooling (Behne, 1999). Significant energy savings arise because of the greater effectiveness of water than air in transporting heat and because the chilled water is supplied at 16°C to 20°C rather than at 5°C to 7°C. This allows a higher chiller COP when the chiller operates, but also allows more frequent use of 'water-side free cooling,' in which the chiller is bypassed altogether and water from the cooling tower is used directly for space cooling. For example, a cooling tower alone could directly meet the cooling requirements 97% of the time in Dublin, Ireland and 67% of the time in Milan, Italy if the chilled water is supplied at 18°C (Costelloe and Finn, 2003).

## Displacement ventilation

Conventional ventilation relies on turbulent mixing to dilute room air with ventilation air. A superior system is 'displacement ventilation' (DV) in which air is introduced at low speed through many diffusers in the floor or along the sides of a room and is warmed by internal heat sources (occupants, lights, plug-in equipment) as it rises to the top of the room, displacing the air already present. The thermodynamic advantage of displacement ventilation is that the supply air temperature is significantly higher for the same comfort conditions (about 18°C compared with about 13°C in a conventional mixing ventilation system). It also permits significantly smaller airflow.

DV was first applied in northern Europe; by 1989 it had captured 50% of the Scandinavian market for new industrial buildings and 25% for new office buildings (Zhivov and

Rymkevich, 1998). The building industry in North America has been much slower to adopt DV; by the end of the 1990s fewer than 5% of new buildings used under-floor air distribution systems (Lehrer and Bauman, 2003). Overall, DV can reduce energy use for cooling and ventilation by 30 to 60%, depending on the climate (Bourassa *et al.*, 2002; Howe *et al.*, 2003).

# 6.4.6 Building energy management systems (BEMS)

BEMSs are control systems for individual buildings or groups of buildings that use computers and distributed microprocessors for monitoring, data storage and communication (Levermore, 2000). The BEMS can be centrally located and communicate over telephone or Internet links with remote buildings having 'outstations' so that one energy manager can manage many buildings remotely. With energy meters and temperature, occupancy and lighting sensors connected to a BEMS, faults can be detected manually or using automated fault detection software (Katipamula *et al.*, 1999), which helps avoid energy waste (Burch *et al.*, 1990). With the advent of inexpensive, wireless sensors and advances in information technology, extensive monitoring via the Internet is possible.

Estimates of BEMS energy savings vary considerably: up to 27% (Birtles and John, 1984); between 5% and 40% (Hyvarinen, 1991; Brandemuehl and Bradford, 1999; Brandemuehl and Braun, 1999; Levermore, 2000); up to 20% in space heating energy consumption and 10% for lighting and ventilation; and 5% to 20% overall (Roth *et al.*, 2005).

## 6.4.6.1 Commissioning

Proper commissioning of the energy systems in a commercial building is a key to efficient operation (Koran, 1994; Kjellman *et al.*, 1996; IEA, 2005; Roth *et al.*, 2005). Building commissioning is a quality control process that begins with the early stages of design. Commissioning helps ensure that the design intent is clear and readily tested, that installation is subjected to onsite inspection and that all systems are tested and functioning properly before the building is accepted. A systems manual is prepared to document the owner's requirements, the design intent (including as-built drawings), equipment performance specifications and control sequences.

Recent results of building commissioning in the USA showed energy savings of up to 38% in cooling and/or 62% in heating and an average higher than 30% (Claridge *et al.*, 2003). A study by Mills *et al.* (2005) reviewed data from 224 US buildings that had been commissioned or retro-commissioned. The study found that the costs of commissioning new buildings were typically outweighed by construction cost savings due to fewer change orders and that retro-commissioning produced median energy savings of 15% with a median payback period of 8.5 months. It is very difficult to assess the energy benefits of commissioning new buildings due to the lack of a baseline.

# 6.4.6.2 Operation, maintenance and performance benchmarking

Once a building has been commissioned, there is a need to maintain its operating efficiency. A variety of methods to monitor and evaluate performance and diagnose problems are currently under development (Brambley *et al.*, 2005). Postoccupancy evaluation (POE) is a useful complement to ongoing monitoring of equipment and is also useful for ensuring that the building operates efficiently. A UK study of recently constructed buildings found that the use of POE identified widespread energy wastage (Bordass *et al.*, 2001a; Bordass *et al.*, 2001b).

#### Cogeneration and District Heating/Cooling

Buildings are usually part of a larger community. If the heating, cooling and electricity needs of a larger collection of buildings can be linked together in an integrated system without major distribution losses, then significant savings in primary energy use are possible - beyond what can be achieved by optimising the design of a single building. Community-scale energy systems also offer significant new opportunities for the use of renewable energy. Key elements of an integrated system can include: 1) district heating networks for the collection of waste or surplus heat and solar thermal energy from dispersed sources and its delivery to where it is needed; 2) district cooling networks for the delivery of chilled water for cooling individual buildings; 3) central production of steam and/or hot water in combination with the generation of electricity (cogeneration) and central production of cold water; 4) production of electricity through photovoltaic panels mounted on or integrated into the building fabric; 5) diurnal storage of heat and coldness produced during off-peak hours or using excess wind-generated electricity; and 6) seasonal underground storage of summer heat and winter coldness.

District heating (DH) is widely used in regions with large fractions of multi-family buildings, providing as much as 60% of heating and hot water energy needs for 70% of the families in Eastern European countries and Russia (OECD/IEA, 2004). While district heating can have major environmental benefits over other sources of heat, including lower specific GHG emissions, systems in these countries suffer from the legacies of past mismanagement and are often obsolete, inefficient and expensive to operate (Lampietti and Meyer, 2003, Ürge-Vorsatz *et al.*, 2006). Making DH more efficient could save 350 million tonnes of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in these countries annually, accompanied by significant social, economic and political benefits (OECD/IEA, 2004).

The greatest potential improvement in the efficiency of district heating systems is to convert them to cogeneration systems that involve the simultaneous production of electricity and useful heat. For cogeneration to provide an improvement in efficiency, a use has to be found for the waste heat. Centralized production of heat in a district heat system can be more efficient than onsite boilers or furnaces even in the absence of cogeneration and in spite of distribution losses, if a district-heating network is used with heat pumps to upgrade and distribute heat from scattered sources. Examples include waste heat from sewage in Tokyo (Yoshikawa, 1997) and Gothenberg, Sweden (Balmér, 1997) and low-grade geothermal heat in Tianjin, China, that is left over after higher-temperature heat has been used for heating and hot water purposes (Zhao *et al.*, 2003). Waste heat from incineration has been used, particularly in northern Europe.

Chilled water supplied to a district-cooling network can be produced through trigeneration (the simultaneous production of electricity, heat and chilled water), or it can be produced through a centralized chilling plant independent of power generation. District cooling provides an alternative to separate chillers and cooling towers in multi-unit residential buildings that would otherwise use inefficient small air conditioners. In spite of the added costs of pipes and heat exchangers in district heating and cooling networks, the total capital cost can be less than the total cost of heating and cooling units in individual buildings, (Harvey, 2006, Chapter 15). Adequate control systems are critical to the energy-efficient operation of both district cooling and central (building-level) cooling systems.

District heating and cooling systems, especially when combined with some form of thermal energy storage, make it more economically and technically feasible to use renewable sources of energy for heating and cooling. Solar-assisted district heating systems with storage can be designed such that solar energy provides 30 to 95% of total annual heating and hot water requirements under German conditions (Lindenberger *et al.*, 2000). Sweden has been able to switch a large fraction of its building heating energy requirements to biomass energy (plantation forestry) for its district heating systems (Swedish Energy Agency, 2004).

## 6.4.7 Active collection and transformation of solar energy

Buildings can serve as collectors and transformers of solar energy, meeting a large fraction of their energy needs on a sustainable basis with minimal reliance on connection to energy grids, although for some climates this may only apply during the summer. As previously discussed, solar energy can be used for daylighting, for passive heating and as one of the driving forces for natural ventilation, which can often provide much or all of the required cooling. By combining a high-performance thermal envelope with efficient systems and devices, 50–75% of the heating and cooling energy needs of buildings as constructed under normal practice can either be eliminated or satisfied through passive solar design. Electricity loads, especially in commercial buildings, can be drastically reduced to a level that allows building-integrated photovoltaic panels (BiPV) to meet much of the remaining electrical demand during daytime hours. Photovoltaic panels can be supplemented by other forms of active solar energy, such as solar thermal collectors for hot water, space heating, absorption space cooling and dehumidification.

## 6.4.7.1 Building-integrated PV (BiPV)

The principles governing photovoltaic (PV) power generation and the prospects for centralized PV production of electricity are discussed in Chapter 4, Section 4.3.3.6. Building-integrated PV (BiPV) consists of PV modules that function as part of the building envelope (curtain walls, roof panels or shingles, shading devices, skylights). BiPV systems are sometimes installed in new 'showcase' buildings even before the systems are generally cost-effective. These early applications will increase the rate at which the cost of BiPVs comes down and the technical performance improves. A recent report presents data on the cost of PV modules and the installed-cost of PV systems in IEA countries (IEA, 2003b). Electricity costs from BiPV at present are in the range of 0.30–0.40 US\$/kWh in good locations, but can drop considerably with mass production of PV modules (Payne *et al.*, 2001).

Gutschner *et al.* (2001) have estimated the potential for power production from BiPV in IEA member countries. Estimates of the percentage of present total national electricity demand that could be provided by BiPV range from about 15% (Japan) to almost 60% (USA).

## 6.4.7.2 Solar thermal energy for heating and hot water

Most solar thermal collectors used in buildings are either flat-plate or evacuated-tube collectors.<sup>6</sup> Integrated PV/thermal collectors (in which the PV panel serves as the outer part of a thermal solar collector) are also commercially available (Bazilian *et al.*, 2001; IEA, 2002). 'Combisystems' are solar systems that provide both space and water heating. Depending on the size of panels and storage tanks, and the building thermal envelope performance, 10 to 60% of the combined hot water and heating demand can be met by solar thermal systems at central and northern European locations. Costs of solar heat have been 0.09–0.13  $\epsilon$ /kWh for large domestic hot water systems and 0.40–0.50  $\epsilon$ /kWh for combisystems with diurnal storage (Peuser *et al.*, 2002).

Worldwide, over 132 million  $m^2$  of solar collector surface for space heating and hot water were in place by the end of 2003. China accounts for almost 40% of the total (51.4 million  $m^2$ ), followed by Japan (12.7 million  $m^2$ ) and Turkey (9.5 million  $m^2$ ) (Weiss *et al.*, 2005).

<sup>6</sup> See Peuser et al. (2002) and Andén (2003) for technical information.

#### 6.4.8 Domestic hot water

Options to reduce fossil or electrical energy used to produce hot water include (i) use of water saving fixtures, more waterefficient washing machines, cold-water washing and (if used at all) more water-efficient dishwashers (50% typical savings); (ii) use of more efficient and better insulated water heaters or integrated space and hot-water heaters (10-20% savings); (iii) use of tankless (condensing or non-condensing) water heaters, located close to the points of use, to eliminate standby and greatly reduce distribution heat losses (up to 30% savings, depending on the magnitude of standby and distribution losses with centralized tanks); (v) recovery of heat from warm waste water; (vi) use of air-source or exhaust-air heat pumps; and (vii) use of solar thermal water heaters (providing 50-90% of annual hot-water needs, depending on climate). The integrated effect of all of these measures can frequently reach a 90% savings. Heat pumps using CO<sub>2</sub> as a working fluid are an attractive alternative to electric-resistance hot water heaters, with a COP of up to 4.2-4.9 (Saikawa et al., 2001; Yanagihara, 2006).

## 6.4.9 Lighting systems

Lighting energy use can be reduced by 75 to 90% compared to conventional practice through (i) use of daylighting with occupancy and daylight sensors to dim and switch off electric lighting; (ii) use of the most efficient lighting devices available; and (iii) use of such measures as ambient/task lighting.

#### 6.4.9.1 High efficiency electric lighting

Presently 1.9 GtCO<sub>2</sub> are emitted by electric lighting worldwide, equivalent to 70% of the emissions from light passenger vehicles (IEA, 2006b). Continuous improvements in the efficacy<sup>7</sup> of electric lighting devices have occurred during the past decades and can be expected to continue. Advances in lamps have been accompanied by improvements in occupancy sensors and reductions in cost (Garg and Bansal, 2000; McCowan *et al.*, 2002). A reduction in residential lighting energy use of a factor of four to five can be achieved compared to incandescent/halogen lighting.

For lighting systems providing ambient (general space) lighting in commercial buildings, the energy required can be reduced by 50% or more compared to old fluorescent systems through use of efficient lamps (ballasts and reflectors, occupancy sensors, individual or zone switches on lights and lighter colour finishes and furnishings. A further 40 to 80% of the remaining energy use can be saved in perimeter zones through daylighting (Rubinstein and Johnson, 1998; Bodart and Herde, 2002). A simple strategy to further reduce energy use is to provide a relatively low background lighting level, with local levels of greater illumination at individual workstations. This strategy is

referred to as 'task/ambient lighting' and is popular in Europe. Not only can this alone cut lighting energy use in half, but it provides a greater degree of individual control over personal lighting levels and can reduce uncomfortable levels of glare and high contrast.

About one third of the world's population depends on fuel-based lighting (such as kerosene, paraffin or diesel), contributing to the major health burden from indoor air pollution in developing countries. While these devices provide only 1% of global lighting, they are responsible for 20% of the lighting-related CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and consume 3% of the world's oil supply. A CFL or LED is about 1000 times more efficient than a kerosene lamp (Mills, 2005). Efforts are underway to promote replacement of kerosene lamps with LEDs in India. Recent advances in light-emitting diode (LED) technology have significantly improved the cost-effectiveness, longevity and overall viability of stand-alone PV-powered task lighting (IEA, 2006b).

## 6.4.10 Daylighting

Daylighting systems involve the use of natural lighting for the perimeter areas of a building. Such systems have light sensors and actuators to control artificial lighting. Opportunities for daylighting are strongly influenced by architectural decisions early in the design process, such as building form; the provision of inner atria, skylights and clerestories (glazed vertical steps in the roof); and the size, shape and position of windows. IEA (2000) provides a comprehensive sourcebook of conventional and less conventional techniques and technologies for daylighting.

A number of recent studies indicate savings in lighting energy use of 40 to 80% in the daylighted perimeter zones of office buildings (Rubinstein and Johnson, 1998; Jennings et al., 2000; Bodart and Herde, 2002; Reinhart, 2002; Atif and Galasiu, 2003; Li and Lam, 2003). The management of solar heat gain along with daylighting to reduce electric lighting also leads to a reduction in cooling loads. Lee et al. (1998) measured savings for an automated Venetian blind system integrated with office lighting controls, finding that lighting energy savings averaged 35% in winter and ranged from 40 to 75% in summer. Monitored reductions in summer cooling loads were 5 to 25% for a southeast-facing office in Oakland, California building, with even larger reductions in peak cooling loads. Ullah and Lefebvre (2000) reported measured savings of 13 to 32% for cooling plus ventilation energy using automatic blinds in a building in Singapore.

An impediment to more widespread use of daylighting is the linear, sequential nature of the design process. Based on a survey of 18 lighting professionals in the USA, Turnbull

<sup>7</sup> This is the ratio of light output in lumens to input power in watts.

and Loisos (2000) found that, rather than involving lighting consultants from the very beginning, architects typically make a number of irreversible decisions at an early stage of the design that adversely impact daylighting, 'then' pass on their work to the lighting consultants and electrical engineers to do the lighting design. As a result, the lighting system becomes, *de facto*, strictly an electrical design.

## 6.4.11 Household appliances, consumer electronics and office equipment

Energy use by household appliances, office equipment and consumer electronics, from now on referred to as 'appliances', is an important fraction of total electricity use in both households and workplaces (Kawamoto et al., 2001; Roth et al., 2002). This equipment is more than 40% of total residential primary energy demand in 11 large OECD nations<sup>8</sup> (IEA, 2004f). The largest growth in electricity demand has been in miscellaneous equipment (home electronics, entertainment, communications, office equipment and small kitchen equipment), which has been evident in all industrialized countries since the early 1980s. Such miscellaneous equipment now accounts for 70% of all residential appliance electricity use in the 11 large OECD nations (IEA, 2004f). Appliances in some developing countries constitute a smaller fraction of residential energy demand. However, the rapid increase in their saturation in many dynamically developing countries such as China, especially in urban areas, demonstrates the expected rise in importance of appliances in the developing world as economies grow (Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, 2004).

On a primary energy basis appliances undoubtedly represent a larger portion of total energy use for residential than for commercial buildings. In the United States, for example, they account for almost 55% of total energy consumption in commercial buildings. Miscellaneous equipment and lighting combined account for more than half of total energy consumption in commercial buildings in the United States and Japan (Koomey *et al.*, 2001; Murakami *et al.*, 2006).

The most efficient appliances require a factor of two to five less energy than the least efficient appliances available today. For example, in the USA, the best horizontal-axis clotheswashing machines use less than half the energy of the best vertical-axis machines (FEMP, 2002), while refrigerator/freezer units meeting the current US standard (478 kWh/yr) require about 25% of the energy used by refrigerator/freezers sold in the USA in the late 1970s (about 1800 kWh/yr) and about 50% of energy used in the late 1980s. Available refrigerator/freezers of standard US size use less than 400 kWh/yr (Brown *et al.*, 1998). However, this is still in excess of the average energy use by (generally smaller) refrigerators in Sweden, the Netherlands, Germany and Italy in the late 1990s (IEA, 2004f).

Standby and low power mode use by consumer electronics (i.e., energy used when the machine is turned off) in a typical household in many countries often exceeds the energy used by a refrigerator/freezer unit that meets the latest US standards, that is often more than 500 kWh/yr, (Bertoldi et al., 2002). The growing proliferation of electronic equipment such as set-top boxes for televisions, a wide variety of office equipment (in homes as well as offices) and sundry portable devices with attendant battery chargers - combined with inefficient power supplies (Calwell and Reeder, 2002) and highly inefficient circuit designs that draw unnecessary power in the resting or standby modes - have caused this equipment to be responsible for a large fraction of the electricity demand growth in both residential and commercial buildings in many nations. Efforts are underway especially at the International Energy Agency and several countries (e.g., Korea, Australia, Japan and China) to reduce standby energy use by a factor of two to three (Ross and Meier, 2002; Fung et al., 2003). Electricity use by office equipment may not yet be large compared to electricity use by the HVAC system, but (as noted) it is growing rapidly and is already an important source of internal heat gain in offices and some other commercial buildings. The biggest savings opportunities are: 1) improved power supply efficiency in both active and low-power modes, 2) redesigned computer chips that reduce electricity use in low-power mode, and 3) repeated reminders to users to turn equipment off during non-working hours.

The cooking stove, already referred to in Section 6.4.3.2 for heating, is a major energy-using appliance in developing countries. However, there is particular concern about emissions of products of incomplete combustion described in that section. Two-and-a-half billion people in developing countries depend on biomass, such as wood, dung, charcoal and agricultural residues, to meet their cooking energy needs (IEA, 2006e). Options available to reduce domestic cooking energy needs include: 1) improved efficiency of biomass stoves; 2) improved access to clean cooking fuels, both liquid and gaseous; 3) access to electricity and low-wattage and low-cost appliances for low income households; 4) non-electric options such as solar cookers; 5) efficient gas stoves; and 6) small electric cooking equipment such as microwaves, electric kettles or electric frying pans. Improved biomass stoves can save from 10 to 50% of biomass consumption for the same cooking service (REN21 (Renewable Energy Policy Network), 2005) at the same time reducing indoor air pollution by up to one-half. Although the overall impact on emissions from fuel switching can be either positive or negative, improved modern fuels and greater conversion efficiency would result in emission reductions from all fuels (IEA, 2006e).

<sup>8</sup> Australia, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Norway, Sweden, the United Kingdom, and the United States.

**Residential and commercial buildings** 

#### 6.4.12 Supermarket refrigeration systems

Mitigation options for food-sales and service buildings, especially supermarkets and hypermarkets extend beyond the energy savings mitigation options reviewed so far (e.g., high efficiency electric lighting, daylighting, etc.). Because these buildings often employ large quantities of HFC refrigerants in extensive and often leaky systems, a significant share of total GHG emissions are due to the release of the refrigerant. In all, emissions of the refrigerant can be greater than the emissions due to the system energy use (IPCC/TEAP, 2005).

Two basic mitigation options are reviewed in IPCC/TEAP report: leak reduction and alternative system design. Refrigerant leakage rates are estimated to be around 30% of banked system charge. Leakage rates can be reduced by system design for tightness, maintenance procedures for early detection and repairs of leakage, personnel training, system leakage record keeping and end-of-life recovery of refrigerant. Alternative system design involves for example, applying direct systems using alternative refrigerants, better containment, distributed systems, indirect systems or cascade systems. It was found that up to 60% lower LCCP values can be obtained by alternative system design (IPCC/TEAP, 2005).

### 6.4.13 Energy savings through retrofits

There is a large stock of existing and inefficient buildings, most of which will still be here in 2025 and even 2050. Our long-term ability to reduce energy use depends critically on the extent to which energy use in these buildings can be reduced when they are renovated. The equipment inside a building, such as the furnace or boiler, water heater, appliances, air conditioner (where present) and lighting is completely replaced over time periods ranging from every few years to every 20-30 years. The building shell - walls, roof, windows and doors - lasts much longer. There are two opportunities to reduce heating and cooling energy use by improving the building envelope: (i) at any time prior to a major renovation, based on simple measures that pay for themselves through reduced energy costs and potential financial support or incentives; and (ii) when renovations are going to be made for other (non-energy) reasons, including replacement of windows and roofs.

### 6.4.13.1 Conventional retrofits of residential buildings

Cost-effective measures that can be undertaken without a major renovation of residential buildings include: sealing points of air leakage around baseboards, electrical outlets and fixtures, plumbing, the clothes dryer vent, door joists and window joists; weather stripping of windows and doors; and adding insulation in attics, to walls or wall cavities. A Canadian study found that the cost-effective energy savings potential ranges from 25–30% for houses built before the 1940s, to about 12% for houses built in the 1990s (Parker *et al.*, 2000). In a carefully documented retrofit of four representative houses in the York

region of the UK, installation of new window and wooden door frames, sealing of suspended timber ground floors and repair of cracks in plaster reduced the rate of air leakage by a factor of 2.5–3.0 (Bell and Lowe, 2000). This, combined with improved insulation, doors and windows, reduced the heating energy required by an average of 35%. Bell and Lowe (2000) believe that a reduction of 50% could be achieved at modest cost using well-proven (early 1980s) technologies, with a further 30–40% reduction through additional measures.

Studies summarized by Francisco *et al.* (1998) indicate that air-sealing retrofits alone can save an average of 15–20% of annual heating and air conditioning energy use in US houses. Additional energy savings would arise by insulating pipework and ductwork, particularly in unconditioned spaces. Rosenfeld (1999) refers to an 'AeroSeal' technique (see Sec. 6.4.2.2) that he estimates is already saving three billion US\$/yr in energy costs in the USA. Without proper sealing, homes in the USA lose, on average, about one-quarter of the heating and cooling energy through duct leaks in unconditioned spaces – attics, crawl spaces, basements.

In a retrofit of 4003 homes in Louisiana, the heating, cooling and water heating systems were replaced with a ground-source heat pump system. Other measures were installation of attic insulation and use of compact fluorescent lighting and water saving showerheads. Space and hot water heating previously provided by natural gas was supplied instead by electricity (through the heat pump), but total electricity use still decreased by one third (Hughes and Shonder, 1998).

External Insulation and Finishing Systems (EIFSs) provide an excellent opportunity for upgrading the insulation and improving the air-tightness of single- and multi-unit residential buildings, as well as institutional and commercial buildings. This is because of the wide range of external finishes that can be applied, ranging from stone-like to a finish resembling aged plaster. A German company manufacturing some of the components used in EIFSs undertook a major renovation of some of its own 1930s multi-unit residential buildings. The EIFSs in combination with other measures achieved a factor of eight measured reduction in heating energy use (see www.3lh. de). An envelope upgrade of an apartment block in Switzerland reduced the heating requirement by a factor of two, while replacing an oil-fired boiler at 85% seasonal average efficiency with an electric heat pump having a seasonal average COP of 3.2 led to a further large decrease in energy use. The total primary energy requirement decreased by about 75% (Humm, 2000).

# 6.4.13.2 Conventional retrofits of institutional and commercial buildings

There are numerous published studies showing that energy savings of 50 to 75% can be achieved in commercial buildings through aggressive implementation of integrated sets of measures. These savings can often be justified in terms of the energy-cost savings alone, although in other cases full justification requires consideration of a variety of less tangible benefits. In the early 1990s, a utility in California sponsored a 10 million US\$ demonstration of advanced retrofits. In six of seven retrofit projects, an energy savings of 50% was obtained; in the seventh project, a 45% energy savings was achieved. For Rosenfeld (1999), the most interesting result was not that an alert, motivated team could achieve savings of 50% with conventional technology, but that it was very hard to find a team competent enough to achieve these results.

Other, recent examples that are documented in the published literature include:

- A realized savings of 40% in heating, plus cooling, plus ventilation energy use in a Texas office building through conversion of the ventilation system from one with constant to one with variable air flow (Liu and Claridge, 1999);
- A realized savings of 40% of heating energy use through the retrofit of an 1865 two-story office building in Athens, where low-energy was achieved through some passive technologies that required the cooperation of the occupants (Balaras, 2001);
- A realized savings of 74% in cooling energy use in a onestory commercial building in Florida through duct sealing, chiller upgrade and fan controls (Withers and Cummings, 1998);
- Realized savings of 50–70% in heating energy use through retrofits of schools in Europe and Australia (CADDET, 1997);
- Realized fan, cooling and heating energy savings of 59, 63 and 90% respectively in buildings at a university in Texas; roughly half due to standard retrofit and half due to adjustment of the control-system settings (which were typical for North America) to optimal settings (Claridge *et al.*, 2001).

# 6.4.13.3 Solar retrofits of residential, institutional and commercial buildings

Solar retrofit performed in Europe under the IEA Solar and Cooling Program achieved savings in space heating of 25–80% (Harvey, 2006, Chapter 14). The retrofit examples described above, while achieving dramatic (35–75%) energy savings, rely on making incremental improvements to the existing building components and systems. More radical measures involve reconfiguring the building so that it can make direct use of solar energy for heating, cooling and ventilation. The now-completed Task 20 of the IEA's *Solar Heating and Cooling (SHC)* implementing agreement was devoted to solar retrofitting techniques.

Solar renovation measures that have been used are installation of roof- or façade-integrated solar air collectors; roof-mounted or integrated solar DHW heating; transpired solar air collectors, advanced glazing of balconies, external transparent insulation; and construction of a second-skin façade over the original façade. Case studies are presented in Boonstra and Thijssen (1997), Haller *et al.* (1997) and Voss (2000a), Voss (2000b) and are summarized in Harvey (2006), Chapter 14).

## 6.4.14 Trade-offs between embodied energy and operating energy

The embodied energy in building materials needs to be considered along with operating energy in order to reduce total lifecycle energy use by buildings. The replacement of materials that require significant amounts of energy to produce (such as concrete and steel) with materials requiring small amounts of energy to produce (such as wood products) will reduce the amount of energy embodied in buildings. Whether this reduces energy use on a lifecycle basis, however, depends on the effect of materials choice on the energy requirements for heating and cooling over the lifetime of the building and whether the materials are recycled at the end of their life (Börjesson and Gustavsson, 2000; Lenzen and Treloar, 2002). For typical standards of building construction, the embodied energy is equivalent to only a few years of operating energy, although there are cases in which the embodied energy can be much higher (Lippke et al., 2004). Thus, over a 50-year time span, reducing the operating energy is normally more important than reducing the embodied energy. However, for traditional buildings in developing countries, the embodied energy can be large compared to the operating energy, as the latter is quite low.

In most circumstances, the choice that minimizes operating energy use also minimizes total lifecycle energy use. In some cases, the high embodied energy in high-performance building envelope elements (such as krypton-filled double- or tripleglazed windows) can be largely offset from savings in the embodied energy of heating and/or cooling equipment (Harvey, 2006, Chapter 3), so a truly holistic approach is needed in analysing the lifecycle energy use of buildings.

## 6.4.15 Trade-offs involving energy-related emissions and halocarbon emissions

Emissions of halocarbons from building cooling and refrigeration equipment, heat pumps and foam insulation amount to 1.5  $GtCO_2$ -eq at present, compared to 8.6  $GtCO_2$  from buildings (including through the use of electricity) (IPCC/TEAP, 2005). Emissions due to these uses are projected only to 2015 and are constant or decline in this period. Halocarbon emissions are thus an important consideration. Issues pertaining to stratospheric ozone and climate are comprehensively reviewed in the recent IPCC/TEAP report (IPCC/TEAP, 2005).

Halocarbons (CFCs, HCFCs and HFCs) are involved as a working fluid in refrigeration equipment (refrigerators, freezers and cold storage facilities for food), heating and cooling of buildings (heat pumps, air conditioners and chillers) and as an blowing agent used in foam insulation for refrigerators, pipes and buildings. All three groups are greenhouse gases. The GWP of HCFCs is generally lower than CFCs. The GWP of HFCs is also generally lower than that of the CFCs, but generally slightly higher than that of the HCFCs. The consumption (production plus imports, minus exports, minus destruction) of CFCs except for critical uses (e.g., medical devices) stopped in 1996 in developed countries, while developing countries have been given to 2010 to eliminate consumption. HCFCs are being phased out, also for reasons of ozone depletion, but will not be completely phased out of production until 2030 in developed countries and 2040 in developing countries. Nevertheless, projected emissions of HCFCs and HFCs (and ongoing emissions from CFC banks) are sufficiently high that scenarios of halocarbon emissions related to buildings in 2015 show almost the same emissions as in 2002 (about 1.5 GtCO<sub>2</sub>eq. emissions). For the coming decade or longer, the bank of CFCs in the stock of cooling equipment and foams is so large that particular attention needs to be given to recovering these CFCs.

Lifetime emissions of refrigerants from cooling equipment, expressed as  $CO_2$ -eq per unit of cooling, have fallen significantly during the past 30 years. Leakage rates are generally in the order of 3%, but rates as high as 10–15% occur. By 2010, it is expected that HFCs will be the only halocarbon refrigerant to be used in air conditioners and heat pumps manufactured in developed countries. Non-halocarbon refrigerants can entail similar efficiency benefits if the heat pump is fully optimised. Thus, both the performance of the heat pump and the impact of halocarbon emissions need to be considered in evaluating the climatic impact of alternative choices for refrigerants.

The climatic impact of air conditioners and most chillers is generally dominated by the energy used to power them. For leakage of HFC refrigerants at rates of 1 to 6%/yr (IPCC/TEAP, 2005) (best practice is about 0.5%/yr) and recovery of 85% of the refrigerant (compared to 70-100% in typical practice) at the end of a 15-year life, refrigerant leakage accounts for only 1 to 5% of the total impact on climate of the cooling equipment to up to 20%, without end-of-life recovery, of the total impact (derived from (IPCC/TEAP, 2005). This demonstrates the importance of end-of-life recovery, which is highly uncertain for HFCs at present. However, for CFC chillers, the high GWP of the refrigerant and the typical high leakage of older CFCbased designs cause the refrigerant to be a significant factor in overall emissions. This demonstrates that emphasis needs to be put on the replacement of CFC chillers in both developed and developing countries for which hydrocarbons are now widely used in EU countries.

The energy/HFC relationship for air conditioners does not hold for most large built-up refrigeration systems, such as those found in supermarkets and hypermarkets. Roughly half of the total equivalent emissions from these systems result from the refrigerant, in case an HFC blend is used. Various designs explored in IPCC/TEAP report (IPCC/TEAP, 2005) indicate that direct refrigerant emissions can drop from 40–60% of the total emissions in a typical system to 15% for improved systems. The value is 0% for systems using hydrocarbon or ammonia refrigerants. Although some designs may incur a slight increase in energy use, total (energy + refrigerant) emissions are nonetheless significantly reduced.

For foam insulation blown with halocarbons, the benefit of reduced heating energy use can outweigh the effect of leakage of blowing agent when insulating buildings that were previously either poorly insulated or uninsulated (Ashford *et al.*, 2005). However, for high levels of insulation, the opposite becomes true (Harvey, 2007) without end-of-life recovery of the blowing agent. In general terms, the use of methods such as Life Cycle Climate Performance (LCCP) is essential in evaluating the most appropriate course of action in each situation.

#### 6.4.16 Summary of mitigation options in buildings

The key conclusion of section 6.4 is that substantial reductions in  $CO_2$  emissions from energy use in buildings can be achieved over the coming years using existing, mature technologies for energy efficiency that already exist widely and that have been successfully used (*high agreement, much evidence*). There is also a broad array of widely accessible and cost-effective technologies and know-how that can abate GHG emissions in buildings to a significant extent that has not as yet been widely adopted.

Table 6.1 summarizes selected key technological opportunities in buildings for GHG abatement in five world regions based on three criteria. Twenty-one typical technologies were selected from those described in section 6.4. As economic and climatic conditions in regions largely determine the applicability and importance of technologies, countries were divided into three economic classes and two climatic types. The three criteria include the maturity of the technology, cost/ effectiveness and appropriateness. Appropriateness includes climatic, technological and cultural applicability. For example, direct evaporative cooling is ranked as highly appropriate in dry and warm climates but it is not appropriate in humid and warm climates. The assessment of some technologies depends on other factors, too. For instance, the heat pump system depends on the energy source and whether it is applied to heating or cooling. In these cases, variable evaluation is indicated in the table.

	S
	<u>e</u>
	5
	Ξ
	2
	2
	2
	5
	9
	Ś
	÷,
	ğ
	-
	2
	G,
	5
	ŧ.
- 3	5
	2
	<u>9</u>
	4
	2
	Ē
	S.
	-
	0
	θ
	5
	2
	50
	a)
	Ē
	43
	ŝ
	Ē
	G
	5t
	ĸ
	s,
1	σ
	ğ
	2
	Я,
	ž
	0
	â
	5
	0
	Ś
	2
	ä
	Ę
	2
	Ε
	G
	g
	5
	2
	Ś
	_
	ŝ
	le.
	6
	9
	2
	S
	-
	C 5
	90
	tec
	'e tec.
	tive tec.
;	ative tec.
	trative tec.
:	strative tec.
	lustrative tec.
	illustrative tec.
:	e illustrative tec.
:	are illustrative tec.
:	are illustrative tec.
:	ed are illustrative tec.
:	ted are illustrative tec.
:	cted are illustrative tec.
:	lected are illustrative tec.
:	elected are illustrative tec.
	Selected are illustrative tec.
	s. Selected are illustrative tec.
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	ns. Selected are illustrative teo
	ons. Selected are illustrative tec.
	pions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	egions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	nt regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	ent regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	rent regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	ferent regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	lifferent regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	s in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	s in different regions. Selected are illustrative teo
	ties in different regions. Selected are illustrative teo
	ogies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	Nogies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	nologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	hnologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	chnologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	/ technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	cy technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	vncy technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec
	iency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	iciency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	fficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	y efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	gy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec
	ergy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec
	nergy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec
	energy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	of energy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec
	of energy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec
	ty of energy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec
	lity of energy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec
	bility of energy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec
	ability of energy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec
	icability of energy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec
	olicability of energy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec
	oplicability of energy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	Applicability of energy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec
	Applicability of energy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	1: Applicability of energy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec
	.1: Applicability of energy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	6.1: Applicability of energy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec
	6.1: Applicability of energy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	le 6.1: Applicability of energy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	<b>ble 6.1:</b> Applicability of energy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.
	able 6.1: Applicability of energy efficiency technologies in different regions. Selected are illustrative tec.

			Dofourant	Hererence	6.4.2.1	6.4.2.2	6.4.3.1	6.4.3.3 6.4.8	6.4.3.2	6.4.4.1	6.4.2	6.4.4.2	6.4.8	6.4.6	6.4.6	6.4.7.1	6.4.5.1	6.4.10	6.4.10	6.4.11	6.4.4.3	6.4.12		
	ition,		Appropri-	ateness				•		•		•				•					•			
	nies in transi	Continental	Cost/	effectiveness			•	•		•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٢			
	Econor		Technology	stage	•			16	ł		ł	•	ł						•		•	•		
			Appropri-	ateness	•	•	•	14 15	•		<sup>19</sup>	23		•	•	•				• 25	μ <sup>27</sup> • 28			
	:	arm climate	Cost/	errectiveness	•		•	<b>1</b> 2 <b>1</b> 3	•	•	•		•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•			
2	3	Ň	Technology	stage	•			~10 11	ì	ł	ì	٤	ł	ł				д	•		•	•		
Ľ	5		Appropri-	ateness	•			•		•	•	•									•			
		old climate	Cost/	errectiveness	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•		•			
		U U	Technology	stage		ł		6	ì		ł	•	ł	ł	ł	ł		д	•	ł	•	Z		
			Appropri-	ateness	•	•1 •2	•	• <sup>7</sup> ● <sup>8</sup>	•	•	• <sup>17</sup>	21 22		•	•	•					л			
	:	arm climate	Cost/	errectiveness	•	•	•	• 5 6	•					•	•	•	•	•	•	•	ł			
		Š	Technology	stage	•			7	•	•	2	٤		•	•	•		٤	٢	•	•	•		
	lindoianan		Appropri-	ateness			•	•		•	•	•		•	•	•					д			
	-	Cold climate	Cold climate	Cold climate	Cost/	errecuveness			•	•	•	•		•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	ł	•
		0	Technology	stage				3		•	ì	•	ł					٢	2	•	•	•		
		Energy efficiency or	emission reduction	technology	Structural insulation panels	Multiple glazing layers	Passive solar heating	Heat pumps	Biomass derived liquid fuel stove	High-reflectivity bldg. materials	Thermal mass to minimize daytime interior temperature peaks	Direct evaporative cooler	Solar thermal water heater	Cogeneration	District heating & cooling system	PV	Air to air heat exchanger	High efficiency lightning (FL)	High efficiency lightning (LED)	HC-based domestic refridgerator	HC or CO <sub>2</sub> air conditioners	Advance supermarket technologies		

Developing countries       Cold climate       Cold climate       Varm climate       Technology     Cost/     Appropri-       Technology     Cost/     Appropri-       stage     effectiveness     ateness       *     •     •	Developing countries       Old climate       Cost/     Appropri-     Technology       Cost/     Appropri-     Technology       Cost/     Appropri-     Technology       effectiveness     ateness     ateness	leveloping countries       Warm climate       Appropri-     Technology     Cost/     Appropri-       Appropri-     Technology     Cost/     Appropri-       ateness     stage     effectiveness     ateness	g countries	arm climate Cost/ Appropri- 1 effectiveness ateness	Appropri-		Fechnology C	old climate Cost/	OEC Appropri- ateness	CD Technology stage	arm climate Cost/ effectiveness	Appropri- ateness	Econo Technology stage	omies in trans Continental Cost/ effectiveness	ittion, Appropri- ateness	Reference 6.4.4.2
dvanced control ystem based on 8EMS		•	•	•	•	•		•	•		•	•		•	•	6.4.6

Notes:

<sup>1</sup> For heat block type; <sup>2</sup> For Low-E; <sup>3</sup> Limited to ground heat source etc.; <sup>4</sup> For air conditioning; <sup>5</sup> For hot water; <sup>6</sup> For cooling; <sup>7</sup> For hot water; <sup>16</sup> For cooling; <sup>14</sup> For hot water; <sup>15</sup> For cooling; <sup>16</sup> Limited to ground heat source, etc.; <sup>10</sup> For cooling; <sup>11</sup> In high humidity region; <sup>19</sup> In high humidity region; <sup>13</sup> In high humidity region; <sup>21</sup> In high humidity region; <sup>22</sup> In high humidity region; <sup>23</sup> In high humidity region; <sup>24</sup> In aid region; <sup>24</sup> In aid region; <sup>25</sup> In high humidity region; <sup>25</sup> In high humidity region; <sup>25</sup> In high humidity region; <sup>26</sup> In aid region; <sup>26</sup> In high humidity region; <sup>28</sup> In high humidity region; <sup>28</sup> In high humidity region; <sup>29</sup> In high humidity region; <sup>20</sup> In aid region; <sup>28</sup> Limited to grouth humidity region; <sup>28</sup> Limited to grouth teuropean Union; <sup>27</sup> United States; <sup>28</sup> South European Union.

Evaluation ranks:

Visual representation	Stage of technology	Cost/Effectiveness	Appropriateness
•	Research phase (including laboratory and development) [R]	Expensive/Not effective [\$\$/-]	Not appropriate {-]
•	Demonstration phase [D]	Expensive/Effective [\$\$/+]	Appropriate [+]
•	Economically feasible under specific conditions [E]	Cheap/Effective [\$/+]	Highly appropriate {++]
٤	Mature Market (widespread commercially available without specific governmental support) {M]	'~' Not available	'~' Not available
д	No Mature Market (not necessarily available/not necessarily mature market)		

# 6.5 Potential for and costs of greenhouse gas mitigation in buildings

The previous sections have demonstrated that there is already a plethora of technological, systemic and management options available in buildings to substantially reduce GHG emissions. This section aims at quantifying the reduction potential these options represent, as well as the costs associated with their implementation.

## 6.5.1 Recent advances in potential estimations from around the world

Chapter 3 of the TAR (IPCC, 2001) provided an overview of the global GHG emission reduction potential for the residential and commercial sectors, based on the work of IPCC (1996) and Brown et al. (1998). An update of this assessment has been conducted for this report, based on a review of 80 recent studies from 36 countries and 11 country groups, spanning all inhabited continents. While the current appraisal concentrates on new results since the TAR, a few older studies were also revisited if no recent study was located to represent a geopolitical region in order to provide more complete global coverage. Table 6.2 reviews the findings of a selection of major studies on CO<sub>2</sub> mitigation potential from various countries around the world that could be characterized in a common framework. Since the studies apply a variety of assumptions and analytical methods, these results should be compared with caution (see the notes for each row, for methodological aspects of such a comparison exercise).

According to Table 6.2, estimates of technical potential range from 18% of baseline CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in Pakistan (Asian Development Bank, 1998) where only a limited number of options were considered, to 54% in 2010<sup>9</sup> in a Greek study (Mirasgedis *et al.*, 2004) that covered a very comprehensive range of measures in the residential sector. The estimates of economic potential<sup>10</sup> vary from 12% in EU-15 in 2010<sup>11</sup> (Joosen and Blok, 2001) to 52% in Ecuador in 2030<sup>12</sup> (FEDEMA, 1999). Estimates of market potential<sup>13</sup> range from 14% in Croatia, focusing on four options only (UNFCCC NC1 of Croatia, 2001), to 37% in the USA, where a wide range of policies were appraised (Koomey *et al.*, 2001).

Our calculations based on the results of the reviewed studies (see Box 6.1) suggest that, globally, approximately 29% of the projected baseline emissions by 2020<sup>14</sup> can be avoided cost-effectively through mitigation measures in the residential

and commercial sectors (high agreement, much evidence). Additionally at least 3% of baseline emissions can be avoided at costs up to 20 US\$/tCO2 and 4% more if costs up to 100 US\$/ tCO<sub>2</sub> are considered. Although due to the large opportunities at low-costs, the high-cost potential has been assessed to a limited extent and thus this figure is an underestimate (high agreement, much evidence). These estimates represent a reduction of approximately 3.2, 3.6 and 4.0 billion tonnes of CO<sub>2</sub>-eq in 2020, at zero, 20 US\$/tCO<sub>2</sub> and 100 US\$/tCO<sub>2</sub>, respectively. Due to the limited number of demand-side end-use efficiency options considered by the studies, the omission of non-technological options, the often significant co-benefits, as well as the exclusion of advanced integrated highly efficiency buildings, the real potential is likely to be higher (high agreement, low evidence). While occupant behaviour, culture and consumer choice as well as use of technologies are also major determinants of energy consumption in buildings and play a fundamental role in determining  $CO_2$  emissions, the potential reduction through non-technological options is not assessed. These figures are very similar to those reported in the TAR for 2020, indicating the dynamics of GHG reduction opportunities. As previous estimates of additional energy efficiency and GHG reduction potential begin to be captured in a new baseline, they tend to be replaced by the identification of new energy-efficiency and GHG-mitigation options. For comparison with other sectors these potentials have been extrapolated to 2030. The robustness of these figures is significantly lower than those for 2020 due to the lack of research for this year. The extrapolation of the potentials to the year 2030 suggests that, globally, at least 31% of the projected baseline emissions can be mitigated cost-effectively by 2030 in the buildings sector. Additionally at least 4% of baseline emissions can be avoided at costs up to 20 US\$/tCO<sub>2</sub> and 5% more at costs up to 100 US\$/tCO<sub>2</sub> (medium agreement, low evidence)<sup>15</sup>. This mitigation potential would result in a reduction of approximately 4.5, 5.0 and 5.6 billion tonnes of CO2-eq at zero, 20 US\$/tCO2 and 100 US\$/ tCO<sub>2</sub>, respectively, in 2030. Both for 2020 and 2030, low-cost potentials are highest in the building sector from all sectors assessed in this report (see Table 11.3). The outlook to the longterm future assuming options in the building sector with a cost up to 25 US\$/tCO2 identifies the potential of approximately 7.7 billion tonnes of  $CO_2$  in 2050 (IEA, 2006d).

The literature on future non- $CO_2$  emissions and potentials for their mitigation have been recently reviewed in the IPCC/TEAP report (2005). The report identifies that there are opportunities to reduce direct emissions significantly through the global application of best practices and recovery methods, with a reduction potential of about 665 million tonnes of  $CO_2$ -eq of

<sup>9</sup> If the approx. formula of Potential <sub>2020</sub> = 1 - (1 - Potential <sub>2010</sub>)<sup>20/10</sup> is used to extrapolate the potential as percentage of the baseline into the future (2000 is assumed as a start year), this corresponds to approx. 78% CO<sub>2</sub> savings in 2020.

<sup>10</sup> In this chapter we refer to 'cost-effective' or 'economic' potential, to remain consistent with the energy-efficiency literature, considering a zero-carbon price.

<sup>11</sup> Corresponds to an approx. 22% potential in 2020 if the extrapolation formula is used.

<sup>12</sup> Corresponds to an approx. 38% potential in 2020 if the formula is applied to derive the intermediate potential.

<sup>13</sup> For definitions of technical, economic, market and enhanced market potential, see Chapter 2 Section 2.4.3.1.

<sup>14</sup> The baseline CO<sub>2</sub> emission projections were calculated on the basis of the reviewed studies, and are a composite of business-as-usual and frozen efficiency baseline.

<sup>15</sup> These are the average figures of the low and high scenario of the potential developed for 2030.

		ŀ		Pote	ntial			
region	Reference	iype or potential	Description of mitigation scenarios	Million tCO <sub>2</sub>	Baseline (%)	Inteasures with lowest costs	measures with highest potential	Notes
Case studie	s providing infor	rmation for d	demand-side measures					
EU-15	Joosen and	Technical	25 options: retrofit (insulation); heating systems;	310	21%	1. Efficient TV and	1.Retrofit: insulated	[1].4%;
	Blok, 2001	Economic	new zero & low energy buildings, lights, office equipment & appliances; solar and geo-thermal heat production; BEMS for electricity, space heating and cooling.	175	12%	peripheries; 2. Efficient refrigerators & freezers; 3. Lighting Best Practice.	windows; 2.Retrofit: wall insulation; 3.BEMS for space heating and cooling.	[4].Fr-ef.; [5].TY 2010.
Canada	Jaccard and Associates, 2002	Market	Mainly fuel switch in water and space heating, hot water efficiency and the multi-residential retrofit program in households; landfill gas, building shell efficiency actions and fuel switch in commerce.	22	24%	n.a. (not listed in the study)	1.Electricity demand reductions; 2.Commercial landfill gas; 3.Furnaces & shell improvements.	[1].10%; [5].TY 2010.
Greece	Mirasgedis et	Technical	14 technological options: fuel switch, controls,	13	54%	1. Replacement of	1.Shell, esp. insulation;	[1].6%;
	al., 2004	Economic	insulation, lights, air conditioning and others.	9	25%	central boilers; 2. Use of roof ventilators; 3. Replacement of AC.	2.Lighting & water heating; 3.Space heating systems.	[4].Fr-ef; [5]. TY 2010; [7]. R only.
сK С	DEFRA, 2006	Technical	41 options: insulation; low-e double glazing windows; various appliances; heating controls; better IT equipment, more efficient motors, shift to CFLs, BEMS, etc.	46	24% (res. only)	1. Efficient fridge/ freezers; 2. Efficient chest freezers; 3. Effi- cient dishwashers.	1.Efficient gas boilers; 2.Cavity insulation; 3.Loft insulation.	[1].7-5%: R/C; [4].BL: Johnston et al., 2005; [5].BY 2005.
Australia	Australian Greenhouse Office, 2005	Market	Fridges and other appliances, air conditioners, water heating, swimming pool equipment, chillers, ballasts, standards, greenlight Australia plan, refrigerated cabinets, water dispensers, standby.	18	15%	1.Standby programs; 2.MEPS for appliances 1999; 3.TVs on-mode.	1. Packaged air- conditioners; 2. Ballast program in 2003; 3. Fluorescent bulbs.	<ul> <li>[1].5%; [4].</li> <li>BL: scenario without measures;</li> <li>[5].BY 2005.</li> </ul>
Estonia	Kallaste et al., 1999	Market	4 insulation measures: 3d window glass, new insulation into houses, renovation of roofs, additional attic insulation.	0.4	2.5% of nation. emis.	<ol> <li>New insulation; 2. Attic insulation; 3. 3d window glass.</li> </ol>	1.New insulation; 2.3d window glass; 3.Attic insulation.	[1].6%; [5]. BY 1995; TY 2025.
China	ERI, 2004	Enhanced market	Key policies: energy conservation standards, heat price reform, standards & labelling for appliances, energy efficiency projects, etc.	422	23%	n.a. (not listed in the study)	n.a. (not listed in the study)	[1].N.a.
New EU Member States <sup>a)</sup>	Petersdorff et al., 2005	Technical	Building envelope esp. insulation of walls, roofs, cellar/ground floor, windows with lower U-value; and renewal of energy supply.	62	1	<ol> <li>Roof insulation;</li> <li>Wall insulation;</li> <li>Floor Insulation.</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Window replacement;</li> <li>Wall insulation; 3. Roof insulation.</li> </ol>	[1] 6%; [4] Fr-ef; [5] BY 2006; TY 2015.
Hungary	Szlavik et al.,	Technical	25 technological options and measures: building	22	45%	1. Individual metering	1. Post insulation; 2.	[1] 3%;
	1999	Economic	envelope, space heating, hot water supply, ventilation, awareness, lighting, appliances.	15	31%	of hot water; 2. Water flow controllers; 3. Retrofitted windows.	Retrofit of windows; 3. Replacement of windows.	[5] TY 2030.
Myanmar	Asian Development Bank, 1998	Economic	5 options: shift to CFLs, switch to efficient biomass and LPG cooking stoves, improved kerosene lamps, efficient air conditioners.	m	N.a.	1. Biomass cooking stoves, 2. Kerosene lamps, 3. CFLs.	<ol> <li>Biomass cooking stoves, 2. LPG cooking stoves, 3. CFLs.</li> </ol>	[1] 10%.

				Pote	ential			
Country/ region	Reference	Type of potential	Description of mitigation scenarios	Million tCO <sub>2</sub>	Baseline (%)	Measures with lowest costs	Measures with highest potential	Notes
India	Reddy and Balachandra, 2006	Market	Lighting: mixture of incandescents, fluorescent tubes and CFLs, exchange of traditional kerosene and wood stoves and water heaters for efficient equipment.	17	33%	<ol> <li>Efficient packages of lighting; 2. Kerosene stoves; 3. Wood stoves.</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Wood stoves, 2. Efficient packages of lighting; 3. Kerosene stoves.</li> </ol>	[1] n.a.; [5] TY 2010; [7] R only.
Republic of Korea	Asian Development Bank, 1998	Economic	7 options: heating - condensing gas boilers, solar hot water systems, insulation standards; cooling - air conditioners; improved lights - shift to fluorescents and CFLs; efficient motors and inverters.	20	17%	<ol> <li>Heating: gas boilers, solar hot water, insulation standards; 2. Air conditioners; 3. Inverters &amp; motors.</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Improved lights; 2.</li> <li>Motors &amp; inverters; 3.</li> <li>Gas boiler RES, solar hot water system, insulation standards.</li> </ol>	[1] 8.5%; [5] BY1998.
Ecuador	FEDEMA, 1999	Economic	6 main options: improvements of appliances, lighting systems, electricity end-uses esp. in rural areas and in the services, solar water heating, public lighting.	~	52%	1. Lights; 2. Electric appliances (esp. rural areas); 3. Electricity end-use in services.	<ol> <li>Improved electricity end-uses in rural areas;</li> <li>Electric appliances (esp. in rural areas); 3. Light systems.</li> </ol>	[1] 10%; [5] TY 2030.
Thailand	Asian	Technical	3 technological programs: lighting (shift to	15	31%	1. Lighting, 2.	1. Efficient air-	[1] 10%; [5] DV 1007. [7]
	Development Bank, 1998	Economic	nuorescents), reingerator (insulation) and compressors) and air-conditioning.	6.1	13%	Enicient remgerators, 3. Air conditioning.	condutoring, ∠. Enicient refrigerators, 3 Lighting.	[2] BY 1997; [7] R only.
Pakistan	Asian Development	Technical	Energy efficiency improvements of electric	7	18%	1. Improved lights, 2. Efficient ceiling	1. Efficient ceiling fans, 2. Improved lichts	[1] 8%; [5] RV 1008
	Bank, 1998	Economic	appliances and other and use devices and as lights, fans, refrigerators, water heaters and improvement of building design.	9	16%	<ol> <li>Lincient Coming fans, 3. More efficient refrigerators.</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Improved nullding design.</li> </ol>	
Indonesia	AIM, 2004	Technical	9 Main technological options: energy efficient	13.5	25%	Efficient refrigerator,	1. Efficient refrigerators,	[1] 5%;
		Economic	appliances such as refrigerator and air conditioners. lights (shift from incandescents	10.2	19%	electricity and das water heater	2. Fluorescent lamps, 3. Fflicient electric	[2] Integrated
Argentina	AIM, 2004	Technical	to fluorescents), kerosene, electricity and gas	3.8	22%	kerosene and gas	water heater (ranking at	Fr-ef.;
		Economic	water heater, kerosene and gas heater, wall and vindow insulation and others	3.3	19%	heater, lights, air- conditioners (not	negative marginal cost).	[7] R only.
Brazil	AIM, 2004	Technical		5.4	41%	ranked).		
		Economic		4.8	36%			
Poland	Gaj and	Technical	13 options: lights in streets, commerce &	43	26%	1. Efficient street	1. Insulation of walls, 2.	[1] n.a.;
	Sadowski, 1997	Economic	households, gas boiler controls, appliances, heat meters, thermal insulation for walls and roofs, window tightening & replacement, fuel switch from coal to gas, solar or biomass, DH boilers.	30	18%	lighting; 2. Improved controls of small gas boilers; 3. Efficient lighting in commerce.	Improvement of home appliances, 3. Fuel switching from coal to gas, solar and biomass.	[4] BL: UNFCCC NC3 of Poland, 2001.
Russia	Izrael et al., 1999	Technical	Downsized thermal generators (boilers and heaters). thermal insulation (improved panels.	182	47%	n.a. (not listed in the studv)	n.a. (not listed in the studv)	[1] n.a.; [4] BL:
		Economic	doors, balconies, windows), heat and hot water meters and controls, hot water distribution devices, electric appliances.	52	13%			UNFCCC NC3 of Russia, 2002; PNNL & CENEf, 2004; [5] TY 2010.

Table 6.2. Continued.

Continued.
<u>6.</u> 2
Table

412

,		ye F		Pote	ential		Massacha id dhin ann ann	
region	Reference	iype or potential	Description of mitigation scenarios	Million tCO <sub>2</sub>	Baseline (%)	Inteasures with lowest costs	measures with highest potential	Notes
South Africa	De Villiers and Matibe,	Technical	21 options: light practices; new & retrofits HVAC; stoves, thermal envelope; fuel switch	41	23%	1. Energy star equipment;	1. Hybrid solar water heaters;	[1] 6%; [4] Fr-ef.;
	2000 De Villiers, 2000	Economic	in heaters; standards & labelling; for hot water: improved insulation, heat pumps, efficient use; solar heating.	37	20%	<ol> <li>Lighting retrofit;</li> <li>New lighting systems.</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>New building thermal design;</li> <li>New HVAC systems.</li> </ol>	[5] BY 2001; TY 2030.
Croatia	UNFCCC NC1 of Croatia, 2001	Market	Electricity savings for not heating purposes (low energy bulbs, more efficient appliances, improved motors), solar energy use increase, thermal insulation improvement.	5	14%	<ol> <li>Bulbs &amp; appliances;</li> <li>Solar energy use increase;</li> <li>Insulation improvement</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Insulation improvement;</li> <li>Solar energy use increase;</li> <li>Bulbs &amp; appliances.</li> </ol>	[1] n.a.
Studies prov	viding informatio	in about both	h supply and demand-side options not separating t	them:				
New EU Member States <sup>a)</sup>	Lechtenboh- mer et al., 2005	Economic	Improvement in space and water heating, appliances and lighting, cooling/freezing, air- conditioning, cooking, motors, process heat, renewable energies, reduced emissions from electricity generation.	81	37%	n.a. (not listed in the study)	R: 1.Insulation; 2.Heating systems, fuel switch, DH&CHP C: 1. Energy efficiency, 2. Renewables.	<ul> <li>[1] 3-5%;</li> <li>[5] BY 2005;</li> <li>[7] C includes agriculture.</li> </ul>
USA	Koomey et al., 2001	Market	Voluntary labelling, deployment programmes, building codes, new efficiency standards, government procurement, implementation of tax credits, expansion of cost-shared federal R&D expenditures.	898	37%	n.a. (The study did not examine a GHG potential supply cost curve).	1. Lighting; 2. Space cooling; 3.Space heating.	[1] 7%; [5] BY 1997.
Japan	Murakami et al., 2006	Technical	15 options: new and retrofit insulation, double glazing window, home appliances (water & space heating/cooling, lighting, cooking), PVs, solar heating, shift to energy efficient living style, low-carbon electricity generation.	46	28%	n.a. (not listed in the study)	<ol> <li>Water heater;</li> <li>Space heater;</li> <li>Home appliances.</li> </ol>	[1] n.a.; [7] R only.
Germany	Martinsen et al., 2002	Technical	Two options: fuel switch from coal and oil to natural gas and biomass and heat insulation.	31	26%	n.a. (not listed in the study)	1.Heat insulation; 2.Fuel switch from coal & oil to gas & biomass.	[1] n.a.; [5] BY 2002; [7] R only.
Notes specify t	hose parameters v	which are differ	trent from those identified below (the number of a note is the theorem and the Coord benching	ne number c	of the model p	arameter):		

a) Hungary, Slovakia, Slovenia, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland and the Czech Republic 1. Discount Rate (DR) belongs to the interval [3%; 10%]. 2. Most models are Bottom-up (BU). 3. All models consider CO<sub>2</sub>. If a study considered GHGs, CO<sub>2</sub> only was analysed, if the study assessed C, po-tential was converted into CO<sub>2</sub>. 4. Baseline (BL) is Business-as-Usual Scenario (BAU) or similar (Frozen efficiency scenario is abbreviated as fr-ef). 5. Base year (BY) is 2000; Target year (IT) is 2020. 6. Costs covered: cost of incremental reduction, abatement costs, costs of avoided or saved or mitigated CO<sub>2</sub>, marginal costs. 7. Estimations are made for Residential (P) and commercial (C) sectors in sum.

17

## Box 6.1: Methodology for the global assessment of potentials and costs of CO<sub>2</sub> mitigation in buildings

This chapter evaluated the potential for GHG mitigation in buildings and associated costs based on the review of existing national and regional potential estimates. For this purpose, over 80 studies containing bottom-up mitigation potential estimates for buildings were identified from 36 countries and 11 country groups covering all inhabited continents. One study (AIM, 2004) covered the entire planet, but it was not suitable for the purposes of this report, as it assessed a very limited number of mitigation options.

To allow the comparison of studies in a common framework, their main results and related assumptions were processed and inserted into a database containing the key characteristics of the methods used and results. To eliminate the major effects of different methodological assumptions, only those studies were selected for further analysis whose assumptions fell into a range of common criteria. For instance, studies were only used for further assessment if their discount rates fell in the interval of 3–10%. For studies which did not report their baseline projections, these were taken from the latest available National Communications to the UNFCCC, or other recent related reports.

Table 6.2 presents the results of a selection of major mitigation studies meeting such criteria for different parts of the world. For definitions of various mitigation potentials see Chapter 2, Section 2.4.3.1.

The next step was to aggregate the results into global and regional potential estimates, as a function of CO<sub>2</sub> costs. Only three studies covered a 2030 target year and they were for countries with insignificant global emissions, thus this was only possible for 2020 in the first iteration. Since few studies reported potentials as a function of cost (typically only technical/economic or market potentials were reported), only 17 studies from the remaining subset meeting our other selection criteria could be used. IPCC SRES or WEO scenarios could not be used as a baseline because little information is available for these on the technology assumptions in buildings. In order to make sure the potentials are entirely consistent with the baseline, an average baseline was created from the studies used for the global potential estimates. For the global potential estimates and the baseline construction, the world was split into seven regions<sup>16</sup>. For each such region, two to four studies were located, thus dividing each region into two to four sub-regions represented by these marker countries in terms of emission growth rates and potential as a percentage of baseline. CO<sub>2</sub> baseline emissions in the seven regions were estimated starting with 2000 IPCC A1B and B2 (SRES) data and applying the CO<sub>2</sub> growth rates calculated for each region as the population weighted average CO<sub>2</sub> baseline growth rates of two to four sub-regions. The baseline projections were estimated for 2000–2020 based on mainly 2020 data from the studies; these trends were prolonged for the period 2020-2030. Since three of the seventeen studies used a frozen efficiency baseline, the baseline used in this chapter can be considered a business-as-usual one with some frozen efficiency elements. The resulting baseline is higher than the B2 (SRES) scenario but lower than A1B (SRES) and WEO scenarios.

Analogously,  $CO_2$  potentials as a percentage of the baseline in cost categories (US\$/tCO<sub>2</sub>: (<0); (0;20); (20;100)) were calculated based on population weighted average potentials in the sub-regions for each cost category. While the three studies using a frozen efficiency baseline result in a relatively higher potential than in studies using a BAU baseline, this does not compromise the validity of the global potential, since for the regions applying a frozen efficiency baseline, the latter baseline was used in calculating the global total. The results of these estimates are presented in Table 6.3.

As mentioned above, only three studies covered the baseline or mitigation potential for 2030. Therefore these figures were derived by extrapolating the 2020 figures to 2030. Since the simple exponential formula used for such extrapolations by other sectors was found to yield disputably high or low results in some cases, a modified exponential function was used which allows regulating the maximum potential considered theoretically achievable for different regions<sup>17</sup>. The results of the projections are presented in Table 6.4

$$X_{2030} = X_{saturation} (1 - EXP - \frac{30}{20} LN (1 - \frac{X_{2020}}{X_{saturation}})$$

<sup>16</sup> OECD North America, OECD Pacific, Western Europe, Transition Economies, Latin America, Africa and Middle East, and Asia

X (t) =  $X_{saturation}$  –C e<sup>-kt</sup> (reached from the differential equation: dx/dt = k ( $X_{saturation}$  –X), saturation illustrates that the closer potential is to this upper limit, the lower potential growth rate is experienced, and the potential does not exceed the maximum judged reasonable. C can be found from the starting conditions (in year 2000); thus if we know the potential in 2020, then:

direct emissions in 2015, as compared to the BAU scenario. About 40% of this potential is attributed to HFC emission reduction covered by the Kyoto Protocol to the UNFCCC, while HCFCs and CFCs regulated by the Montreal Protocol contribute about 60% of the potential. A key factor determining whether this potential will be realized is the costs associated with the implementation of the measures to achieve the emission reduction. These vary considerably from a net benefit to 300 US\$/tCO<sub>2</sub>-eq. Refrigeration applications and stationary and mobile air conditioning contribute most to global direct GHG emissions. Action in these sub-sectors could therefore have a substantial influence on future emissions of HCFCs and HFCs. The available literature does not contain reliable estimates for non-CO<sub>2</sub> mitigation potentials in the long-term future, including the year 2030. Therefore, the 2015 figures can serve as low estimates of the potentials in 2030, taking into account that upcoming progressive policies in many countries have already led to new products with very low non-CO<sub>2</sub> emissions as compared to their previous analogues.

## · · ·

Chapter 6

## 6.5.2 Recent advances in estimating the costs of GHG mitigation in buildings

Table 6.3 below and Table 6.4 provide information on the GHG abatement potentials in buildings as a function of costs and world regions for 2020 (Table 6.3) and for 2030 (Table 6.4). These demonstrate that the majority of measures for  $CO_2$  abatement in buildings are cost-effective. The table also demonstrates that measures to save electricity in buildings typically offer larger and cheaper options to abate  $CO_2$  emissions than measures related to fuel savings. This is especially true for developing countries located in warmer regions, which have less need for space and water heating.

## 6.5.3 Supply curves of conserved carbon dioxide

 $CO_2$  conservation supply curves relate the quantity of  $CO_2$  emissions that can be reduced by certain technological or other measures to the cost per unit  $CO_2$  savings (Sathaye and Meyers,

#### **Table 6.3:** $CO_2$ mitigation potential projections in 2020 as a function of $CO_2$ cost

	Baseline emissions in 2020	CO <sub>2</sub> mitiga CO <sub>2</sub> emissio	tion potentials on projections (costs in US	s as share of t in cost catego S\$/tCO <sub>2</sub> -eq)	he baseline ories in 2020	CO <sub>2</sub> mitigat	ion potentials categories in (costs in US	in absolute va 2020, GtCO <sub>2</sub> S\$/tCO <sub>2</sub> -eq)	alues in cost
World regions	(GtCO <sub>2</sub> -eq)	<0	0-20	20-100	<100	<0	0-20	20-100	<100
Globe	11.1	29%	3%	4%	36%	3.2	0.35	0.45	4.0
OECD (-EIT)	4.8	27%	3%	2%	32%	1.3	0.10	0.10	1.6
EIT	1.3	29%	12%	23%	64%	0.4	0.15	0.30	0.85
Non-OECD	5.0	30%	2%	1%	32%	1.5	0.10	0.05	1.6

Table 6.4: Extrapolated CO<sub>2</sub> mitigation potential in 2030 as a function of CO<sub>2</sub> cost, GtCO<sub>2</sub>

					Potentia	l in different cost ca	tegories
		Baseline projections in	Potential at c 100 US\$	osts at below /tCO <sub>2</sub> -eq	<0 US\$/tCO <sub>2</sub>	0-20 US\$/tCO <sub>2</sub>	20-100 US\$/ tCO <sub>2</sub>
Mitigation option	Region	2030	Low	High	<0 US\$/tC	0-73 US\$/tC	73-367 US\$/tC
Electricity savings <sup>a</sup>	OECD	3.4	0.75	0.95	0.85	0.0	0.0
	EIT	0.4	0.15	0.20	0.20	0.0	0.0
	Non-OECD/ EIT	4.5	1.7	2.4	1.9	0.1	0.1
Fuel savings	OECD	2.0	1.0	1.2	0.85	0.2	0.1
	EIT	1.0	0.55	0.85	0.20	0.2	0.3
	Non-OECD/ EIT	3.0	0.70 0.80 1.8 2.2		0.65	0.1	0.0
Total	OECD	5.4			1.7	0.2	0.1
	EIT	1.4	0.70	1.1	0.40	0.2	0.3
	Non-OECD/ EIT	7.5	2.4	3.2	2.5	0.1	0.0
	Global	14.3	4.8	6.4	4.5	0.5	0.7

Note: a) The absolute values of the potentials resulting from electricity savings in Table 6.4 and Table 11.3 do not coincide due to application of different baselines. Table 6.4 uses the baseline constructed on the basis of the reviewed studies while Table 11.3 applies WEO 2004 baseline (IEA, 2004e) to calculate CO<sub>2</sub> emission reductions from electricity savings. The potential estimates as a percentage of the baseline are the same in both cases. Also Table 11.3 excludes the share of emission reductions which is already taken into account by the energy supply sector, while Table 6.4 does not separate this potential. 1995). The measures, or packages of measures, are considered in order of growing marginal  $CO_2$  abatement cost, therefore forming a 'supply curve' for the commodity of  $CO_2$  reduction.

Figure 6.4 depicts the potentials for  $CO_2$  abatement as a function of costs for eight selected recent detailed studies from different world regions. The steepness of the curves, that is the rate at which the costs of the measures increase as more of the potential is captured, varies substantially by country and by study. While the shape of each supply curve is profoundly influenced by the underlying assumptions and methods used in the study, the figure attests that opportunities for cost-effective and low-cost CO<sub>2</sub> mitigation in buildings are abundant in each world region. All eight studies covered here identified measures at negative costs. The supply curves of developing countries and economies in transition are characterized by a flat slope and lie, in general, lower than the curves of developed countries. The flat slope justifies the general perception (for instance, which provided the main rationale for the Kyoto Flexibility Mechanisms) that there is a higher abundance of 'low-hanging fruit' in these countries. More concretely, the net costs of GHG mitigation in buildings in these countries do not grow rapidly even over 30-50% of emissions reductions. For developed countries, the baseline scenario assumes that many of the lowcost opportunities are already captured due to progressive policies in place or in the pipeline.

#### 6.5.4 Most attractive measures in buildings

From a policy-design perspective, it is important to understand which technologies/end-uses entail the lowest unit abatement costs for society, as well as which ones offer the largest abatement potential. This section reviews the most attractive mitigation options in terms of overall potential. Both Table 6.4 and Table 11.3 in Chapter 11 demonstrate that CO<sub>2</sub>saving options are largest from fuel use in developed countries and countries in transition due to their more northern locations and, thus, larger potential for heat-saving measures. Conversely, electricity savings constitute the largest potential in developing countries located in the south, where the majority of emissions in the buildings sector are associated with appliances and cooling. This distribution of the potential also explains the difference in mitigation costs between developing and developed countries. The shift to more efficient appliances quickly pays back, while building shell retrofits and fuel switching, together providing approximately half of the potential in developed countries, are more expensive.

While it is impossible to draw universal conclusions regarding individual measures and end-uses, Table 6.2 attests that efficient lighting technologies are among the most promising measures in buildings, in terms of both cost-effectiveness and size of potential savings in almost all countries. The IEA



Figure 6.4: Supply curves of conserved CO2 for commercial and residential sector<sup>a</sup> in 2020<sup>b</sup> for different world regions

Notes:

a) Except for the UK, Thailand and Greece, for which the supply curves are for the residential sector only.

b) Except for EU-15 and Greece, for which the target year is 2010 and Hungary, for which the target year is 2030. Each step on the curve represents a type of measure, such as improved lighting or added insulation. The length of a step on the 'X' axis shows the abatement potential represented by the measure, while the cost of the measure is indicated by the value of the step on the 'Y' axis.

Sources for data: Joosen and Blok, 2001; Asian Development Bank, 1998; De Villiers and Matibe, 2000; De Villiers, 2000; Szlavik et al., 1999; DEFRA, 2006; Mirasgedis et al., 2004; Gaj and Sadowski, 1997.

(2006b) estimates that by 2020, approximately 760 Mt of  $CO_2$  emissions can be abated by the adoption of least life-cycle cost lighting systems globally, at an average cost of US\$–161/tCO<sub>2</sub>. In developing countries, efficient cooking stoves rank second, while the second-place measures differ in the industrialized countries by climatic and geographic region. Almost all studies examining economies in transition (typically in cooler climates) have found heating-related measures to be most cost-effective, including insulation of walls, roofs, windows and floors, as well as improved heating controls for district heat. In developed countries, appliance-related measures are typically identified as the most cost-effective, with cooling-related equipment upgrades ranking high in the warmer climates.

In terms of the size of savings, improved insulation and district heating in the colder climates and efficiency measures related to space conditioning in the warmer climates come first in almost all studies, 18 along with cooking stoves in developing countries. Other measures that rank high in terms of savings potential are solar water heating, efficient lighting and efficient appliances, as well as building energy management systems.

## 6.5.5 Energy and cost savings through use of the Integrated Design Process (IDP)

Despite the usefulness of supply curves for policy-making, the methods used to create them rarely consider buildings as integrated systems; instead, they focus on the energy savings potential of incremental improvements to individual energyusing devices. As demonstrated in the first part of this chapter, integrated building design not only can generate savings that are greater than achievable through individual measures, but can also improve cost-effectiveness. This suggests that studies relying solely on component estimates may underestimate the abatement potential or overestimate the costs, compared with a systems approach to building energy efficiency. Recent published analyses show that, with an integrated approach, (i) the cost of saving energy can go down as the amount of energy saved goes up, and (ii) highly energy-efficient buildings can cost less than buildings built according to standard practice (Harvey, 2006; Chapter 13).

# 6.6 Co-benefits of GHG mitigation in the residential and commercial sectors

Co-benefits of mitigation policies should be an important decision element for decision-makers in both the residential and commercial sectors. Although these co-benefits are often not quantified, monetized, or perhaps even identified by the decision-makers or economic modellers (Jochem and Madlener, 2003), they can still play a crucial role in making GHG emissions mitigation a higher priority. This is especially true in less economically advanced countries, where environmentalism – and climate change specifically – may not have a strong tradition or a priority role in either the policy agenda or the daily concerns of citizens. In these circumstances, every opportunity for policy integration can be of value in order to reach climate change mitigation goals.

## 6.6.1 Reduction in local/regional air pollution

Climate mitigation through energy efficiency in the residential and commercial sectors will improve local and regional air quality, particularly in large cities, contributing to improved public health (e.g., increased life expectancy, reduced emergency room visits, reduced asthma attacks, fewer lost working days) and avoidance of structural damage to buildings and public works. As an example in China, replacement of residential coal burning by large boiler houses providing district heating is among the abatement options providing the largest net benefit per tonne of CO<sub>2</sub> reduction, when the health benefits from improved ambient air conditions are accounted for (Mestl et al., 2005). A study in Greece (Mirasgedis et al., 2004) found that the economic GHG emissions abatement potential in the residential sector could be increased by almost 80% if the co-benefits from improved air quality are taken into account. Beyond the general synergies between improved air quality and climate change mitigation described in Chapter 11 (see Section 11.8.1), some of the most important co-benefits in the households of developing countries are due to reduced indoor air pollution through certain mitigation measures, discussed in sections 6.6.2 and 6.1.1.

#### 6.6.2 Improved health, quality of life and comfort

In the least developed countries, one of the most important opportunities for achieving GHG mitigation as well as sustainable development in buildings is to focus on the healthrelated benefits of clean domestic energy services, including safe cooking. Indoor air pollution is a key environmental and public health peril for countless of the world's poorest, most vulnerable people. Approximately three billion people worldwide rely on biomass (wood, charcoal, crop residues and dung) and coal to meet their household cooking and heating energy needs (ITDG, 2002). Smoke from burning these fuels contributes to acute respiratory infections in young children and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in adults. These health problems are responsible for nearly all of the 2.2 million deaths attributable to indoor air pollution each year, over 98% of which are in developing countries (Gopalan and Saksena, 1999; Smith et al., 2004), (See Box 6.2). In addition, women and children also bear the brunt of the work of collecting biomass fuel. Clean-burning cooking stoves not only save substantial amounts of GHG emissions, but also prevent many of these

<sup>18</sup> Note that several studies covered only electricity-related measures, and thus excluded some heating options.

#### Box 6.2: Traditional biomass-based cooking has severe health effects

In South Africa, children living in homes with wood stoves are almost five times more likely than others to develop respiratory infections severe enough to require hospitalization. In Tanzania, children younger than five years who die of acute respiratory infection are three times more likely than healthy children to have been sleeping in a room with an open cooking stove. In the Gambia, children carried on their mothers' backs as the mothers cook over smoky stoves contract pneumonia at a rate 2.5 times higher than unexposed children. In Colombia, women exposed to smoke during cooking are over three times more likely than others to suffer from chronic lung disease. In Mexico, urban women who use coal for cooking and heating over many years are subject to a risk of lung cancer two to six times higher than women who use gas. Rural coal smoke exposure can increase lung cancer risks by a factor of nine or more. In India, smoke exposure has been associated with a 50% increase in stillbirths.

Cleaner-burning improved cooking stoves (ICS), outlined in the previous sections of this chapter, help address many of the problems associated with traditional cooking methods. The benefits derived from ICS are: 1) reduced health risks for women and children due to improved indoor air quality; 2) reduced risks associated with fuel collection; 3) cost-effective and efficient energy use, which eases the pressure on the natural biomass resource; 4) a reduction in the amount of money spent on fuel in urban areas; and 5) a reduction in fuel collection and cooking time, which translates into an increase in time available for other economic and developmental activities.

Source: UN, 2002

health problems and provide many other benefits identified in Box 6.2.

In developed countries, the diffusion of new technologies for energy use and/or savings in residential and commercial buildings contributes to an improved quality of life and increases the value of buildings. Jakob (2006) lists examples of this type of co-benefit, such as improved thermal comfort (fewer cold surfaces such as windows) and the substantially reduced level of outdoor noise infiltration in residential or commercial buildings due to triple-glazed windows or high-performance wall and roof insulation. At noisy locations, an improvement of 10–15 dB could result in gross economic benefits up to the amount of 3–7% of the rental income from a building (Jakob, 2006). Lastly, better-insulated buildings eliminate moisture problems associated with, for example, thermal bridges and damp basements and thus reduce the risk of mould build-up and associated health risks.

## 6.6.3 Improved productivity

There is increasing evidence that well-designed, energy efficient buildings often have the co-benefits of improving occupant productivity and health (Leaman and Bordass, 1999; Fisk, 2000; Fisk, 2002). Assessing these productivity gains is difficult (CIBSE (The Chartered Institution of Building Services Engineers), 1999) but in a study of 16 buildings in the UK, occupants estimated that their productivity was influenced by the environment by between -10% and +11% (Leaman and Bordass, 1999).

The implementation of new technologies for GHG emissions mitigation achieves substantial learning and economies of scale, resulting in cost reductions. Jacob and Madlener (2004) analyzed the technological progress and marginal cost developments for energy efficiency measures related to the building envelope using data for the time period 1975 to 2001 in Switzerland. The analysis yields technical progress factors of around 3% per annum for wall insulation and 3.3% per annum for double glazing windows, while real prices decreases of 0.6% since 1985 for facades and 25% over the last 30 years for double glazing windows (Jacob and Madlener, 2004).

## 6.6.4 Employment creation and new business opportunities

Most studies agree that energy-efficiency investments will have positive effects on employment, directly by creating new business opportunities and indirectly through the economic multiplier effects of spending the money saved on energy costs in other ways (Laitner et al., 1998; Jochem and Madlener, 2003). Providing energy-efficiency services has proven to be a lucrative business opportunity. Experts estimate a market opportunity of € 5–10 billion in energy service markets in Europe (Butson, 1998). The data on energy service company (ESCO) industry revenues in Section 6.8.3.5 demonstrates that the energy services business appears to be both a very promising and a quickly growing business sector worldwide. The European Commission (2005) estimates that a 20% reduction in EU energy consumption by 2020 can potentially create (directly or indirectly) as many as one million new jobs in Europe, especially in the area of semi-skilled labour in the buildings trades (Jeeninga et al., 1999; European Commission, 2003).

# 6.6.5 Improved social welfare and poverty alleviation

Improving residential energy efficiency helps households cope with the burden of paying utility bills and helps them afford adequate energy services. One study estimated that an average EU household could save € 200-1000 (US\$ 248-1240) in utility costs through cost-effective improvements in energy efficiency (European Commission, 2005). Reducing the economic burden of utility bills is an important co-benefit of energy efficiency for less affluent households. This is especially true in former communist countries and others (e.g., in Asia and Latin America) where energy subsidies have been removed and energy expenditures are a major burden for much of the population (Ürge-Vorsatz et al., 2006). In economies in transition, this situation provides an opportunity to redirect those social programmes aimed at compensating for increasing energy costs towards energy-efficiency efforts. In this way resources can be invested in long-term bill reduction through energy efficiency instead of one-time subsidies to help pay current utility bills (Ürge-Vorsatz and Miladinova, 2005).

Fuel poverty, or the inability to afford basic energy services to meet minimal needs or comfort standards, is also found in even the wealthiest countries. In the UK in 1996, about 20% of all households were estimated to live in fuel poverty. The number of annual excess winter deaths, estimated by the UK Department of Health at around 30 thousand annually between 1997 and 2005, can largely be attributed to inadequate heating (Boardman, 1991; DoH (UK Department of Health), 2000). Improving energy efficiency in these homes is a major component of strategies to eradicate fuel poverty.

In developing countries, energy-efficient household equipment and low-energy building design can contribute to poverty alleviation through minimizing energy expenditures, therefore making more energy services affordable for lowincome households (Goldemberg, 2000). Clean and efficient utilization of locally available renewable energy sources reduces or replaces the need for energy and fuel purchases, increasing the access to energy services. Therefore, sustainable development strategies aimed at improving social welfare go hand-in-hand with energy efficiency and renewable energy development.

## 6.6.6 Energy security

Additional co-benefits of building-level GHG mitigation include improved energy security and system reliability (IEA, 2004f), discussed in more detail in Chapter 4. Improving end-use energy efficiency is among the top priorities on the European Commission's agenda to increase energy security, with the recognition that energy efficiency is likely to generate additional macro-economic benefits because reduced energy imports will improve the trade balances of importing countries (European Commission, 2003).

#### 6.6.7 Summary of co-benefits

In summary, investments in residential and commercial building energy efficiency and renewable energy technologies can yield a wide spectrum of benefits well beyond the value of saved energy and reduced GHG emissions. Several climate mitigation studies focusing on the buildings sector maintain that, if co-benefits of the various mitigation options are included in the economic analysis, their economic attractiveness may increase considerably - along with their priority levels in the view of decision-makers (Jakob et al., 2002; Mirasgedis et al., 2004; Banfi et al., 2006). Strategic alliances with other policy fields, such as employment, competitiveness, health, environment, social welfare, poverty alleviation and energy security, can provide broader societal support for climate change mitigation goals and may improve the economics of climate mitigation efforts substantially through sharing the costs or enhancing the dividends (European Commission, 2005). In developing countries, residential and commercial-sector energy efficiency and modern technologies to utilize locally available renewable energy forms, can form essential components of sustainable development strategies.

# 6.7 Barriers to adopting building technologies and practices that reduce GHG emissions

The previous sections have shown the significant costeffective potential for  $CO_2$  mitigation through energy efficiency in buildings. The question often arises: If these represent profitable investment opportunities, or energy cost savings foregone by households and businesses, why are these opportunities not pursued? If there are profits to be made, why do markets not capture these potentials?

Certain characteristics of markets, technologies and end-users can inhibit rational, energy-saving choices in building design, construction and operation, as well as in the purchase and use of appliances. The Carbon Trust (2005) suggests a classification of these barriers into four main categories: financial costs/benefits; hidden costs/benefits; real market failures; and behavioural/ organizational non-optimalities. Table 6.5 gives characteristic examples of barriers that fall into these four main categories. The most important among them that pertain to buildings are discussed below in further detail.

# 6.7.1 Limitations of the traditional building design process and fragmented market structure

One of the most significant barriers to energy-efficient building design is that buildings are complex systems. While the typical design process is linear and sequential, minimizing energy use requires optimizing the system as a whole by systematically addressing building form, orientation, envelope,

Barrier categories	Definition	Examples
Financial costs/ benefits	Ratio of investment cost to value of energy savings	Higher up-front costs for more efficient equipment Lack of access to financing Energy subsidies Lack of internalization of environmental, health and other external costs
Hidden costs/benefits	Cost or risks (real or perceived) that are not captured directly in financial flows	Costs and risks due to potential incompatibilities, performance risks, transaction costs etc. Poor power quality, particularly in some developing countries
Market failures	Market structures and constraints that prevent the consistent trade-off between specific energy-efficient investment and the energy saving benefits	Limitations of the typical building design process Fragmented market structure Landlord/tenant split and misplaced incentives Administrative and regulatory barriers (e.g., in the incorporation of distributed generation technologies) Imperfect information
Behavioural and organizational non- optimalities	Behavioural characteristics of individuals and organizational characteristics of companies that hinder energy efficiency technologies and practices	Tendency to ignore small opportunities for energy conservation Organizational failures (e.g., internal split incentives) Non-payment and electricity theft Tradition, behaviour, lack of awareness and lifestyle Corruption

Table 6.5: Taxonomy of barriers that hinder the penetration of energy efficient technologies/practices in the buildings sector

Source: Carbon Trust, 2005.

glazing area and a host of interaction and control issues involving the building's mechanical and electrical systems.

Compounding the flaws in the typical design process is fragmentation in the building industry as a whole. Assuring the long-term energy performance and sustainability of buildings is all the more difficult when decisions at each stage of design, construction and operation involve multiple stakeholders. This division of responsibilities often contributes to suboptimal results (e.g., under-investment in energy-efficient approaches to envelope design because of a failure to capitalize on opportunities to down-size HVAC equipment). In Switzerland, this barrier is being addressed by the integration of architects into the selection and installation of energy-using devices in buildings (Jefferson, 2000); while the European Directive on the Energy Performance of Buildings in the EU (see Box 6.3) aims to bring engineers in at early stages of the design process through its whole-building, performance-based approach.

## 6.7.2 Misplaced incentives

Misplaced incentives, or the agent-principal barrier takes place when intermediaries are involved in decisions to purchase energy-saving technologies, or agents responsible for investment decisions are different from those benefiting from the energy savings, for instance due to fragmented institutional organizational structures. This limits the consumer's role and often leads to an under-emphasis on investments in energy efficiency. For example, in residential buildings, landlords often provide the AC equipment and major appliances and decide on building renovation, while the tenant pays the energy bill. As a result, the landlord is not likely to invest in energy efficiency, since he or she is not the one rewarded for the investment (Scott, 1997; Schleich and Gruber, 2007). Decisions about the energy features of a building (e.g., whether to install high-efficiency windows or lighting) are often made by agents not responsible for the energy bills or not using the equipment, divorcing the interests of the builder/investor and the occupant. For example, in many countries the energy bills of hospitals are paid from central public funds while investment expenditures must come either from the institution itself or from the local government (Rezessy *et al.*, 2006). Finally, the prevailing selection criteria and fee structures for building designers may emphasize initial costs over life-cycle costs, hindering energy-efficiency considerations (Lovins, 1992; Jones *et al.*, 2002).

## 6.7.3 Energy subsidies, non-payment and theft

In many countries, electricity historically has been subsidized to residential customers (and sometimes to commercial or government customers as well), creating a disincentive for energy efficiency. This is particularly the case in many developing countries and historically in Eastern Europe and the former Soviet Union – for example widespread fuel poverty in Russia has driven the government to subsidize energy costs (Gritsevich, 2000). Energy pricing that does not reflect the longterm marginal costs of energy, including direct subsidies to some customers, hinders the penetration of efficient technologies (Alam *et al.*, 1998).

However, the abrupt lifting of historically prevailing subsidies may also have adverse effects. After major tariff increases, non-payment has been reported to be a serious issue in some countries. In the late 1990s, energy bill collection rates in Albania, Armenia and Georgia were around 60% of billings. Besides non-payment, electricity theft has been occurring on a large scale in many countries – estimates show that distribution losses due to theft are as high as 50% in some states in India (New Delhi, Orissa and Jammu-Kashmir) (EIA (Energy Information Administration), 2004). Even in the United States, it has been estimated to cost utilities billions of dollars each year (Suriyamongkol, 2002). The failure of recipients to pay in full for energy services tends to induce waste and discourage energy efficiency.

## 6.7.4 Regulatory barriers

A range of regulatory barriers has been shown to stand in the way of building-level distributed generation technologies such as PV, reciprocating engines, gas turbines and fuel cells (Alderfer *et al.*, 2000). In many countries, these barriers include variations in environmental permitting requirements, which impose significant burdens on project developers. Similar variations in metering policies cause confusion in the marketplace and represent barriers to distributed generation. Public procurement regulations often inhibit the involvement of ESCOs or the implementation of energy performance contracts. Finally, in some countries the rental market is regulated in a way that discourages investments in general and energy-efficient investments in particular.

## 6.7.5 Small project size, transaction costs and perceived risk

Many energy-efficiency projects and ventures in buildings are too small to attract the attention of investors and financial institutions. Small project size, coupled with disproportionately high transaction costs – these are costs related to verifying technical information, preparing viable projects and negotiating and executing contracts - prevent some energy-efficiency investments. Furthermore, the small share of energy expenditures in the disposable incomes of affluent population groups, and the opportunity costs involved with spending the often limited free time of these groups on finding and implementing the efficient solutions, severely limits the incentives for improved efficiency in the residential sector. Similarly, small enterprises often receive higher returns on their investments into marketing or other business-related activities than investing their resources, including human resources, into energy-related activities. Conservative, asset-based lending practices of financial institutions, a limited understanding of energy-efficiency technologies on the part of both lenders and their consumers, lack of traditions in energy performance contracting, volatile prices for fuel (and in some markets, electricity), and small, non-diversified portfolios of energy projects all increase the perception of market and technology risk (Ostertag, 2003; Westling, 2003; Vine, 2005). As discussed in Section 6.8 below, policies can be adopted that can help reduce these transaction costs, thus improving the economics and financing options for energy-efficiency investments.

#### 6.7.6 Imperfect information

Information about energy-efficiency options is often incomplete, unavailable, expensive and difficult to obtain or trust. In addition, few small enterprises in the building industry have access to sufficient training in new technologies, new standards, new regulations and best practices. This insufficient knowledge is compounded by uncertainties associated with energy price fluctuations (Hassett and Metcalf, 1993). It is particularly difficult to learn about the performance and costs of energy-efficient technologies and practices, because their benefits are often not directly observable. For example, households typically receive an energy bill that provides no breakdown of individual end-uses and no information on GHG emissions, while infrequent meter readings (e.g., once a year, as is typical in many EU countries) provide insufficient feedback to consumers on their energy use and on the potential impact of their efficiency investments. Trading off energy savings against higher purchase prices for many energy-efficient products involves comparing the time-discounted value of the energy savings with the present cost of the equipment -acalculation that can be difficult for purchasers to understand and compute.

# 6.7.7 Culture, behaviour, lifestyle and the rebound effect

Another broad category of barriers stems from the cultural and behavioural characteristics of individuals. The potential impact of lifestyle and tradition on energy use is most easily seen by cross-country comparisons. For example, dishwasher usage was 21% of residential energy use in UK residences in 1998 but 51% in Sweden (European Commission, 2001). Cold water is traditionally used for clothes washing in China (Biermayer and Lin, 2004) whereas hot water washing is common in Europe. Similarly, there are substantial differences among countries in how lighting is used at night, room temperatures considered comfortable, preferred temperatures of food or drink, the operating hours of commercial buildings, the size and composition of households, etc. (IEA, 1997; Chappells and Shove, 2004). Variation across countries in quantity of energy used per capita, which is large both at economy and household levels (IEA, 1997), can be explained only partly by weather and wealth; this is also appropriately attributed to different lifestyles. Even in identical houses with the same number of residents, energy consumption has been shown to differ by a factor of two or more (Socolow, 1978). Studies aimed at understanding these issues suggest that while lifestyle, traditions and culture can act as barriers, retaining and supporting lower-consuming lifestyles may also be effective in constraining GHG emissions (e.g., EEA, 2001).

The 'rebound effect' has often been cited as a barrier to the implementation of energy-efficiency policies. This takes place when increased energy efficiency is accompanied by increased demand for energy services (Moezzi and Diamond, 2005). The literature is divided about the magnitude of this effect (Herring, 2006).

## 6.7.8 Other barriers

Due to space limitations, not all barriers to energy efficiency identified in Table 6.5 can be detailed here. Other important barriers in the buildings sector include the limited availability of capital and limited access to capital markets of low-income households and small businesses, especially in developing countries (Reddy, 1991); limited availability of energy-efficient equipment along the retail chain (Brown et al., 1991); the case of poor power quality in some developing countries interfering with the operation of the electronics needed for energy efficient end-use devices (EAP UNDP, 2000); and the inadequate levels of energy services (e.g., insufficient illumination levels in schools, or unsafe wiring) in many public buildings in developing countries and economies in transition. This latter problem can severely limit the cost-effectiveness of efficiency investments, since a proposed efficiency upgrade must also address these issues, offsetting most or all of the energy and cost savings associated with improved efficiency and in turn make it difficult to secure financing or pay back a loan from energy cost savings.

# 6.8 Policies to promote GHG mitigation in buildings

Preceding sections have demonstrated the high potential for reducing GHG emissions in buildings through cost-effective energy-efficiency measures and distributed (renewable) energy generation technologies. The previous section has demonstrated that even the cost-effective part of the potential is unlikely to be captured by markets alone, due to the high number of barriers. Although there is no quantitative or qualitative evidence in the literature, it is possible that barriers to the implementation of economically attractive GHG reduction measures are the most numerous and strongest in the building sector, especially in households. Since policies can reduce or eliminate barriers and associated transaction costs (Brown, 2001), special efforts targeted at removing the barriers in the buildings sector may be especially warranted for GHG mitigation efforts.

Sections 6.8.1–6.8.5 describe a selection of the major instruments summarized in Table 6.6 that complement the more general discussion of Chapter 13, with a focus on policy tools specific to or specially applied to buildings. The rest of Table 6.6 is discussed in Section 6.8.5.

# 6.8.1 Policies and programmes aimed at building construction, retrofits, and installed equipment and systems

## 6.8.1.1 Building codes

Building regulations originally addressed questions related to safety and the protection of occupants. Oil price shocks in the 1970s led most OECD countries to extend their regulations to include energy efficiency. Nineteen out of twenty OECD countries surveyed have such energy standards and regulations, although coverage varies among countries (OECD, 2003).

Building energy codes may be classified as follows: 1) Overall performance-based codes that require compliance with an annual energy consumption level or energy cost budget, calculated using a standard method. This type of code provides flexibility but requires well-trained professionals for implementation; 2) Prescriptive codes that set separate performance levels for major envelope and equipment components, such as minimum thermal resistance of walls, maximum window heat loss/gain and minimum boiler efficiency. There are also examples of codes addressing electricity demand. Several cantons in Switzerland specify maximum installed electric loads for lighting ventilation and cooling in new commercial buildings (SIA, 2006); and 3) A combination of an overall performance requirement plus some component performance requirements, such as wall insulation and maximum window area.

Energy codes are often considered to be an important driver for improved energy efficiency in new buildings. However, the implementation of these codes in practice needs to be well prepared and to be monitored and verified. Compliance can be difficult to enforce and varies among countries and localities (XENERGY, 2001; City of Fort Collins, 2002; OECD, 2003; Ürge-Vorsatz *et al.*, 2003).

Prescriptive codes are often easier to enforce than performance-based codes (Australian Greenhouse Office, 2000; City of Fort Collins, 2002; Smith and McCullough, 2001). However, there is a clear trend in many countries towards performance-based codes that address the overall energy consumption of the buildings. This trend reflects the fact that performance-based policies allow optimization of integrated design and leave room for the creativity of designers and innovative technologies. However, successful implementation of performance-based codes requires education and training - of both building officials and inspectors - and demonstration projects showing that the building code can be achieved without much additional cost and without technical problems (Joosen, 2006). New software-based design and education tools, including continuous e-learning tools, are examples of tools that can provide good design techniques, continuous learning by professionals, easier inspection methods and virtual testing of new technologies for construction and building systems.

Public policies in many countries are also increasingly addressing energy efficiency in existing buildings. For instance, the EU Commission introduced the Directive on the Energy Performance of Buildings in 2003 (see Box 6.3), which standardized and strengthened building energy-efficiency requirements for all EU Member States. To date, most codes for existing buildings include requirements for minimum levels of performance of the components used to retrofit building elements or installations. In some countries, the codes may even prohibit the use of certain technologies – for example Sweden's prohibition of direct electric resistance heating systems, which has led to the rapid introduction of heat pumps in the last five years. Finally, the EU Directive also mandated regular inspection and maintenance of boilers and space conditioning installations in existing buildings (see Box 6.3).

According to the OECD (2003), there is still much room for further upgrading building energy-efficiency codes throughout the OECD member countries. To remain effective, these codes have to be regularly upgraded as technologies improve and costs of energy-efficient features and equipment decline. Setting flexible (e.g., performance-based) codes can help keep compliance costs low and may provide more incentives for innovation.

## 6.8.1.2 Building certification and labelling systems

The purpose of building labelling and certification is to overcome barriers relating to the lack of information, the high transaction costs, the long lifetime of buildings and the problem of displaced incentives between the builder and buyer, or between the owner and tenant. Certification and labelling schemes can be either mandatory or voluntary.

With the introduction of the EU Directive on the Energy Performance of Buildings (see Box 6.3), building certification is to be instituted throughout Europe. Voluntary certification and/or labelling systems have also been developed for building products such as windows, insulation materials and HVAC components in North America, the EU and a few other countries (McMahon and Wiel, 2001; Menanteau, 2001). The voluntary Energy Star Buildings rating and Energy Star Homes label in the USA and the NF-MI voluntary certificate for houses in France have proven to be effective in ensuring compliance with energy code requirements and sometimes in achieving higher performance levels (Hicks and Von Neida, 1999). Switzerland has developed the 'Minergie' label for new buildings that have a 50% lower energy demand than buildings fulfilling the mandatory requirements; such buildings typically require roughly 6% additional investment costs (OPET Network, 2004). Several local governments in Japan apply the Comprehensive Assessment System for Building Environmental Efficiency (CASBEE) (IBEC, 2006). The Australian city of Canberra (ACT) has a requirement for all houses to be energy-efficiency rated on sale. The impact on the market has been to place a financial value on energy efficiency through a well-informed marketplace (ACT, 2006).

#### 6.8.1.3 Education, training and energy audit programmes

Lack of awareness of energy-savings opportunities among practicing architects, engineers, interior designers and

## Box 6.3: The European Directive on the Energy Performance of Buildings

One of the most advanced and comprehensive pieces of regulation targeted at the improvement of energy efficiency in buildings is the new European Union Directive on the Energy Performance of Buildings (European Commission, 2002). The Directive introduces four major actions. The *first action* is the establishment of 'common methodology for calculating the integrated energy performance of buildings', which may be differentiated at the regional level. The *second action* is to require member states to 'apply the new methods to minimum energy performance standards' for new buildings. The Directive also requires that a non-residential building, when it is renovated, be brought to the level of efficiency of new buildings. This latter requirement is a very important action due to the slow turnover and renovation cycle of buildings, and considering that major renovations to inefficient older buildings may occur several times before they are finally removed from the stock. This represents a pioneer effort in energy-efficiency policy; it is one of the few policies worldwide to target existing buildings. The *third action* is to set up 'certification schemes for new and existing buildings' (both residential and non-residential), and in the case of public buildings to require the public display of energy performance certificates. These certificates are intended to address the landlord/tenant barrier, by facilitating the transfer of information on the relative energy performance of buildings and apartments. Information from the certification process must be made available for new and existing commercial buildings and for dwellings when they are constructed, sold, or rented. *The last action* mandates Member States to establish 'regular inspection and assessment of boilers and heating/cooling installations'.

The European Climate Change Programme (ECCP, 2001) estimated that  $CO_2$  emissions to be tapped by implementation of this directive by 2010 are 35–45 million t $CO_2$ -eq at costs below 20 EUR/t $CO_2$ -eq, which is 16–20% of the total cost-effective potential associated with buildings at these costs in 2010.

professionals in the building industry, including plumbers and electricians, is a major impediment to the construction of low-energy buildings. In part, this reflects inadequate training at universities and technical schools, where the curricula often mirror the fragmentation seen in the building design profession. There is a significant need in most countries to create comprehensive, integrated programmes at universities and other educational establishments to train the future building professional in the design and construction of low-energy buildings. The value of such programmes is significantly enhanced if they have an outreach component to upgrade the skills and knowledge of practicing professionals – for example, by assisting in the use of computer simulation tools as part of the integrated design process.

The education of end-users and raising their awareness about energy-efficiency opportunities is also important. Good explanation (e.g., user-friendly manuals) is often a condition for proper installation and functioning of energy-efficient buildings and components. Since optimal operation and regular maintenance are often as important as the technological efficiency in determining overall energy consumption of equipment, accessible information and awareness raising about these issues during and after purchase are necessary. This need for widespread education is beginning to be reflected in the curricula of some countries: Japan's and Germany's schools increasingly teach the importance of energy savings (ECCJ, 2006; Hamburger-bildungsserver, 2006). Better education is also relevant for professionals such as plumbers and electricians. Incentives for consumers are generally needed along with the information programs to have significant effect (Shipworth, 2000).

Energy audit programmes assist consumers in identifying opportunities for upgrading the energy efficiency of buildings.

Occasionally with financial support from government or utility companies, these programmes may provide trained energy auditors to conduct on-site inspections of buildings, perform most of the calculations for the building owner and offer recommendations for energy-efficiency investments or operational measures, as well as other cost-saving actions (e.g., reducing peak electrical demand, fuel-switching). The implementation of the audit recommendations can be voluntary for the owner, or mandated-such as in the Czech Republic and Bulgaria, which require that installations with energy consumption above a certain limit conduct an energyefficiency audit and implement the low-cost measures (Ürge-Vorsatz et al., 2003). In India, all large commercial buildings have to conduct an energy audit at specified intervals of time (The Energy Conservation Act, 2001). The EU EPB Directive mandates audits and the display of the resulting certificate in an increasing number of situations (see Box 6.3).

## 6.8.2 Policies and programmes aimed at appliances, lighting and office/consumer plug loads

Appliances, equipment (including information and communication technology) and lighting systems in buildings typically have very different characteristics from those of the building shell and installed equipment, including lower investment costs, shorter lifetimes, different ownership characteristics and simpler installation and maintenance. Thus, the barriers to energy-efficient alternatives are also different to some extent, warranting a different policy approach. This section provides an overview of policies specific to appliances, lighting and plug-in equipment.

## Box 6.4: Global efforts to combat unneeded standby and low-power mode consumption in appliances

Standby and low-power-mode (LoPoMo) electricity consumption of appliances is growing dramatically worldwide, while technologies exist that can eliminate or reduce a significant share of related emissions. The IEA (2001) estimated that standby power and LoPoMo waste may account for as much as 1% of global CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and 2.2% of OECD electricity consumption. Lebot *et al.* (2000) estimated that the total standby power consumption in an average household could be reduced by 72%, which would result in emission reductions of 49 million tCO<sub>2</sub> in the OECD. Various instruments – including minimum energy efficiency performance standards (MEPS), labelling, voluntary agreements, quality marks, incentives, tax rebates and energy-efficient procurement policies – are applied globally to reduce the standby consumption in buildings (Commission of the European Communities, 1999), but most of them capture only a small share of this potential. The international expert community has been urging a 1-Watt target (IEA, 2001). In 2002, the Australian government introduced a 'one-watt' plan aimed at reducing the standby power consumption of individual products to less than one watt. To reach this, the National Appliance and Equipment Energy Efficiency Committee has introduced a range of voluntary and mandatory measures to reduce standby – including voluntary labelling, product surveys, MEPS, industry agreements and mandatory labelling (Commonwealth of Australia, 2002). As of mid-2006, the only mandatory standard regarding standby losses in the world has been introduced in California Energy Commission, 2006), although in the USA the Energy Policy Act of 2005 directed the USDOE to evaluate and adopt low standby power standards for battery chargers.

## 6.8.2.1 Standards and labelling

Energy-efficiency performance standards and labels (S&L) for appliances and lighting are increasingly proving to be effective vehicles for transforming markets and stimulating adoption of new, more efficient technologies and products. Since the 1990s, 57 countries have legislated efficiency standards and/or labels, applied to a total of 46 products as of 2004 (Wiel and McMahon, 2005). Today, S&L programmes are among the most cost-effective instruments across the economy to reduce GHG emissions, with typically large negative costs (see Table 6.6). Products subject to standards or labels cover all end-uses and fuel types, with a focus on appliances, information and communications devices, lighting, heating and cooling equipment and other energy-consuming products.

Endorsement and comparison labels<sup>19</sup> induce manufacturers to improve energy efficiency and provide the means to inform consumers of the product's relative or absolute performance and (sometimes) energy operating costs. According to studies evaluating the effectiveness of labels (Thorne and Egan, 2002), those that show the annual energy cost savings appear to be more effective than labels that present life-cycle cost savings. An advantage of a 'categorical' labelling scheme, showing a number of stars or an A-B-C rating, is that it is often easiest for consumers to understand and to transfer their understanding of the categories from one product purchase to others. The categories also provide a useful framework for implementing rebates, tax incentives, or preferential public procurement programmes, while categorical labels on HVAC and other installed equipment make it easy for the building inspector to check for code compliance. A downside of a categorical labelling system can be that if standards are not revised from time to time, there is no stimulus to the manufacturers to develop more efficient appliances and the whole market will be able to deliver appliances fitting the highest efficiency class.

Despite widely divergent approaches, national S&L programmes have resulted in significant cost-effective GHG savings. The US programme of national, mandatory energy-efficiency standards began in 1978. By 2004, the programme had developed (and, in 17 cases, updated) standards for 39 residential and commercial products. The total federal expenditure for implementing the US appliance standards adopted so far (US\$ 2 per household) is estimated to have induced US\$ 1270 per household of net-present-value savings during the lifetimes of the products affected. Projected annual residential carbon reductions in 2020 due to these appliance standards amount roughly to 9% of projected US residential carbon emissions in the 2020 (base case) (Meyers *et al.*, 2002). In addition, the US Energy Star endorsement label programme estimates savings of 13.2 million tCO<sub>2</sub>-eq and US\$ 4.2 billion

in 2004 (US EPA, 2005), and projects that the programme will save 0.7 billion tonnes of CO<sub>2</sub> over the period 2003 to 2010, growing to 1.8 billion tonnes of CO<sub>2</sub> over the period 2003 to 2020, if the market target penetration is reached (Webber et al., 2003). According to the IEA (2003a), GHG abatement through appliance standards and labelling in Europe by 2020 will be achieved at a cost of -65 US\$/tCO2 in North America and -169  $\notin$ /tCO<sub>2</sub> (-191 US\$/tCO<sub>2</sub>) (i.e., both at substantial 'net benefit'). An evaluation of the impact of the EU appliance-labelling scheme showed a dramatic shift in the efficiency of refrigerators sold in the EU in the first decade of its S&L programme, as displayed in Figure 6.5 (Bertoldi, 2000). Japan imposes stringent energy efficiency standards on equipment through its 'Top Runner Programme' by distinctly setting the target values based on the most energy-efficient model on the market at the time of the value-setting process. Energy-efficiency values and a rating mark are voluntarily displayed in promotional materials so that consumers can consider energy-efficiency when purchasing (Murakoshi and Nakagami, 2005).

A recent IEA report (2003a) concludes that, without existing policy measures such as energy labelling, voluntary agreements, and MEPS, electricity consumption in OECD countries in 2020 would be about 12% (393 TWh) higher than is now predicted. The report further concludes that the current policies are on course to produce cumulative *net* cost savings of  $\in$  137 billion (US\$ 155 billion) in OECD-Europe from 1990 to 2020. As large as these benefits are, the report found that much greater benefits could be attained if existing policies were strengthened.

A study of China's energy-efficiency standards (Fridley and Lin, 2004) estimated savings from eight new MEPS and nine energy-efficiency endorsement labels. The study concluded that, during the first 10 years of implementation, these measures will save 200 TWh (equivalent to all of China's residential electricity consumption in 2002) and 250 MtCO<sub>2</sub>. Among other countries, Korea shows similar evidence of the impact of labelling, as does the EU (CLASP, 2006). Recently, Australia transformed its S&L programme in order to aggressively improve energy efficiency (NAEEEC, 2006).

In the past few years, strong regional and global S&L efforts have also emerged, offering a more coordinated pathway to promote S&L and improve the cost-effectiveness and market impact of the programmes. One of these pathways is regional harmonization. The IEA (2003b) identifies several forms of multilateral cooperation, including: 'collaboration' in the design of tests, labels and standards; 'harmonization' of the test procedures and the energy-efficiency thresholds used in labels and standards; and 'coordination' of programme implementation and monitoring efforts. However, while easing certain trade restrictions, harmonization of standards and testing methods

<sup>19</sup> Endorsement labels (or "quality marks") define a group of products as "efficient" when they meet pre-specified criteria, while comparison labels allow buyers to compare the efficiency of products based on factual information about their absolute or relative performance.



**Figure 6.5:** The Impact of the EU Appliance Label (A++ to G, with G being the least efficient) on the Market of Cold Appliances in EU-25. Source: CECED. 2005.

can have the unintended consequence of overcoming cultural and other differences that affect consumer preferences, possibly leading to increased levels of energy consumption (Moezzi and Maithili, 2002; Biermayer and Lin, 2004).

## 6.8.2.2 Voluntary agreements

Voluntary agreements, in which the government and manufacturers agree to a mutually acceptable level of energy use per product, are being used in place of, or in conjunction with, mandatory MEPS to improve the energy efficiency of appliances and equipment. In the European context, this includes a wide range of industry actions such as industry covenants, negotiated agreements, long-term agreements, selfregulation, codes of conduct, benchmarking and monitoring schemes (Rezessy and Bertoldi, 2005). Voluntary measures can cover equipment, building design and operation and public, and private sector energy management policies and practices. Examples include Green Lights in the EU and the Energy Star programmes in the USA, as well as successful EU actions for the reduction of standby losses and efficiency improvement of washing machines and cold appliances. Industry often favours voluntary agreements to avoid the introduction of mandatory standards (Bertoldi, 1999). For the public authorities, voluntary agreements offer a faster approach than mandatory regulation and are often acceptable if they include the following three elements: (i) commitments by those manufacturers accounting for most of the equipment sold, (ii) quantified commitments to significant improvements in the energy efficiencies of the

equipment over a reasonable time scale, and (iii) an effective monitoring scheme (Commission of the European Communities, 1999). Voluntary agreements are considered especially useful in conjunction with other instruments and if mandatory measures are available as a backup or to encourage industry to deliver the targeted savings, such as for the case of cold appliances in the EU (Commission of the European Communities, 1999; Jäger-Waldau, 2004).

## 6.8.3 Cross-cutting policies and programmes that support energy efficiency and/or CO<sub>2</sub> mitigation in buildings

This section reviews a range of policies and programmes that do not focus specifically on either buildings and installed equipment, or on appliances and smaller plug-in devices in buildings, but may support energy efficiency and emissions reductions – including effects across other end-use sectors.

## 6.8.3.1 Utility demand-side management programmes

One of the most successful approaches to achieving energy efficiency in buildings in the USA has been utility-run demandside management (DSM) programmes. However, there are important disincentives that need to be removed or lowered for utilities to be motivated in pursuing DSM programmes. The most important of these difficulties, (i.e., that utilities make profits from selling electricity, not from reducing sales) can be overcome by regulatory changes in which the utility will avoid revenue losses from reduced sales, and in some cases also receive profits from successful execution of DSM programmes.

The major large-scale experience with utility DSM has been in the United States primarily in the west coast and New England, but now spreading to other parts of the country. Spending on DSM was US\$ 1.35 billion in 2003 (York and Kushler, 2005), and since California is more than doubling its expenditure to US\$ 700 million/yr for the next three years, DSM spending in the United States will increase substantially.

These programmes have had a major impact. For the United States as a whole, where DSM investments have been 0.5% of revenues, savings are estimated to be 1.9% of revenues. For California, cumulative annual savings are estimated to be 7.5% of sales, while DSM investment has been less than 2% (1.2% in 2003). Overall, for each of the years 1996 through 2003, DSM has produced average annual savings of about 33.5 MtCO<sub>2</sub>-eq annually for the USA, an annual net savings of more than US\$ 3.7 billion (York and Kushler, 2005).

There are numerous opportunities to expand utility DSM programmes: in the United States, by having other states catch up with the leaders (especially California at present), much more so in Europe and other OECD countries, which have little experience with such programmes offered by utilities, and over time in developing countries, as well.

# 6.8.3.2 Energy prices, pricing schemes, energy price subsidies and taxes

Market-based energy pricing and energy taxes represent a broad measure for saving energy in buildings. The effect of energy taxes depends on energy price elasticity, that is the percent change in energy demand associated with each 1% change in price. In general, residential energy price elasticities are low in the richest countries. In the UK, long-run price elasticity for the household sector is only -0.19 (Eyre, 1998), in the Netherlands -0.25 (Jeeninga and Boots, 2001) and in Texas only -0.08 (Bernstein and Griffin, 2005). However, if energy expenditures reach a significant proportion of disposable incomes, as in many developing countries and economies in transition, elasticities - and therefore the expected impact of taxes and subsidy removal - may be higher, although literature is sparse on the subject. In Indonesia, price elasticity was -0.57in the period from 1973 to 1990 and in Pakistan -0.33 (De Vita et al., 2006). Low elasticity means that taxes on their own have little impact; it is behavioural and structural barriers that need to be addressed (Carbon Trust, 2005). To have a significant impact on  $CO_2$  emission reduction, excise taxes have to be substantial. This is only the case in a few countries (Figure 6.6): the share of excise tax compared to total fuel price differs considerably by country.



#### Figure 6.6: Electricity and gas prices and taxes for households in 2004

Notes: Total price is listed when no breakdown available to show taxes; total taxes are provided when no breakdown on excise and VAT (GST). Country name abbreviations (according to the ISO codes except Chinese Taipei): DK – Denmark, JP – Japan, CH – Switzerland, FR – France, GB – United Kingdom, HU – Hungary, TR – Turkey, PO – Poland, NZ – New Zealand, AU - Australia, MX – Mexico, US – United States of America, KR – South Korea, CT – Chinese Taipei, CA – Canada, ZA – South Africa\*, KZ – Kazakhstan, RU – Russia. \* South Africa data is for 2003.

Sources: IEA, 2006a; RAO, 2006.

In stark contrast to imposing energy taxes, energy prices are *subsidized* in many countries. This results in under-pricing of energy, which reduces the incentive to use it more efficiently. Energy subsidies are also typically much larger, per GJ, in developing and transition countries than in most industrial economies (Markandya, 2000). The total value of energy subsidies of eight of the largest non-OECD countries (China, Russia, India, Indonesia, Iran, South Africa, Venezuela and Kazakhstan), covering almost 60% of total non-OECD energy demand, was around US\$ 95 billion in 1998 (UNEP OECD/IEA, 2002). In 1999, the IEA estimated that removing the energy subsidies in those eight countries would reduce primary energy use by 13%, lower  $CO_2$  emissions by 16% and raise GDP by almost 1%.

While it may be economically and environmentally desirable, it is a socially sensitive task to remove end-user subsidies, especially in the residential sector. Since the bulk of these subsidies are found in countries with low incomes and high fuel-poverty rates, their removal can cause a substantial financial burden for families and even institutions. This, in turn, can lead to bankruptcy, increased payment arrears, energy theft and generally increased social tensions (ERRA/LGI, 2002; Ürge-Vorsatz et al., 2003), ultimately leading to disincentives to improve efficiency. Therefore, a drastic subsidy removal is often accompanied by social compensation programmes. One potentially important form of alternative compensation – although not frequently used to date - is assistance to low-income households to invest in energy-saving measures that reduce fuel costs and GHG emissions in the long term as opposed to direct cash assistance providing short-term relief (ERRA/LGI, 2002). For a number of years, the US government has provided 1.5–2.0 billion US\$/yr to help low-income households pay their energy bills (LIHEAP, 2005), and smaller amounts budgeted for grants to 'weatherize' many of these same households with efficiency measures that help to permanently reduce monthly fuel and electricity bills (Schweitzer and Berry, 1999).

Some forms of energy subsidies can have positive energy and environmental effects. For example, subsidies on oil products and electricity in developing countries reduce deforestation and also reduce indoor pollution as poor, rural households switch away from traditional energy sources, such as wood, straw, crop residues and dung. These positive effects, however, can be better achieved through other means – e.g., the introduction of safe and efficient cookers and heaters utilizing these renewable sources. The challenge is to design and reform energy subsidies so they favour the efficient and environmentally sound use of energy systems (UNEP OECD/IEA, 2002)

## 6.8.3.3 Investment subsidies, financial incentives and other fiscal measures

As noted in Section 6.5.5, applying an integrated design process (IDP) can result in buildings that use 35–70% less energy than conventional designs, at little or no additional capital

cost, but with a potential increase in the design cost. Providing financial incentives for the design process rather than financial incentives for the capital cost of the building is an approach used in several regions, such as by Canada in its Commercial Building Incentive Program (Larsson, 2001), by California in its Savings By Design programme and in Germany under the *SolarBau* programme (Reinhart *et al.*, 2000).

Going beyond IDP, other measures - particularly those that include renewable energy options - entail significant added capital costs. Many developed countries offer incentives for such measures (IEA, 2004f). Types of financial support include subsidies, tax reduction (or tax credit) schemes and preferential loans or funds, with investment subsidies being the most frequently used (IEA, 2004f). Capital subsidy programmes and tax exemption schemes for both new construction and existing buildings have been introduced in nine OECD countries out of 20 surveyed (OECD, 2003). Several countries (USA, France, Belgium, UK and the Netherlands) combine their financial incentive policy for the existing building stock with social policy to assist low-income households (IEA, 2004a; VROM, 2006; USDOE, 2006). Increasingly, eligibility requirements for financial support are tied to CO<sub>2</sub> emission reduction (IEA, 2004a; KfW Group, 2006). Within the Energy Star Homes programme in the USA, houses that meet the energy-efficiency standard are eligible for a special mortgage (Nevin and Watson, 1998; Energystar, 2006). Financial incentives for the purchase of energy-efficient appliances are in place in some countries, including Mexico, the USA, Belgium, Japan and Greece (Boardman, 2004; IEA, 2004f). Incentives also encourage connection to district heating in Austria, Denmark and Italy.

There has been limited assessment of the efficiency of these schemes. The cost-effectiveness of subsidy-type schemes can vary widely, depending on programme design. Joosen *et al.* (2004) have estimated that subsidy programmes for residential buildings cost Dutch society 32–105 US\$/tCO<sub>2</sub>, whereas this range for the commercial sector was between 64 and 123 US\$/tCO<sub>2</sub>. A variety of financial incentives available simultaneously may make the decision process difficult; simplicity of the schemes might be an asset (Barnerjee and Solomon, 2003). A combination of government financial incentives than a government-subsidized loan, as may combining building rating or labelling with a loan-especially when the labelling scheme has public approval.

# 6.8.3.4 Public sector leadership programmes and public procurement policies

Government agencies, and ultimately taxpayers, are responsible for a wide range of energy-consuming facilities and services such as government office buildings, schools and health care facilities. The government itself is often a country's largest consumer of energy and largest buyer of energy-using equipment. The US federal government spends over US\$ 10 billion/yr for energy-using equipment (Harris and Johnson, 2000). Government policies and actions can thus contribute, both directly and indirectly, to energy savings and associated GHG reductions (Van Wie McGrory *et al.*, 2002). A recent study for several EU countries (Borg *et al.*, 2003) found a potential for direct energy savings of 20% or more in EU government facilities and operations. According to the USDOE's Federal Energy Management Program (FEMP), average energy intensity (site energy per square meter) in federal buildings has been reduced by about 25% since 1985, while average energy intensity in US commercial buildings has stayed roughly constant (USDOE/EERE, 2005; USDOE/FEMP, 2005).

Indirect beneficial impacts occur when Governments act effectively as market leaders. First, government buying power can create or expand demand for energy-efficient products and services. Second, visible government energy-saving actions can serve as an example for others. Public sector energy efficiency programmes fall into five categories (Harris *et al.*, 2005): (i) Policies and targets (energy/cost savings;  $CO_2$  reductions); (ii) Public buildings (energy-saving retrofit and operation of existing facilities, as well as sustainability in new construction), (iii) Energy-efficient government procurement; (iv) Efficiency and renewable energy use in public infrastructure (transit, roads, water and other public services); and (v) Information, training, incentives and recognition of leadership by agencies and individuals. The following paragraphs provide selected examples.

The EU Directive on Energy Performance of Buildings discussed above and in Box 6.3, includes special requirements for public building certification. UK policy requires all new and refurbished government buildings to be rated under the British Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method (BREEAM), which includes credits for energy efficiency and reduced CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. New government buildings must achieve a BREEAM rating of 'Excellent,' while major refurbishments require a 'Good' rating (UK/DEFRA, 2004). In the USA, a recent law requires new federal buildings to be designed 30% better for energy performance than that required by current commercial and residential building codes (U.S. Congress, 2005).

Energy-efficient government purchasing and public procurement can be powerful market tools. (Borg *et al.*, 2003; Harris *et al.*, 2004). Energy-efficient government procurement policies are in place in several EU countries, as well as in Japan, Korea, Mexico, China and the USA (Harris *et al.*, 2005). In the USA, in 2005, Congress passed a law mandating that all federal agencies specify and buy efficient products that qualify for the Energy Star label, or (in cases where that label does not apply) products designated by USDOE/FEMP as being among the top 25<sup>th</sup> percentile of efficient products (US Congress, 2005). Federal purchasing policies are expected to save 1.1 million tonnes  $CO_2$ -eq and US\$ 224 million/yr in 2010 (Harris and Johnson, 2000).

Public procurement policies can have their greatest impact on the market when they are based on widely harmonized energyefficiency specifications that can send a strong market signal to manufacturers and suppliers (Borg *et al.*, 2003). If US agencies at all levels of government adopt the federal efficiency criteria for their own purchases, estimated annual electricity savings in the USA would be 10.8 million tonnes CO<sub>2</sub>-eq, allowing for at least one billion US\$/yr savings on public energy bills (Harris and Johnson, 2000).

## 6.8.3.5 Promotion of energy service companies (ESCOs) and energy performance contracting (EPC)

While not a 'policy instrument', ESCOs have become favoured vehicles to deliver energy-efficiency improvements and are promoted by a number of policies. An ESCO is a company that offers energy services, such as energy analysis and audits, energy management, project design and implementation, maintenance and operation, monitoring and evaluation of savings, property/facility management, energy and/or equipment supply and provision of energy services (e.g., space heating, lighting). ESCOs guarantee the energy savings and/or the provision of a specified level of energy service at lower cost by taking responsibility for energy-efficiency investments or/ and improved maintenance and operation of the facility. This is typically executed legally through an arrangement called 'energy performance contracting' (EPC). In many cases, the ESCO's compensation is directly tied to the energy savings achieved. ESCOs can also directly provide or arrange for project financing, or assist with financing by providing an energy (cost) savings guarantee for their projects. Finally, ESCOs often retain an ongoing operational role, provide training to on-site personnel, and take responsibility for measuring and verifying the savings over the term of the project loan.

In 2006, the US ESCO market is considered the most advanced in the world (Goldman et al., 2005), with revenues reaching about US\$ 2 billion in 2002 (Lin and Deng, 2004). Most US ESCO activity (approximately 75%) is in the public sector. The market for energy-efficiency services in Western Europe was estimated to be € 150 million/yr in 2000, while the market potential was estimated at € 5–10 billion/yr (Butson, 1998; Bertoldi and Starter, 2003). Germany and Austria are the ESCO leaders in Europe, with street-lighting projects among the most common demand-side EPC projects, and public buildings the most targeted sector (Bertoldi et al., 2005; Rezessy et al., 2005). Between 1998 and 2003, 600-700 public buildings were renovated in Austria using energy performance contracting by ESCOs. Austria is now using EPCs to renovate 50% of the total floor area of federal buildings (Leutgöb, 2003). In Germany, more than 200 EPCs have been signed since the mid-1990s, primarily for public buildings (Seefeldt, 2003). In Japan, the ESCO market is growing quickly, with a focus on the commercial and public sectors (office buildings and hospitals) (Murakoshi and Nakagami, 2003). In India and Mexico, ESCOs also have targeted at least 50% of their activity in the public and commercial sectors (Vine, 2005). Most ESCOs do not target the residential sector, although exceptions exist (e.g., in Nepal and South Africa).

ESCOs greatly facilitate the access of building owners and operators to technical expertise and innovative project financing. They can play a central role in improving energy efficiency without burdening public budgets and regulatory intervention to markets. However, the ESCO industry does not always develop on its own and policies and initiatives may be necessary to kick-start the market. The commitment of federal and municipal authorities to use ESCOs for their energy-efficiency projects, along with supportive policies and public-private partnerships has been crucial in countries such as Germany and Austria (Brand and Geissler, 2003). In some cases, obligations imposed on electricity companies have fostered the development of ESCO activities, as in the case of Brazil, where power utilities are required to invest 1% of their net operating revenues in energy efficiency.

## 6.8.3.6 Energy-efficiency obligations and tradable energyefficiency certificates

Recognising that traditional energy policy tools have not achieved the magnitude of carbon savings needed to meet climate stabilization targets, a few new innovative instruments are being introduced or planned in a number of countries. Among them are the so-called 'white certificates', a cap-and-trade scheme (or, in some cases, an obligation without the trading element) applied to achieve energy efficiency improvements. The basic principle is an obligation for some category of economic actors (e.g., utility companies, product manufacturers or distributors and large consumers) to meet specified energy savings or programmedelivery goals, potentially coupled with a trading system based on verified and certified savings achieved (or expected) for energy-efficiency measures (the 'white' certificate) (ECEEE, 2004; Oikonomou et al., 2004). Energy efficiency obligation programmes without certificate trading have been operating in the UK since 1994 and in Flanders (Belgium) since 2003; white certificate schemes with a trading element were in place in 2006 in Italy, France and New South Wales. Other European countries have announced their intention to introduce similar schemes.

Capturing the desired benefit of certificate trading schemes – that is minimising the costs of meeting energy savings goals – depends on the liquidity of the market. There is a tradeoff between liquidity, crucial to minimizing the costs, and manageability and transaction costs. Where transaction costs turn out to be very high, a simple energy savings obligation for electricity and gas distributors, without the complication of trading, may be a better way to deliver the desired outcome (Bertoldi and Rezessy, 2006). Since the first white certificate schemes are just starting, it remains to be seen whether this policy instrument will deliver the expected level of savings and at what cost. In the UK, the Energy Efficiency Commitment (EEC) requires that all large gas and electricity suppliers deliver a certain quantity of energy savings by assisting customers to take energy-efficiency actions in their homes. The delivered overall savings of the first phase, 87 TWh, largely exceeded the target of 65 TWh and the target has since been increased to 130.2 TWh (Lees, 2006).

#### 6.8.3.7 The Kyoto Protocol's Flexibility Mechanisms

The flexibility mechanisms of the Kyoto Protocol (KP), especially the clean development mechanism (CDM) and joint implementation (JI), could offer major benefits for buildings in developing countries and economies in transition, in terms of financing, transfer of advanced technologies and knowhow, building of local capacity and demonstration effects (Woerdman, 2000; Grubb et al., 2002). Buildings should be prime targets for project-based mechanisms due to the variety and magnitude of cost-effective potentials (see section 6.5). For instance, Trexler and Associates (Margaree Consultants, 2003) estimated that building and appliance efficiency accounts for 32% of total potential in CDM in 2010 under 0 US\$/tCO2 and 20% under 20 US\$/tCO2. However, evidence until 2006 shows that little of this potential is expected to be unlocked during the first commitment period (Novikova et al., 2006). After initial enthusiasm in the activities implemented jointly (AIJ) phase, where 18 out of 156 registered projects were targeted to buildings, JI and CDM experience to date suggests that this pilot phase brought disappointment in building-related projects. As of February 2006, only four CDM projects out of 149 projects registered or seeking validation were for buildings, and none of the 152 approved and submitted JI projects was due to invest in buildings (Novikova et al., 2006).

While it is too early to conclude that the Kyoto Protocols's project-based mechanisms do not work well for buildings, there are no indications that this trend will reverse. A number of barriers prevent these mechanisms from fully mobilizing their benefits for buildings (Tangen and Heggelund, 2003; ECON Analysis, 2005). Chief among these is the proportionately high transaction costs due to the relatively small size of building-related projects: although these costs are around 100 €/tCO<sub>2</sub> (124 US\$/tCO<sub>2</sub>) for building-related projects, they amount only to 0.1 €/tCO<sub>2</sub> (0.12 US\$/tCO<sub>2</sub>) for very large-scale projects (Michaelowa and Jotzo, 2005). While a few hypothetical solutions have been suggested to overcome the barriers (Novikova et al., 2006), their implementation is uncertain. Another major chance opens for buildings in former communist countries with large emission surpluses through Green Investment Schemes, or the 'greening' of these surplus emission units, if they are constructed to accommodate small-scale energy-efficiency investments better than CDM or JI, potentially delivering over a billion tonnes of real CO2 reductions.

In summary, if the KP is here to stay, the architecture of the flexible mechanisms could be revisited to address these shortcomings, so that the major opportunities from buildings in developing countries and EITs do not stay unutilised. A potential criterion for appraising climate regimes – in terms of their success in leveraging lowest costs mitigation options, as well as in meeting sustainable development goals – could be their success in promoting buildings-level investments in developing countries and economies in transition, reflecting their recognized importance in minimized-cost global emission mitigation efforts.

## 6.8.3.8 Technology research, development, demonstration and deployment (RD&D)

Section 6.4 attested that there is already a broad array of accessible and cost-effective technologies and know-how that can abate GHG emissions in existing and new buildings to a significant extent that have not been widely adopted yet. At the same time, several recently developed technologies, including high performance windows, active glazing, vacuum insulated panels, phase change materials to increase building thermal mass, high performance reversible heat pumps and many other technologies may be combined with integrated passive solar design and result in up to 80% reduction of building energy consumption and GHG emissions. Large-scale GHG reduction in buildings requires fast and large-scale dissemination and transfer in many countries, including efficient and continuous training of professionals in the integrated approach to design and optimized use of combinations of technologies. Integrated intelligent building control systems, building- or communitylevel renewable energy generation, heat and coldness networks, coupled to building renewable energy capture components and intelligent management of the local energy market need more research, development and demonstration, and could develop significantly in the next two decades.

Between 1996 and 2003 the annual worldwide RD&D budget for energy efficiency in buildings has been approximately US\$ 225–280 million/yr (IEA, 2004d). The USA has been the leading country in energy research and development for buildings for over a decade. Despite the decline in US funds by 2/3<sup>rd</sup> between 1993 and 2003, down from a peak of US\$ 180 million, the USA is still responsible for half of the total global expenditures (IEA, 2004d). Substantial buildings-related energy-efficiency RD&D is also sponsored in Japan (15% of global expenditure).

The overall share of energy-efficiency in total energy RD&D expenditure is low, especially compared to its envisioned role in global GHG mitigation needs. In the period from 2001 to 2005 on average only 14% of all energy RD&D expenditure in IEA countries has been designated for energy-efficiency improvement (IEA, 2006c), whereas its contribution to  $CO_2$  emission reduction needs by 2050 is 45% according to the most commonly used 'Map' scenario of the IEA (2006d). The share dedicated to energy efficiency improvements in buildings was only 3%, in stark contrast with their 18% projected role in

the envisioned necessary 32 Gt global  $CO_2$  reduction by 2050 (IEA, 2006d).

## 6.8.4 Policies affecting non-CO<sub>2</sub> gases

In the buildings sector, non-CO<sub>2</sub> greenhouse gases (halocarbons) are used as the working fluid in most vapourcompression cooling equipment, and as a blowing agent in some insulation foams including polyurethane spray foam. Background in this report is in Section 6.4.15, which is in turn a brief summary of IPCC/TEAP (2005).

# 6.8.4.1 Stationary refrigeration, air conditioning and heat pump applications

A number of countries have established legislative and voluntary regimes to control emissions and use of fluorinated gases. In Europe, a number of countries have existing policies that aim at reducing leakage or discouraging the use of refrigerants containing fluorine. Regulations in the Netherlands minimize leakage rates through improved maintenance and regular inspection. Substantial taxes for refrigerants containing fluorine are levied in Scandinavian countries, and legislation in Luxembourg requires all new large cooling systems to use natural refrigerants (Harmelink et al., 2005). Some countries such as Denmark and Austria have banned the use of HFCs in selected air conditioning and refrigeration applications. In 2006 the EU Regulation 842/2006 entered into force, which requires that all medium and large stationary air conditioning applications in the EU will use certified and trained service personnel, and assures recovery of refrigerants at the end-oflife (Harmelink et al., 2005).

In the USA, it has been illegal under the Clean Air Act since 1995, to vent substitutes for CFC and HCFC refrigerants during maintenance, repair and disposal of air conditioning and refrigeration equipment (US EPA, 2006). Japan, has established a target to limit HFC, PFC and SF6 emissions. Measures to meet this target include voluntary action plans by industries, mandatory recovery systems for HFCs used as refrigerants (since April 2002) and the research and development of alternatives (UNFCCC, 2006). Australia has developed an Ozone Protection and Synthetic Greenhouse Gas Management Act. Measures include supply controls though the licensing of importers, exporters and manufacturers of fluorinated gases and pre-charged refrigeration and air conditioning equipment; end-use regulations on handling, use, recovery, sale and reporting are in place (Australian Government, 2006). Canada has established a National Action Plan for the Environmental Control of ODS and their Halocarbon Alternatives (NAP). This ensures that HFCs are only used in applications where they replace ODS and requires recovery, recycling and reclamation for CFCs, HCFCs and HFCs (Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment, 2001).

# 6.8.4.2 Insulating foams and SF<sub>6</sub> in sound-insulating glazing

Within the European Union, Denmark and Austria have introduced legislation to ban the use of HFC for the production of several foam types (Cheminfo, 2004). Since 2006 the EU Regulation 842/2006 on certain Fluorinated Gases limits emissions and certain uses of fluorinated gases (European Commission, 2006), banning the use of HFCs in One-Component Foam from 2008, except where required to meet national safety standards. Japan has established a target to limit HFC, PFC and SF6 emissions. Measures to meet this target include voluntary action plans by industries, improved containment during the production process, less blowing agent per product, improved productivity per product and the use of non-fluorocarbon low GWP alternatives. Australia has developed an act for industries covered by the Montreal Protocol and extended voluntary arrangements for non-Montreal Protocol industries. Measures include supply controls though the licensing of importers, exporters and manufacturers of HFCs.

Although there are no international proposals to phase out the use of HFCs in foams, the high costs of HFCs have naturally contributed to the minimization of their use in formulations (often by use with co-blowing agents) and by early replacement by alternative technologies based primarily on  $CO_2$ , water or hydrocarbons (e.g. pentane). There is more regulatory uncertainty at regional level and in Japan some pressure exists to stop HFC-use in the foam sector. In Europe, the recently published F-Gas regulation (European Commission, 2006) only impacts the use of HFCs in one component foam (OCF) which is used primarily for gap filling in the construction sector. However, there is a requirement to put in place provisions for recovery of blowing agent at end-of-life where such provisions are technically feasible and do not entail disproportionate cost.

## 6.8.5 Policy options for GHG abatement in buildings: summary and conclusion

Section 6.8 demonstrates that there is a variety of government policies, programmes, and market mechanisms in many countries for successfully reducing energy-related  $CO_2$  emissions in buildings (*high agreement, medium evidence*). Table 6.6 (below) reviews 20 of the most important policy tools used in buildings according to two criteria from the list of criteria suggested in Chapter 13 (of the ones for which literature was available in policy evaluations): emission reduction effectiveness and cost-effectiveness. Sixty-six ex post (with a few exceptions) policy evaluation studies were identified from over 30 countries and country groups that served as a basis for the assessment.

The first column in Table 6.6 identifies the key policy instruments grouped by four major categories using a typology synthesized from several sources including Grubb (1991); Crossley et al. (2000) and Verbruggen and Bongaerts (2003): (i) control and regulatory mechanisms, (ii) economic and marketbased instruments, (iii) financial instruments and incentives, and (iv) support and information programmes and voluntary action. The second column identifies a selection of countries where the policy instrument is applied<sup>20</sup>. Then, the effectiveness in achieving CO<sub>2</sub> reduction and cost-effectiveness were rated qualitatively based on available literature as well as quantitatively based on one or more selected case studies. Since any instrument can perform poorly if not designed carefully, or if its implementation and enforcement are compromised, the qualitative and quantitative comparisons are based on identified best practices, in order to demonstrate what impact an instrument can achieve if applied well. Finally, the table lists special conditions for success, major strengths and limitations, and co-benefits.

While the 66 studies represent the majority of such evaluations available in the public domain in 2006, this sample still leaves few studies in certain categories. Therefore, the comparative findings of this assessment should be viewed as indicative rather than conclusive. Although a general caveat of comparative policy assessments is that policies act as parts of portfolios and therefore the impact of an individual instrument is difficult to delineate from those of other tools, this concern affects the assessment to a limited extent since the literature used already completed this disaggregation before evaluating individual instruments.

All the instruments reviewed can achieve significant energy and  $CO_2$  savings; however the costs per tonne of  $CO_2$  saved diverge greatly. In our sample, appliance standard, building code, labelling and tax exemption policies achieved the highest CO<sub>2</sub> emission reductions. Appliance standards, energy efficiency obligations, demand-side management programmes, public benefit charges and mandatory labelling were among the most cost-effective policy tools in the sample, all achieving significant energy savings at negative costs. Investment subsidies (as opposed to rebates for purchases of energy efficient appliances) were revealed as the least cost-effective instrument. Tax reductions for investments in energy efficiency appeared more effective than taxation. Labelling and voluntary programmes can lead to large savings at low-costs if they are combined with other policy instruments. Finally, information programmes can also achieve significant savings and effectively accompany most other policy measures.

<sup>20</sup> Since we made a strong effort to highlight best practices from developing countries where possible, major front-running developed countries where the instrument is applied may not be listed in each applicable row of the table.

432

References		IEA, 2005; Schlomann <i>et al.</i> 2001; Gillingham <i>et al.</i> , 2004; ECS, 2002; World Energy Council, 2004; Australian Greenhouse Office, 2005; IEA 2003a; Fridley and Lin, 2004.	World Energy Council, 2001; Lee & Yik, 2004; Schaefer <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Joosen <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Geller <i>et al.</i> , 2006; ECCP, 2001.	Borg <i>et al.</i> , 2003; Harris <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Van Wie McGrory <i>et al.</i> , 2006.	World Energy Council, 2001; OPET network, 2004; Holt & Harrington, 2003.	UK government, 2006; Sorell, 2003; Lees, 2006; Collys, 2005; Bertoldi & Rezessy, 2006; Defra, 2006.	IEA, 2005; Kushler <i>et al.</i> , 2004.		ECCP, 2003; OPET network, 2004; Singer, 2002; IEA, 2003a; World Energy Council, 2004; Goldman <i>et al.</i> , 2005.
Special conditions for success, major strengths and limitations, co-benefits		Factors for success: periodical update of standards, independent control, information, communication and education.	No incentive to improve beyond target. Only effective if enforced.	Success factors: enabling legislation, energy efficiency labelling & testing, ambitious energy efficiency specifications.	Effectiveness can be boosted by combination with other instrument and regular updates.	Continuous improvements necessary: new energy efficiency measures, short-term incentives to transform markets etc.	DSM programmes for commercial sector tend to be more cost- effective than those for residences.		Strength: no need for public spending or market intervention, co-benefit of improved competitiveness.
Cost of GHG emission reduction for selected best practices <sup>c</sup>		AU: -15 \$/tCO <sub>2</sub> in 2012; US: -65 \$/tCO <sub>2</sub> in 2020; EU: -194 \$/tCO <sub>2</sub> in 2020.	NL: from -189 \$/tCO <sub>2</sub> to -5 \$/tCO <sub>2</sub> for end- users, for society.	MX: \$1Million in purchases saves \$726,000/yr; EU: <21 \$/tCO <sub>2</sub> .	AU: -30 \$/tCO <sub>2</sub> abated.	Flanders: -216 \$/tCO2 for households, -60 \$/tCO2 for other sector in 2003; GB: -139 \$/tCO2.	US: Average costs approx. -35 \$/tCO <sub>2</sub> .		EU: mostly at no cost, rest at <22 \$/tCO2; US: Public sector: B/C ratio 1.6, Priv. sector: 2.1
Cost- effectiveness		High	Medium	Medium	High	High	High		Medium
Energy or emission reductions for selected best practices		JP: 31 M tCO <sub>2</sub> in 2010; CN: 240 MtCO <sub>2</sub> in 10 yrs; US: 2.5% of electricity use in 2000 = 65 MtCO <sub>2</sub> , 6.5% = 223.87 MtCO <sub>2</sub> in 2010.	HK: 1% of total electricity saved; US: 79.6 MtCO <sub>2</sub> in 2000; EU: 35–45 MtCO <sub>2</sub> , max 60% energy savings in new buildings.	MX: 4 citries saved 3.3 ktCO <sub>2</sub> -eq in one year; CN: 3.6 MtCO <sub>2</sub> expected; EU: 20-44 MtCO <sub>2</sub> potential.	AU: 5 M tCO <sub>2</sub> savings 1992–2000; DK: 3.568 MtCO <sub>2</sub> .	GB: 1.4 MtCO <sub>2</sub> /yr.	US: 36.7 MtCO <sub>2</sub> in 2000.		FR, SE, US, FI: 20–40% of buildings energy saved; EU:40–55MtCO <sub>2</sub> by 2010; US: 3.2 MtCO <sub>2</sub> /yr.
Effectiveness <sup>b</sup>	ns	High	High	High	High	High	High	ruments	High
Examples of countries	ry mechanisr	EU, US, JP, AU, BR, CN	SG, PH, DZ, EG, US, GB, CN, EU	US, EU, CN, MX, KR, JP	US, CA, AU, JP, MX, CN, CR, EU	gb, be, Fr, it, DK, ie	US, CH, DK, NL, DE, AT	et-based inst	DE, AT, FR, SE, FI, US, JP, HU
Policy instrument <sup>a</sup>	Control and regulato	Appliance standards	Building codes	Procurement regulations	Mandatory labelling and certification programmes	Energy efficiency obligations and quotas	Utility demand- side management programmes	Economic and mark	Energy performance contracting

~
2
3
ē
ti.
2
0
S
6
ġ
-
Å
9
La I

Policy instrument <sup>a</sup>	Examples of countries	Effectiveness <sup>b</sup>	Energy or emission reductions for selected best practices	Cost- effectiveness	Cost of GHG emission reduction for selected best practices <sup>c</sup>	Special conditions for success, major strengths and imitations, co-benefits	References
Co-operative procurement	DE, IT, GB, SE, AT, IE, JP, PO, SK, CH	High	Varies, German telecom company: up to 60% energy savings for specific units.	High	0: Energy- efficient purchasing relies on funds that would have been spent anyway.	Success condition: energy efficiency needs to be prioritized in purchasing decisions.	Oak Ridge National Laboratory, 2001; Le Fur 2002; Borg <i>et al.</i> , 2003.
Energy efficiency certificate schemes	IT, FR	Medium	IT: 3.64 Mt CO <sub>2</sub> eq by 2009 expected.	Medium	л.а.	No long-term experience yet. Transaction costs can be high. Monitoring and verification crucial. Benefits for employment.	OPET network, 2004; Bertoldi & Rezessy, 2006; Lees, 2006; Defra, 2006.
Kyoto Protocol flexible mechanisms <sup>d</sup>	CN, TH, CEE (JI & AIJ)	Low	CEE: 220 K tCO <sub>2</sub> in 2000.	Low	63 \$/tCO <sub>2</sub> .	So far limited number of CDM & Jl projects in buildings.	ECS, 2005; Novikova. <i>et al.</i> , 2006.
Financial instruments	and incentiv	/es					
Taxation (on CO <sub>2</sub> or household fuels)	NO, DE, GB, NL, DK, CH	Low	DE: household consumption reduced by 0.9%.	Low		Effect depends on price elasticity. Revenues can be earmarked for further efficiency. More effective when combined with other tools.	World Energy Council, 2001; Kohlhaas, 2005.
Tax exemptions / reductions	US, FR, NL, KO	High	US: 88 MtCO <sub>2</sub> in 2006.	High	Overall B/C ratio - Commercial buildings: 5.4 - New homes: 1.6.	If properly structured, stimulate introduction of highly efficient equipment and new buildings.	Quinlan <i>et al.</i> , 2001; Geller & Attali, 2005.
Public benefit charges	BE, DK, FR, NL, US states	Medium/ low	US: 0.1-0.8% of total electricity sales saved /yr, average of 0.4%.	high in reported cases	From -53 US\$/ tCO <sub>2</sub> to -17 \$/tCO <sub>2</sub> .		Western Regional Air Partnership, 2000; Kushler e <i>t al.</i> , 2004.
Capital subsidies, grants, subsidized loans	JP, SI, NL, DE, CH, US, HK, GB	High	SI: up to 24% energy savings for buildings, GB: 3.3 MtCO <sub>2</sub> ; US:29.1 Mio BTU/yr gas savings.	Low	NL: 41–105 US\$/ tCO <sub>2</sub> for soc; GB:29 US\$/tCO <sub>2</sub> for soc, –66 \$/tCO <sub>2</sub> for end- user.	Positive for low-income households, risk of free-riders, may induce pioneering investments.	ECS, 2001; Martin <i>et al.</i> , 1998; Schaefer <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Geller <i>et al.</i> , 2006; Berry & Schweitzer, 2003; Joosen <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Shorrock, 2001.
Support, information.	and volunta	y action					
Voluntary certification and labelling	DE, CH, US, TH, BR, FR	Medium/ high	BR: $169.6 \text{ ktCO}_2$ in $1998$ , US: $13.2 \text{ MtCO}_2$ in $2004$ , 2.1 bio $tCO_2$ -eq in total by 2010; TH: $192 \text{ tCO}_2$ .	High	BR: US\$ 20 million saved.	Effective with financial incentives, voluntary agreements and regulations.	OPET network, 2004; Word Energy Council, 2001; Geller <i>et al.</i> , 2006; Egan <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Webber <i>et al.</i> , 2003.

434

Policy instrument <sup>a</sup>			Energy or emission reductions for selected best practices	Cost- effectiveness	Cost of GHG emission reduction for selected best practices <sup>◦</sup>	Special conditions for success, major strengths and limitations, co-benefits	References
Voluntary and negotiated agreements	Mainly Western JP, US	Medium/ High	US: 88 MtCO <sub>2</sub> -eq/yr UK: 15.8 MtCO <sub>2</sub>	Medium	GB: 54.5–104 US\$/tCO <sub>2</sub> (Climate Change Agreements).	Can be effective when regulations are difficult to enforce. Effective if combined with financial incentives and threat of regulation.	Geller <i>et al.</i> , 2006; Cottrell, 2004.
Public leadership programmes	NZ, MX, PH, AR, BR, EC	High	De: 25% public sector CO <sub>2</sub> reduction over 15 years.	High	US DOE/FEMP estimates 4 US\$ savings for every 1 US\$ of public funds invested.	Can be used to demonstrate new technologies and practices. Mandatory programmes have higher potential than voluntary ones.	Borg <i>et al.</i> , 2003; Harris <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Van Wie McGrory <i>et al.</i> , 2006; OPET, 2004.
Awareness raising, education / information campaigns	DK, US, GB, CA, BR, JP	Low/ Medium	GB: Energy Efficiency Advice Centres: 10.4 K tCO <sub>2</sub> annually.	High	BR: $-66$ US\$/ tCO $_2$ ; GB: 8 US\$/ tCO $_2$ (for all programmes of Energy Trust).	More applicable in residential sector than commercial.	Bender <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Dias <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Darby, 2006; IEA, 2005; Lutzenhiser, 1993; Ueno et al. 2006; Energy Saving Trust, 2005.
Mandatory audit & energy management requirement	US, FR, NZ, EG, AU, CZ	High, but variable	US: Weatherization Program: 22% saved in weatherized households.	Medium	US Weatherization Program: BC- ratio: 2.4.	Most effective if combined with other measures such as financial incentives	World Energy Council, 2001
Detailed billing and disclosure programmes	ON, IT, SE, FI, JP, NO, CL	Medium	Up to 20% energy savings.	Medium	ц. Ц	Success conditions: combination with other measures and periodic evaluation. Comparability with other households is positive.	Crossley <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Darby 2000; Roberts & Baker, 2003; Energywatch, 2005.
Votes:	anihina and		- Contraction Contraction Constantion				ALL ALLANDED TO

Country name abbreviations (according to the ISO codes except California, Ontario, Central and Eastern Europe and European Union): DZ – Algeria, AR – Argentina, AU – Australia, AT – Austria, BE – Belgium, BR – Brazil, CL – California, CA – Canada, CEE – Central and Eastern Europe, CN – China, CR – Costa Rica, CZ – Czech Republic, DE – Germany, Denmark – DK, EC – Ecuador, EG – Egypt, EU – European Union, FI - Finland, FR - France, GB - United Kingdom, HK - Hong Kong, HU - Hungary, IN - India, IE - Ireland, IT - Italy, JP - Japan, KR - Korea (South), MX - Mexico, NL - Netherlands, NO - Norway, ON - Ontario, NZ - New Zealand, NG - Nigeria, PH - Philippines, PO - Poland, SG - Singapore, SK - Slovakia, SI - Slovenia, CH - Switzerland, SE - Sweden, TH - Thailand, US - United States. a) For definitions of the instruments see: Crossley et al. (1999), Crossley et al. (2000), EFA (2002), Vine et al. (2003) and Wuppertal Institute (2002).

b) Effectiveness of CO2 emission reduction: includes ease of implementation; feasibility and simplicity of enforcement; applicability in many locations; and other factors contributing to overall magnitude of real-

ized savings.

c) Cost-effectiveness is related to specific societal cost per unit of carbon emissions avoided. Energy savings were recalculated into emission savings using the following references for the emission factors: Davis (2003), UNEP (2000), Center for Clean Air Policy (2001). The country-specific energy price was subtracted from the cost of saved energy in order to account for the financial benefits of energy savings (Koomey and Krause, 1989), if they were not considered originally.
(b) Kyoto flexible mechanisms: Joint Implementation (JI), Clean Development Mechanism (CDM), International Emissions Trading (includes the Green Investment Schemes).

The effectiveness of economic instruments, information programmes and regulation can be substantially enhanced if these are appropriately combined into policy packages that take advantage of synergistic effects (Ott *et al.*, 2005). A typical example is the co-ordination of energy audit programmes with economic instruments, such as energy taxes and capital subsidy schemes. In addition, ESCOs can flourish when public procurement legislation accommodates EPCs and includes ambitious energy-efficiency or renewable energy provisions, or in the presence of an energy-saving obligation.

Section 6.8 demonstrates that, during the last decades, many new policies have been initiated. However, so far only incremental progress has been achieved by these policies. In most developed countries, the energy consumption in buildings is still increasing (IEA, 2004f). Although some of this growth is offset by increased efficiency of major energy-consuming appliances, overall consumption continues to increase due to the growing demand for amenities, such as new electric appliances and increased comfort. The limited overall impact of policies so far is due to several factors: (i) slow implementation processes (e.g., as of 2006, not all European countries are on time with the implementation of the EU Buildings Directive); (ii) the lack of regular updating of building codes (requirements of many policies are often close to common practices, despite the fact that CO<sub>2</sub>-neutral construction without major financial sacrifices is already possible) and appliance standards and labelling; and (iii) insufficient enforcement. In addition, Section 6.7 demonstrated that barriers in the building sector are numerous; diverse by region, sector and end-user group, and are especially strong.

There is no single policy instrument that can capture the entire potential for GHG mitigation. Due to the especially strong and diverse barriers in the residential and commercial sectors, overcoming these is only possible through a diverse portfolio of policy instruments for effective and far-reaching GHG abatement and for taking advantage of synergistic effects. Since climate change literacy, awareness of technological, cultural and behavioural choices and their impacts on emissions are important preconditions to fully operating policies, these policy approaches need to go hand in hand with programmes that increase consumer access to information, awareness and knowledge (*high agreement, medium evidence*).

In summary, significant  $CO_2$  and other GHG savings can be achieved in buildings, often at net benefit to society (in addition to avoided climate change) and also meeting many other sustainable development and economic objectives, but this requires a stronger political commitment and more ambitious policy-making than today, including careful design of policies as well as enforcement and regular monitoring.

## 6.9 Interactions of mitigation options with vulnerability, adaptation and sustainable development

## 6.9.1 Interactions of mitigation options with vulnerability and adaptation

In formulating climate change strategies, mitigation efforts need to be balanced with those aimed at adaptation. There are interactions between vulnerability, adaptation and mitigation in buildings through climatic conditions and energy systems. As a result of a warming climate, heating energy consumption will decline, but energy demand for cooling will increase while at the same time passive cooling techniques will become less effective. The net impact of these changes on GHG emissions is related to the available choice of primary energy used and the efficiency of technologies that are used for heating and cooling needs. Mansur et al. (2005) find that the combination of climate warming and fuel switching in US buildings from fuels to electricity results in increases in the overall energy demand, especially electricity. Other studies indicate that in European countries with moderate climate the increase in electricity for additional cooling is higher than the decrease for heating demand in winter (Levermore et al., 2004; Aebischer et al., 2006; Mirasgedis et al., 2006). Aebischer et al. (2006) finds that in Europe there is likely to be a net increase in power demand in all but the most northerly countries, and in the south a significant increase in summer peak demand is expected. Depending on the generation mix in particular countries, the net effect on carbon dioxide emissions may be an increase even where overall demand for final energy declines. Since in many countries electricity generation is largely based on fossil fuels, the resulting net difference between heating reduction and cooling increases may significantly increase the total amount of GHG emissions. This causes a positive feedback loop: more mechanical cooling emits more GHGs, thereby exacerbating warming, although the effect maybe moderate.

Vulnerability of energy demand to climate is country- and region-specific. For instance, a temperature increase of  $2^{\circ}C$  is associated with an 11.6% increase in residential per capita electricity use in Florida, but with a 7.2% decrease in Washington DC (Sailor, 2001). Increased net energy demand translates into increased welfare losses. Mansur *et al.* (2005) found that, for a 5°C increase in temperature by 2100, the annual welfare loss in increased energy expenditures is predicted to reach US\$ 40 billion for US households.

Fortunately, there are many potential synergies where investments in the buildings sector may reduce the overall cost of climate change-in terms of both mitigation and adaptation. For instance, if new buildings are constructed, the design can address both mitigation and adaptation aspects. Among the most important of these are reduced cooling loads. For instance, using advanced insulation techniques and passive solar design to reduce the expected increase in air conditioning load. In addition, if high-efficiency electric appliances are used, the savings are increased due to reduced electricity demand for air conditioning, especially in commercial buildings. Roof retrofits can incorporate increased insulation and storm security in one investment. In addition, the integrated design of wellinsulated, air-tight buildings, with efficient air management and energy systems, leads not only to lower GHG emissions, but also to reduced thermal stress to occupants, reducing extreme weather-related mortality and other health effects. Furthermore, adaptive comfort, where occupants accept higher indoor (comfort) temperatures when the outside temperature is high, is now incorporated in design considerations, especially for predominantly naturally ventilated buildings (see Box 6.5).

Policies that actively promote integrated building solutions for both mitigating and adapting to climate change are especially important for the buildings sector. It has been observed that building users responding to a warmer climate generally choose options that increase cooling energy consumption rather than other means, such as insulation, shading, or ventilation, which consume less energy. A prime example of this is the tendency of occupants of existing, poorly performing buildings (mainly in developing countries) to buy portable air conditioning units. These trends - which clearly will accelerate in warmer summers to come - may result in a significant increase of GHG emissions from the sector, enhancing the positive feedback process. However, well-designed policies supporting less energyintensive cooling alternatives can help combat these trends (see Box 6.5 and Section 6.4.4.1). Good urban planning, including increasing green areas as well as cool roofs in cities, has proven to be an efficient way to limit the heat island effect, which also aggravates the increased cooling needs (Sailor, 2002).

# 6.9.2 Synergies with sustainability in developing countries

The failure of numerous development strategies in the least developed countries, most of them in Africa, to yield the expected results has been attributed to the fact that the strategies failed to address the core needs of such countries – these are economic growth, poverty alleviation and employment creation (OECD, 2001). Often a tension exists between the main agenda of most of these countries (poverty alleviation through increased access to energy) and climate change concerns. Increased access to modern energy for the mostly rural population has been a priority in recent years. Most countries, therefore, place more policy emphasis on increasing the supply of petroleum and electricity than on renewables or energy efficiency (Karakezi and Ranja, 2002). The success of climate change mitigation policies depends largely on the positive management of these tensions. GHG reduction strategies in developing countries have a higher chance of success if they are 'embedded' in poverty eradication efforts, rather than executed independently.

Fortunately, buildings offer perhaps the largest portfolio of options where such synergies can be identified. Matrices in Chapter 12 demonstrate that the impact of mitigation options in the building sector on sustainable development, for both industrialized countries and developing countries, is reported to be positive for all of the criteria used. Both Sections 6.6 above and Box 6.1 discuss many of the opportunities for positive synergies in detail; the next paragraph revisits a few of them.

The dual challenges of climate change and sustainable development were strongly emphasised in the 2002 Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). GHG mitigation strategies are more realizable if they work mutually with MDGs towards the realization of these set objectives. For example, MDG goal seven is to ensure sustainable development, in part by reducing the proportion of people using solid fuels which will lead to the reduction of indoor air pollution (see sections 6.6.1). GHG mitigation and public health are co-benefactors in the achievement of this goal. Similarly, increased energy efficiency in buildings, or considering energy efficiency as the guiding principle during the construction of new homes, will result in both reduced energy bills - enhancing the affordability of increased energy services - and GHG abatement. If technologies that utilise locally available renewable resources in an efficient and clean way are used broadly, this provides access to 'free'

## Box 6.5: Mitigation and adaptation case study: Japanese dress codes

In 2005, the Ministry of the Environment (MOE) in Japan widely encouraged businesses and the public to set air conditioning thermostats in offices to around 28°C during summer. As a part of the campaign, MOE has been promoting summer business styles ('Cool Biz') to encourage business people to wear cool and comfortable clothes, allowing them to work efficiently in these warmer offices.

In 2005, a survey of 562 respondents by the MOE (Murakami *et al.*, 2006) showed that 96% of the respondents were aware of 'Cool Biz' and 33% answered that their offices set the thermostat higher than in previous years. Based on this result,  $CO_2$  emissions were reduced by approximately 460,000 tonnes in 2005, which is equivalent to the amount of  $CO_2$  emitted from about one million Japanese households for one month. MOE will continue to encourage offices to set air conditioning in offices at 28°C and will continue to promote 'Cool Biz.'

energy to impoverished communities for many years and contributes to meeting other MDGs.

However, for the poorest people in both developing countries and industrialised countries, the main barrier to energy-efficiency and renewable energy investments is the availability of financing for the investments. Devoting international aid or other public and private funds aimed at sustainable development to energy efficiency and renewable energy initiatives in buildings can achieve a multitude of development objectives and result in a long-lasting impact. These investments need not necessarily be executed through public subsidies, but may increasingly be achieved through innovative financing schemes, such as ESCOs or public-private partnerships. These schemes offer win-win opportunities, and leverage and strengthen markets (Blair *et al.*, 2005).

With a few exceptions, energy policies and practices in residential and commercial buildings in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) do not take efficiency into consideration. However, energy efficiency in buildings has recently been recognised as one of the ways of increasing energy security and benefiting the environment, through energy savings (Winkler *et al.*, 2002). South Africa, for example, has drafted an energy-efficiency strategy to promote efficiency in buildings (DME, 2004). Such policies can be promoted in other SSA countries by linking energy efficiency in buildings directly to the countries' development agendas, by demonstrating how energy efficiency practises contribute to energy security. The positive impacts of these practices, including GHG mitigation, could then be considered as co-benefits.

## 6.10 Critical gaps in knowledge

During the review of the global literature, a few important areas have been identified which are not adequately researched or documented. First, there is a critical lack of literature and data about GHG emissions and mitigation options in developing countries. Whereas the situation is somewhat better in developed regions, in the vast majority of countries detailed end-use data is poorly collected or reported publicly, making analyses and policy recommendations insufficiently robust. Furthermore, there is a severe lack of robust, comprehensive, detailed and upto-date bottom-up assessments of GHG reduction opportunities and associated costs in buildings worldwide, preferably using a harmonized methodology for analysis. In existing assessments of mitigation options, co-benefits are typically not included, and in general, there is an important need to quantify and monetize these so that they can be integrated into policy decision frameworks. Moreover, there is a critical lack of understanding, characterisation and taxonomization of non-technological options to reduce GHG emissions. These are rarely included in global GHG mitigation assessment models, potentially largely underestimating overall potentials. However, our policy leverage to realise these options is also poorly understood.

Finally, literature on energy price elasticities in the residential and commercial sectors in the different regions is very limited, while essential for the design of any policies influencing energy tariffs, including GHG taxes and subsidy removal.

## REFERENCES

- ACT, 2006: <a href="http://www.actpla.act.gov.au/topics/property\_purchases/sales/energy\_efficiency">http://www.actpla.act.gov.au/topics/property\_purchases/sales/energy\_efficiency</a>>, accessed on July 3, 2007.
- Aebischer, B., G. Henderson, and D. Catenazzi, 2006: Impact of climate change on energy demand in the Swiss service sector - and application to Europe. In *Proceedings of the International Conference on Improving Energy Efficiency in Commercial Buildings (IEECB '06)*, April 2006, Germany.
- AIM, 2004: GHG Emissions and Climate Change. National Institute for Environmental Studies, Tsukuba, <a href="http://www-iam.nies.go.jp/aim/aimpamph/pdf/All1115.pdf">http://www-iam.nies.go.jp/aim/aimpamph/pdf/All1115.pdf</a>>, accessed on July 3, 2007.
- Alam, M., J. Sathaye, and D. Barnes, 1998: Urban household energy use in India: Efficiency and policy implications. *Energy Policy*, 26(11), pp. 885-892.
- Alderfer, R.B., M.M. Eldridge, T.J. Starrs, 2000: Making connections: Case studies of interconnection barriers and their impact on distributed power projects. National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, CO.
- Andén, L., 2003: Solar Installations. Practical Applications for the Built Environment. James and James, London.
- Ashford, P., J. Wu, M. Jeffs, S. Kocchi, P. Vodianitskaia, S. Lee, D. Nott, B. Johnson, A. Ambrose, J. Mutton, T. Maine, and B. Veenendaal, 2005: Chapter 7. Foams. In *IPCC/TEAP Special Report on Safeguarding the Ozone Layer and the Global Climate System: Issues related to Hydrofluorocarbons and Perfluorocarbons.*
- Asian Development Bank, 1998: Asia Least-cost Greenhouse Gas Abatement Strategy. ALGAS Series: Thailand, Republic of Korea, Myanmar, Pakistan. <a href="http://www.adb.org/Documents/Reports/ALGAS/default.asp">http://www.adb.org/Documents/Reports/ALGAS/default.asp</a>, accessed on July 5, 2007.
- Atif, M.R. and A.D. Galasiu, 2003: Energy performance of daylight-linked automatic lighting control systems in large atrium spaces: report on two field-monitored case studies. *Energy and Buildings*, 35, pp. 441-461.
- Australian Government, 2006: Operation of the Ozone Protection and Synthetic Greenhouse Gas Management Act 1989.
- Australian Greenhouse Office, 2000: Impact of minimum performance requirements for class 1 buildings in Victoria.
- Australian Greenhouse Office, 2005: National appliances and equipment programs: When you keep measuring it, you know even more about it. Projected impacts 2005-2020. <a href="https://www.energyrating.gov.au/library/">www.energyrating.gov.au/library/</a> pubs/200505-projectimpacts-agosummary.pdf>, accessed on July 3, 2007.
- Badescu, V. and B. Sicre, 2003: Renewable energy for passive house heating Part 1. Building description. *Energy and Buildings*, 35, pp. 1077-1084.
- Balaras, C.A., 2001: Energy retrofit of a neoclassic office building Social aspects and lessons learned. ASHRAE Transactions, 107(1), pp. 191-197.
- Balmér, P., 1997: Energy conscious waste water treatment plant. CADDET Energy Efficiency Newsletter, June 1997, pp. 11-12.
- Banfi, S., M. Farsi, M. Filippini, and M. Jakob, 2006: Willingness to pay for energy-saving measures in residential buildings. *Energy Economic*, <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eneco.2006.06.001">http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eneco.2006.06.001</a>>, accessed on July 5, 2007.
- Barnerjee, A. and B.D. Solomon, 2003: Eco-labeling for energy efficiency and sustainability: a meta-evaluation of US programs. *Energy Policy*, 31, pp. 109-123.
- Barnes, D.F., K. Openshaw, K.R. Smith, and R.v.d. Plas, 1994: What makes people cook with improved biomass stoves? Technical Paper No. 242. World Bank, Washington, D.C.

- Bazilian, M.D., F. Leenders, B.G.C. van Der Ree, and D. Prasad, 2001: Photovoltaic cogeneration in the built environment. *Solar Energy*, 71, pp. 57-69.
- Behne, M., 1999: Indoor air quality in rooms with cooled ceilings. Mixing ventilation or rather displacement ventilation? *Energy and Buildings*, 30, pp. 155-166.
- Belding, W.A. and M.P.F. Delmas, 1997: Novel desiccant cooling system using indirect evaporative cooler. ASHRAE Transactions, 103(1), pp. 841-847.
- Bell, M. and R. Lowe, 2000: Energy efficient modernisation of housing: a UK case study. *Energy and Buildings*, **32**, pp. 267-280.
- Bender, S., M. Moezzi, M.H. Gossard, L. Lutzenhiser, 2004: Using mass media to influence energy consumption behavior: California's 2001 Flex Your Power campaign as a case study. In 2004 ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, ACEEE Press.
- **Bernstein,** M.A. and J. Griffin, 2005: Regional differences in the price-elasticity of demand for energy. National Renewable Energy Laboratory.
- Bertoldi, P. and O. Starter, 2003: Combining long term agreements with emissions trading: An overview of the current EU energy efficiency policies for the industrial sector and a proposal for a new industrial efficiency policy. In ACEEE 2003 Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Industry, Washington, D.C.
- Bertoldi, P., 1999: The use of long term agreements to improve energy efficiency in the industrial sector: overview of European experiences and proposal for a common framework. In *ACEEE 1999 Summer study* on energy efficiency in industry, Washington, D.C.
- **Bertoldi**, P., 2000: The European strategy for reducing standby losses in consumer electronics: status and results. In *Proceeding of the ACEEE 2000 Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings*, Washington D.C.
- Bertoldi, P., B. Aebischer, C. Edlington, C. Hershberg, B. Lebot, J. Lin, T. Marker, A. Meier, H. Nakagami, Y. Shibata, H.-P. Siderius, C. Webber, 2002: Standby power use: How big is the problem? What policies and technical solutions can address it? In *Proceedings of the ACEEE 2002 Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings*, 7, American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy, Washington.
- Bertoldi, P., S. Rezessy, and D. Ürge-Vorsatz, 2005: Tradable certificates for energy savings: opportunities, challenges and prospects for integration with other market instruments in the energy sector. *Energy* and Environment, 16(6), pp. 959-992.
- Bertoldi, P., and S. Rezessy, 2006: Tradable certificates for energy savings (White Certificates). Joint Research Center of the European Commission. <a href="http://re.jrc.ec.europa.eu/energyefficiency/index.htm">http://re.jrc.ec.europa.eu/energyefficiency/index.htm</a>, accessed on April 12, 2007.
- Berry, L., M. Schweitzer, 2003: Metaevaluation of National Weatherization Assistance Program Based on State Studies 1993-2002. ORNL/CON-488.
- Biermayer, P. and J. Lin, 2004: Clothes washer standards in China the problem of water and energy trade-offs in establishing efficiency standards. In 2005 ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, ACEEE Press.
- Birtles, A.B. and R.W. John, 1984: Study of the performance of an energy management system. BSERT, London.
- Blair, H.L., M. Dworkin, and B. Sachs, 2005: The efficiency utility: a model for replication. In *ECEEE Summer Studies 2005*, pp. 237-242.
- Boardman, B., 1991: Fuel Poverty. Bellhaven Press.
- **Boardman**, B., 2004: New directions for household energy efficiency: evidence from the UK. *Energy Policy*, **32**, pp. 1921-1933.
- Bodart, M. and A.D. Herde, 2002: Global energy savings in office buildings by the use of daylighting. *Energy and Buildings*, 34, pp. 421-429.
- Boonstra, C. and I. Thijssen, 1997: Solar energy in building renovation. James & James, London, 64 pp.
- Bordass, B., R. Cohen, M. Standeven, and A. Leaman, 2001a: Assessing building performance in use 3: energy performance of the Probe buildings. *Building Research and Information*, **29**(2), pp. 114-128.

- Bordass, B., A. Leaman, and P. Ruyssevelt, 2001b: Assessing building performance in use 5: conclusions and implications. *Building Research & Information*, **29**(2).
- Borg, N., Y. Blume, S. Thomas, W. Irrek, H. Ritter, A. Gula, A. Figórski, S. Attali, A. Waldmann, A. Loozen, L. Pagliano, A. Pindar, H.-F. Lund, P. Lund, L. Bångens, J. Harris, E. Sandberg, and G. Westring, 2003: Harnessing the power of the public purse: Final report from the European PROST study on energy efficiency in the public sector. EU-SAVE, Stockholm.
- Börjesson, P. and L. Gustavsson, 2000: Greenhouse gas balances in building construction: wood versus concrete from life-cycle and forest land-use perspectives. *Energy Policy*, 28, pp. 575-588.
- Bourassa, N., P. Haves, and J. Huang, 2002: A computer simulation appraisal of non-residential low energy cooling systems in California. In 2002 ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy, Washington, pp. 41-53.
- Brambley, M.R., D. Hansen, P. Haves, D.R. Holmberg, S.C. McDonald, and K.W.R.P. Torcellini, 2005: Advanced sensors and controls for building applications: Market assessment and potential R&D pathways. Prepared for US DOE Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy, Building Technologies Program, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory.
- **Brand**, M. and M. Geissler, 2003: Innovations in CHP and lighting: best practice in the public & building sector.
- Brandemuehl, M.J. and J.E.. Braun, 1999: The impact of demandcontrolled and economizer ventilation strategies on energy use in buildings. ASHRAE Transactions, 105(2), pp. 39-50.
- Brandemuehl, M.J. and M.J. Bradford, 1999: Optimal supervisory control of cooling plants without storage. Final Report on ASHRAE Research Project 823.
- Brown, M.A., 2001: Market barriers to energy efficiency. *Energy Policy*, 29(14), pp. 1197-1208.
- Brown, M.A., L.G. Berry, and R. Goel, 1991: Guidelines for successfully transferring government-sponsored innovations. *Research Policy*, 20(2), pp. 121-143.
- Brown, M.A., M.D. Levine, J.P. Romm, A.H. Rosenfeld, and J.G. Koomey, 1998: Engineering-economic studies of energy technologies to reduce greenhouse emissions: Opportunities and challenges. *Annual Review* of Energy and the Environment, 23, pp. 287-385.
- Burch, J., K. Subbarao, and A. Lekov, 1990: Short-term energy monitoring in a large commercial building. ASHRAE Transactions, 96(1), pp. 1459-1477.
- **Butson,** J., 1998: The potential for energy service companies in the European Union. Amsterdam.
- CADDET, 1997: CADDET Energy Efficiency Newsletter (March 1997).
- California Energy Commission, 2006: 2006 Appliance Efficiency Regulations (California Code of Regulations, Title 20, Sections 1601 through 1608), <a href="http://www.energy.ca.gov/appliances/index.html">http://www.energy.ca.gov/appliances/index.html</a>, accessed on July 3, 2007.
- Calwell, C. and T. Reeder, 2002: Power supplies: A hidden opportunity for energy savings. A NRDC report prepared for Natural Resources Defense Council, San Francisco, CA.
- **Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment,** 2001: National action plan for the environmental control of ozone-depleting substances (ODS) and their halocarbon alternatives.
- Carbon Trust, 2005: The UK Climate Change Programme: potential evolution for business and the public sector. Technical Report available online: <a href="http://www.carbontrust.co.uk/Publications/publicationdetail">http://www.carbontrust.co.uk/Publications/publicationdetail. htm?productid=CTC518>, accessed on July 3, 2007.</a>
- **CECED** (European Committee on Household Appliance Manufacturers), 2005: CECED Unilateral Commitment on reducing energy consumption on household refrigerators and freezers. 2nd Annual report for 2004 to the Commission of the European Communities.
- Center for Clean Air Policy, 2001: Identifying investment opportunities for the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) in Brazil's Industrial Sector, Washington D.C.

- Chappells, H. and E. Shove, 2004: Comfort: A review of philosophies and paradigms.
- Cheminfo, 2004: International management instruments regarding HFCs, PFCs and SF6. Cheminfo for Environment Canada.
- **CIBSE**, 1999: Environmental factors affecting office worker performance: review of evidence, TM24. The Chartered Institution of Building Services Engineers, London, UK.
- City of Fort Collins, 2002: Evaluation of new home energy efficiency: An assessment of the 1996 Fort Collins residential energy code and benchmark study of design, construction and performance for homes built between 1994 and 1999. Fort Collins, Colorado, <a href="http://www.fcgov.com/utilities/pdf/newhome-eval.pdf">http://www.fcgov.com/utilities/pdf/newhome-eval.pdf</a>>, accessed on July 3, 2007.
- CLASP (Collaborative Labeling and Appliance Standards Program), 2006: General information about standards and labelling. Effectiveness of energy-efficiency labels and standards <a href="http://www.clasponline.org/">http://www.clasponline.org/</a>, accessed on July 5, 2007.
- **Claridge,** D.E., M. Liu, and W.D. Turner, 2003: Commissioning of existing buildings state of the technology and its implementation. Proceedings of the International Short Symposium on HVAC Commissioning. Kyoto, Japan.
- Claridge, D.E., M. Liu, S. Deng, W.D. Turner, J.S. Haberl, S.U. Lee, M. Abbas, H. Bruner, and B.V.S.U. Lee, 2001: Cutting heating and cooling use almost in half without capital expenditure in a previously retrofit building. European Council for an energy efficient economy, 2001 Summer Proceedings. *ECEEE*, 4, pp. 74-85.
- Collys, A., 2005: The Flanders (BE) regional utility obligations. Presentation at the European Parliament. 3 May 2005. Presentation, Ministry of Flanders, Department of Natural Resources and Energy <a href="http://195.178.164.205/library\_links/downloads/ESD/Bottom-up.3March05.Collys.ppt">http://195.178.164.205/library\_links/downloads/ESD/Bottomup.3March05.Collys.ppt</a>>, accessed on July 5, 2007.
- **Commission of the European Communities,** 1999: Communication from the Commission to the Council and European Parliament on policy instruments to reduce stand by losses of consumer electronic equipment. Brussels. September 15, 1999.
- **Commonwealth of Australia**, 2002: National Appliance and Equipment Energy Efficiency Program, "Money isn't all you're saving: Australia's Standby Power Strategy 2002-2012".
- Costelloe, B. and D. Finn, 2003: Indirect evaporative cooling potential in air-water systems in temperate climates. *Energy and Buildings*, 35, pp. 573-591.
- **Cottrell**, J., 2004: Ecotaxes in Germany and the United Kingdom- a business view. Green Budget Germany Conference Report. Heinrich-Böll Foundation, Berlin.
- Crossley, D., J. Hamrin, E. Vine, N. Eyre, 1999: Public policy implications of mechanisms for promoting energy efficiency and load management in changing electricity businesses. Hornsby Heights, Task VI of the International Energy Agency Demand-Side Management Program.
- **Crossley,** D., M. Maloney, and G. Watt, 2000: Developing mechanisms for promoting demand-side management and energy efficiency in changing electricity businesses. Research Report No 3. Task VI of the International Energy Agency Demand-Side Management Programme. Task VI of the International Energy Agency Demand-Side Management Program, Hornsby Heights.
- Da Graça, G.C., Q. Chen, L.R. Glicksman, and L.K. Norfold, 2002: Simulation of wind-driven ventilative cooling systems for an apartment building in Beijing and Shanghai. *Energy and Buildings*, 34, pp. 1-11.
- Darby, S., 2000: Making it obvious: designing feedback into energy consumption, Appendix 4 of Boardman and Darby 2000. In *Effective Advice. Energy efficiency and the disadvantaged by B. Boardman, and S. Darby, ed.* Environmental Change Institute, University of Oxford, Oxford.
- Darby, S., 2006: Social learning and public policy: Lessons from an energy-conscious village. *Energy Policy*, 34(17), pp. 2929-2940.
- Davis, K., 2003: Greenhouse Gas Emission Factor Review. Final Technical Memorandum. Edison Mission Energy. Irvine, CA, Austin, TX.

- De Dear, R.J. and G.S. Brager, 1998: Developing an adaptive model of thermal comfort and preference. ASHRAE Transactions, 104(Part 1A), pp. 145-167.
- **De Dear,** R.J. and G.S. Brager, 2002: Thermal comfort in naturally ventilated buildings: revisions to ASHRAE Standard 55. *Energy and Buildings*, **34**, pp. 549-561.
- De Vita, G., K. Andresen, and L.C. Hunt, 2006: An empirical analysis of energy demand in Namibia. *Energy Policy*, **34**, pp. 3447-3463.
- **De Villiers,** M. and K. Matibe, 2000: Greenhouse gas baseline and mitigation options for the residential sector. Energy and Development Research Centre, University of Cape Town.
- De Villiers, M., 2000: Greenhouse gas baseline and mitigation options for the commercial sector. South African Country study, Department of Environmental Affairs and Tourism, Pretoria.
- **DEFRA**, 2006: Review and development of carbon abatement curves for available technologies as part of the Energy Efficiency Innovation Review. Final Report by ENVIROS Consulting Ltd.
- DEG, 2004: Development of an improved two-stage evaporative cooling system. Davis Energy Group, California Energy Commission Report P500-04-016, 62 pp. <a href="http://www.energy.ca.gov/pier/final\_project\_reports/500-04-016.html">http://www.energy.ca.gov/pier/final\_project\_reports/500-04-016.html</a>, accessed on July 3, 2007.
- **Demirbilek,** F.N., U.G. Yalçiner, M.N. Inanici, A. Ecevit, and O.S. Demirbilek, 2000: Energy conscious dwelling design for Ankara. *Building and Environment*, **35**, pp. 33-40.
- Dias, R., C. Mattos, J.A.P. Balestieri, 2004: Energy education: breaking up the rational energy use barriers. *Energy Policy*, 32(11), pp. 1339-1347.
- **DME**, 2004: Energy efficiency strategy for the Republic of South Africa. Department of Minerals and Energy.
- **DoH,** 2000: Fuel poverty and health. Circular from the UK Department of Health 2000, <www.dh.gov.uk/assetRoot/04/01/38/47/04013847. pdf>, accessed on July 3, 2007.
- EAP UNDP, 2000: Sustainable energy strategies: materials for decisionmakers. Energy and Atmosphere Programme of United Nations Development Programme, Chapter 5, 22 pp.
- ECCJ, 2006: The Energy Conservation Center Japan <a href="http://www.eccj.or.jp/top\_runner/index.html">http://www.eccj.or.jp/top\_runner/index.html</a>, accessed on July 3, 2007.
- ECCP, 2001: Long Report. European Climate Change Programme.
- ECCP, 2003: Second ECCP Progress Report: Can We Meet Our Kyoto targets, Technical Report. European Climate Change Programme.
- **ECEEE**, 2004: Presentations in frame of Energy Services and Energy Efficiency Directive.
- ECON Analysis, 2005: BASREC Regional handbook on procedures for Joint Implementation in the Baltic Sea region. Energy Unit, CBSS Secretariat, Stockholm.
- **ECS**, 2002: Fiscal policies for improving energy efficiency. Taxation, grants and subsidies. Energy Charter Secretariat, Brussels, Belgium.
- **ECS**, 2005: Carbon trading and energy efficiency. Integrating energy efficiency and environmental policies. Energy Charter Secretariat, Brussels, Belgium.
- **EFA**, 2002: Mechanisms for promoting societal demand management. Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal (IPART) of New South Wales.
- Edwards, R.D., K.R. Smith, J. Zhang, and Y. Ma, 2004: Implications of changes in household stoves and fuel use in China. *Energy Policy*, 32(3), pp. 395-411.
- **EEA**, 2001: Indicator fact sheet signals chapter Households. European Environment Agency.
- **EIA**, 2004: International Energy Outlook. Energy Information Administration (EIA), Washington.
- **EIA**, 2006: *Annual Energy Outlook*. Energy Information Administration (EIA), Washington.
- Egan, C., C. Payne, J. Thorne, 2000: Interim Findings of an Evaluation of the U.S. EnergyGuide Label. In *Proceedings: 2000 ACEEE Summer Study.* LBL-46061.
- Energy Saving Trust, 2005: Annual Report 2004/2005. <a href="http://www.est.org.uk/uploads/documents/aboutest/CO111\_Annual\_report\_04-05\_final.pdf">http://www.est.org.uk/uploads/documents/aboutest/CO111\_Annual\_report\_04-05\_final.pdf</a>>, accessed on July 3, 2007.

- **Energystar**, 2006: Energystar is a government-backed program helping businesses and individuals protect the environment through superior energy efficiency. <a href="http://www.energystar.gov/">http://www.energystar.gov/</a>, accessed 12/07/07.
- **Energywatch**, 2005: Get smart: bring meters into the 21st century <a href="http://www.energywatch.org.uk/uploads/Smart\_meters.pdf">http://www.energywatch.org.uk/uploads/Smart\_meters.pdf</a>>, accessed on July 5, 2007.
- **ERI** (National Development and Reform Commission), 2004: China National Energy Strategy and Policy to 2020: Scenario Analysis on Energy Demand.
- ERRA/LGI, L.G.a.P.S.R.I., 2002: Meeting low-income consumers' needs. Energy Regulators, Regional Association/LGI Training material No 5.
- European Commission, 2001: Green Paper Towards a European strategy for the security of energy supply, Technical Document. <a href="http://www.ec.europa.eu">http://www.ec.europa.eu</a>, accessed on July 3, 2007.
- European Commission, 2002: Directive 2002/91/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 2002 on the energy performance of buildings. *Official Journal of the European Communities*, L 1/65 of 4.1.2003.
- **European Commission,** 2003: Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on energy end-use efficiency and energy services.
- **European Commission,** 2005: Green paper on energy efficiency. Doing more with less.
- **European Commission**, 2006: Regulation (EC) No 842/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 17 May 2006 on certain fluorinated greenhouse gases. *Official Journal of European Union*, L 161/1 of 14.06.2006.
- Eyre, N., 1998: A golden age or a false dawn? Energy efficiency in UK competitive energy markets. *Energy Policy*, 26(12), pp. 963-972.
- FEDEMA, 1999: Economics of GHG limitations. Country study series, Ecuador. UNEP Collaborating Centre for Energy and Environment, Riso National Laboratory, Denmark.
- **FEMP,** 2002: Federal Energy Management Program (FEMP, USA) Technology Profiles: Front loading clothes washers.
- Fischer, J.C., J.R. Sand, B. Elkin, and K. Mescher, 2002: Active desiccant, total energy recovery hybrid system optimizes humidity control, IAQ, and energy efficiency in an existing dormitory facility. ASHRAE Transactions, 108 (Part 2), pp. 537-545.
- Fisk, W.J., 2000: Health and productivity gains from better indoor environments and their implications for the U.S. Department of Energy. Washington, D.C. E-Vision 2000 Conference, <a href="http://eetd.lbl.gov/IED/viaq/pubs/LBNL-47458.pdf">http://eetd.lbl.gov/IED/viaq/pubs/LBNL-47458.pdf</a>>, accessed November 16, 2005.
- Fisk, W.J., 2002: How IEQ affects health, productivity. ASHRAE Journal, 44(5).
- Florides, G.A., S.A. Tassou, S.A. Kalogirou, and L.C. Wrobel, 2002: Measures used to lower building energy consumption and their cost effectiveness. *Applied Energy*, **73**, pp. 299-328.
- Fountain, M.E., E. Arens, T. Xu, F.S. Bauman, and M. Oguru, 1999: An investigation of thermal comfort at high humidities'. *ASHRAE Transactions*, **105**, pp. 94-103.
- Francisco, P.W., B. Davis, D. Baylon, and L. Palmiter, 2004: Heat pumps system performance in northern climates. ASHARE Translations, 110(Part 1), pp. 442-451.
- Francisco, P.W., L. Palmiter, and B. Davis, 1998: Modeling the thermal distribution efficiency of ducts: comparisons to measured results. *Energy and Buildings*, 28, pp. 287-297.
- **Fridley,** D. and J. Lin, 2004: Private communications at Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory (LBNL) regarding the contents of a study conducted for the U.S. Energy Foundation by the China Center for the Certification of Energy Conservation Products (CECP), the China National Institute of Standardization (CNIS), and LBNL.
- Fung, A.S., A. Aulenback, A. Ferguson, and Ugursal, 2003: Standby power requirements of household appliances in Canada. *Energy and Buildings*, 35, pp. 217-228.
- Gaj, H. and M. Sadowski, 1997. Climate Change Mitigation: Case Studies from Poland. Advanced International Studies Unit, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory. Washington, D.C., 2004.

- **GAMA**, 2005: March 2005 Consumers Directory of certified efficiency ratings for heating and water heating equipment. Gas Appliance Manufacturers Association.
- Garg, V. and N.K. Bansal, 2000: Smart occupancy sensors to reduce energy consumption. *Energy and Buildings*, 32, pp. 81-87.
- **Gauzin-Müller**, D., 2002: Sustainable architecture and urbanism. Birkhäuser, Basel, 255 pp.
- **Geller,** H. and S. Attali, 2005: The experience with energy efficiency policies and programmes in IEA countries: learning from the critics. IEA Information Paper.
- Geller, H., P. Harrington, A.H. Rosenfeld, S. Tanishimad and F. Unander, 2006: Polices for increasing energy efficiency: Thirty years of experience in OECD countries. *Energy Policy*, 34(5), pp. 556-573.
- Gillingham, K., R. Newell, K. Palmer, 2004: The effectiveness and cost of energy efficiency programmes. Resources. Resources for the Future, Technical paper.
- **Goldemberg,** J., 2000: World Energy Assessment. Energy and the challenge of sustainability. United Nations Development (UNDP), New York.
- Goldemberg, J., A.K.N. Reddy, K.R. Smith, and R.H. Williams., 2000: Rural energy in developing countries. Chapter 10. In *World energy assessment: energy and the challenge of sustainability*, United Nations Development Program.
- Goldman, C., N. Hopper, and J. Osborn, 2005: Review of US ESCO industry market trends: an empirical analysis of project data. *Energy Policy*, 33, pp. 387-405.
- Gopalan, H.N.B. and S. Saksena (eds.), 1999: Domestic environment and health of women and children. Replika Press, Delhi.
- Gritsevich, I., 2000: Motivation and decision criteria in private households, companies and administration on energy efficiency in Russia. In Proceedings of the IPCC Expert Meeting on Conceptual Frameworks for Mitigation Assessment from the Perspective of Social Science, 21-22 March 2000, Karlsruhe, Germany.
- Grubb, M., 1991: Energy policies and the greenhouse effect. Vol. 1: Policy appraisal. Dartmouth, Aldershot.
- Grubb, M., C. Vrolijk, and D. Brack, 2002: The Kyoto Protocol. A Guide and Assessment. 2nd ed. Harvest-Print, Moscow, 2 ed.
- Gutschner, M. and Task-7 Members, 2001: Potential for building integrated photovoltaics. International Energy Agency, Photovoltaic Power Systems Programme, Task 7, Paris, Summary available from <www.iea-pvps.org>, accessed on July 3, 2007.
- Haller, A., E. Schweizer, P.O. Braun, and K. Voss, 1997: Transparent insulation in building renovation. James & James, London, 16 pp.
- Hamada, Y., M. Nakamura, K. Ochifuji, S. Yokoyama, and K. Nagano, 2003: Development of a database of low energy homes around the world and analysis of their trends. Renewable Energy, 28, pp. 321-328.
- Hamburger-bildungsserver, 2006: <a href="http://www.hamburger-bildungsserver.de/index.phtml?site=themen.klima">http://www.hamburger-bildungsserver.de/index.phtml?site=themen.klima</a>, accessed on July 3, 2007.
- Harmelink, M., S. Joosen, and J. Harnisch, 2005: Cost-effectiveness of non-CO<sub>2</sub> greenhouse gas emission reduction measures implemented in the period 1990-2003. Ecofys, on behalf of SenterNovem.
- Harris, J. and F. Johnson, 2000: Potential energy, cost, and CO<sub>2</sub> savings from energy-efficient government purchasing. In *Proceedings of the* ACEEE Summer Study on Energy-efficient Buildings, Asilomar, CA.
- Harris, J., M. Brown, J. Deakin, S. Jurovics, A. Kahn and E. Wisniewski, J. Mapp and B. Smith, M. Podeszwa, A. Thomas, 2004: Energy-efficient purchasing by state and local government: triggering a landslide down the slippery slope to market transformation. In *Proceedings of the 2004 ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings*, Asilomar, CA.
- Harris, J., B. Aebischer, J. Glickman, G. Magnin, A. Meier and J. Vliegand, 2005: Public sector leadership: Transforming the market for efficient products and services. In *Proceedings of the 2005 ECEEE Summer Study: Energy savings: What works & who delivers?* Mandelieu, France.

- Harvey, L.D.D., 2006: A Handbook on low-energy buildings and district energy systems: fundamentals, techniques, and examples. James and James, London.
- Harvey, L.D.D., 2007: Net climatic impact of solid foam insulation produced with halocarbon and non-halocarbon blowing agents. *Buildings and Environment*, 42(8), pp. 2860-2879.
- Hassett, K. and G. Metcalf, 1993: Energy conservation investments: do consumers discount the future correctly? *Energy Policy*, 21(6), pp. 710-716.
- Hastings, S.R., 1994: Passive solar commercial and institutional buildings: a sourcebook of examples and design insights. John Wiley, Chichester, 454 pp.
- Hastings, S.R., 2004: Breaking the 'heating barrier'. Learning from the first houses without conventional heating. *Energy and Buildings*, 36, pp. 373-380.
- Herring, H., 2006: Energy efficiency a critical view. *Energy*, **31**(1), pp. 10-20.
- Hestnes, A.G., R. Hastings, and B. Saxhof (eds.), 2003: Solar energy houses: strategies, technologies, examples, Second Edition. James & James, London, 202 pp.
- Hicks, T.W. and B. von Neida, 1999: An evaluation of America's first ENERGY STAR Buildings: the class of 1999. In ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, pp. 4177-4185.
- Holford, J.M. and G.R. Hunt, 2003: Fundamental atrium design for natural ventilation. *Building and Environment*, 38, pp. 409-426.
- Holt, S., L. Harrington, 2003: Lessons learnt from Australia's standards and labelling programme. In *ECEEE summer study 2003*, ECEEE.
- Howe, M., D. Holland, and A. Livchak, 2003: Displacement ventilation -Smart way to deal with increased heat gains in the telecommunication equipment room. ASHRAE Transactions, 109(Part 1), pp. 323-327.
- Hughes, P.J. and J.A. Shonder, 1998: The evaluation of a 4000-home geothermal heat pump retrofit at Fort Polk, Louisiana: Final Report. Oak Ridge National Laboratory.
- Humm, O., 2000: Ecology and economy when retrofitting apartment buildings. *IEA Heat Pump Centre Newsletter*, 15(4), pp. 17-18.
- Hyvarinen, J., 1991: Cost benefit assessment methods for BEMS. International Energy Agency Annex 16, Building and Energy Management Systems: User Guidance. AIVC, Coventry, U.K.
- IBEC, 2006: Institute for Building Environment and Energy Conservation [website] <a href="http://www.ibec.or.jp/CASBEE/english/index.htm">http://www.ibec.or.jp/CASBEE/english/index.htm</a>, accessed on July 3, 2007.
- **IEA**, 1997: The link between energy and human activity. International Energy Agency.
- IEA, 2000: Daylighting in buildings: A sourcebook on daylighting systems and components. International Energy Agency Available from Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory (eetd.lbl.gov) as LBNL-47493.
- **IEA**, 2001: Things that go blip in the night. Standby power and how to limit it. International Energy Agency, Paris.
- **IEA**, 2002: Energy conservation in buildings and community systems programme strategic plan 2002-2007. International Energy Agency.
- IEA, 2003a: Cool appliances: policy strategies for energy efficient homes. International Energy Agency, Paris.
- IEA, 2003b: Trends in photovoltaic applications: survey report of selected IEA countries between 1992 and 2002. International Energy Agency, Photovoltaic Power Systems Programme, Task 1, Paris, <www.ieapvps.org>, accessed on July 3, 2007.
- **IEA**, 2004a: *Dealing with Climate Change, policies and measures database.* IEA, Paris.
- IEA, 2004b: Energy Balances of Non-OECD Countries. IEA, Paris.
- IEA, 2004c: Energy Conservation in Buildings & Community Systems. Annual report 2002-2003, Birmingham, UK.
- IEA, 2004d: IEA RD&D database. Edition 2004 with 2003 data. IEA, Paris.
- IEA, 2004e: World Energy Outlook 2004. IEA, Paris.
- IEA, 2004f: 30 Years of energy use in IEA countries. IEA, Paris.

- IEA, 2005: Saving electricity in a hurry dealing with temporary shortfalls in electricity supplies. International Energy Agency, Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, Paris.
- IEA, 2006a: *Energy prices and taxes*. Quarterly Statistics. Second quarter, 2006, OECD/IEA, Paris.
- IEA, 2006b: *Light's Labour's Lost*. Policies for energy-efficient lighting. IEA, Paris.
- IEA, 2006c: *IEA RD&D database*. Edition 2006 with 2005 data. IEA, Paris.
- IEA, 2006d: Energy Technology Perspectives. IEA, Paris.
- IEA, 2006e: World Energy Outlook 2006. IEA, Paris.
- IPCC, 1996: Climate Change 1995 Economic and social dimensions of climate change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Second Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. J.P. Bruce, H. Lee, and E.F. Haites [eds]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 448 pp.
- **IPCC**, 2000: Emissions Scenarios: Special Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC).
- IPCC, 2001: Climate Change 2001: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). B. Metz, O. Davidson, R. Swart, and J. Pan [eds.]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 752 pp.
- **IPCC/TEAP,** 2005: Safeguarding the ozone layer and the global climate system: Issues related to hydrofluorocarbons and perfluorocarbons. Special Report, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 478 pp.
- ITDG, 2002: Smoke, health and household energy. Issues Paper compiled for DFID - EngKaR, (project no. R8021 Liz Bates - September 2002).
- Izrael, Yu.A., S.I. Avdjushin, I.M. Nazarov, Yu.A. Anokhin, A.O. Kokorin, A.I. Nakhutin, and A.F. Yakovlev, 1999: Russian Federation Climate Change Country Study. Climate Change, Action Plan. Final Report. Russian Federal Service for Hydrometeorology and Environmental Monitoring: Moscow.
- Jaboyedoff, P., C.A. Roulet, V. Dorer, A. Weber, and A. Pfeiffer, 2004: Energy in air-handling units - results of the AIRLESS European project. *Energy and Buildings*, 36, pp. 391-399.
- Jaccard, M.K. and Associates, 2002: Construction and analysis of sectoral, regional and national cost curves of GHG abatement of Canada. Part IV: Final Analysis Report. Submitted to Michel Francoeur of Natural Resources Canada, Vancouver. Contract No: NRCan-01-0332.
- Jäger-Waldau, A. (ed), 2004: Status Report 2004 Energy end use efficiency and electricity from biomass, wind and photovoltaics and in the European Union.
- Jakob, M. and R. Madlener, 2004: Riding down the experience curve for energy efficient building envelopes: the Swiss case for 1970-2020. *International Journal of Energy Technology and Policy*, 2(1-2), pp. 153-178.
- Jakob, M., 2006: Marginal costs and co-benefits of energy efficiency investments. The case of the Swiss residential sector. *Energy Policy*, 34(2), pp. 172-187.
- Jakob, M., E. Jochem, and K. Christen, 2002: Marginal costs and benefits of heat loss protection in residential buildings. Swiss Federal Office of Energy (BFE).
- Jakob, M., Jochem, E., Honegger, A., Baumgartner, Menti, U., Plüss, I., 2006: Grenzkosten bei forcierten. Energie-Effizienzmassnahmen und optimierter Gebäudetechnik bei Wirtschaftsbauten (Marginal costs of Energy-efficiency measures and improved building technology for buildings of the commercial sectors). CEPE ETH Zurich, Amstein+Walthert, HTA Luzern on behalf of Swiss Federal Office of Energy (SFOE), Zürich/Bern.
- Jeeninga, H. and M.G. Boots, 2001: Development of the domestic energy consumption in the liberalised energy market, effects on purchase and use behavior. ECN Beleidsstudies, Petten, the Netherlands.
- Jeeninga, H., C. Weber, I. Mäenpää, F.R. García, V. Wiltshire, and J. Wade, 1999: Employment impacts of energy conservation schemes in the residential sector. Calculation of direct and indirect employment effects using a dedicated input/output simulation approach.

- Jefferson, M., 2000: Energy policies for sustainable development. In *World Energy Assessment: Energy and the challenge of sustainability*. UNDP, New York, 425 pp.
- Jennings, J.D., F.M. Rubinstein, D. DiBartolomeo, and S.L. Blanc, 2000: Comparison of control options in private offices in an advanced lighting controls testbed. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, 26 pp.
- Jochem, E. and R. Madlener, 2003: The forgotten benefits of climate change mitigation: Innovation, technological leapfrogging, employment, and sustainable development. In Workshop on the Benefits of Climate Policy: Improving Information for Policy Makers.
- Johnson, W.S., 2002: Field tests of two residential direct exchange geothermal heat pumps. ASHRAE Transactions, 108(Part 2), pp. 99-106.
- Jones, D.W., D.J. Bjornstad, and L.A. Greer, 2002: Energy efficiency, building productivity, and the commercial buildings market. Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, TN.
- **Johnston**, D., R. Lowe, M. Bell, 2005: An exploration of the technical feasibility of achieving CO<sub>2</sub> emission reductions in excess of 60% within the UK housing stock by the year 2050. *Energy Policy* (33), pp. 1643-1659.
- Joosen, S., K. Blok, 2001: Economic evaluation of sectoral emission reduction objectives for climate change. Economic evaluation of carbon dioxide emission reduction in the household and services sectors in the EU. Bottom-up analysis, European Commission by Ecofys, 44 pp. <a href="http://europa.eu.int/comm/environment/envecos">http://europa.eu.int/comm/environment/envecos</a>, accessed on July 5, 2007.
- Joosen, S., 2006: Evaluation of the Dutch energy performance standard in the residential and services sector. Ecofys report prepared within Energy Intelligence for Europe program, contract number EIE-2003-114, Utrecht, the Netherlands.
- Joosen, S., M. Harmelink, and K. Blok, 2004: Evaluation climate policy in the built environment 1995-2002. Ecofys report prepared for Dutch ministry of housing, spatial planning and the environment, Utrecht, the Netherlands, 235 pp.
- Kallaste, T., T. Pallo, M.-P. Esop, O. Liik, M. Valdma, M. Landsberg, A. Ots, V. Selg, A. Purin, A. Martins, I. Roos, A. Kull, and R. Rost, 1999: *Economics of GHG Limitations. Country Case Study. Estonia.* UNEP Collaborating Centre for Energy and Environment, Riso National Laboratory, Denmark.
- Karakezi, S. and T. Ranja, 2002: Renewable energy technologies in Africa. Zed Books Ltd, London and New Jersey.
- Katipamula, S., R.G. Pratt, D.P. Chassin, Z.T. Taylor, K. Gowri, and M.R. Brambley, 1999: Automated fault detection and diagnostics for outdoor-air ventilation systems and economizers: Methodology and results from field testing. ASHRAE transactions. 105(1), pp. 555-567.
- Kawamoto, K., J. Koomey, B. Nordman, R.E. Brown, M.A. Piette, M. Ting, and A.K. Meier, 2001: Electricity used by office equipment and network equipment in the U.S., Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA.
- **KfW Group,** 2006: The CO<sub>2</sub> Building Rehabilitation Programme <a href="http://www.kfw-foerderbank.de/EN\_Home/Housing\_Construction/KfWCO2Buil.jsp">http://www.kfw-foerderbank.de/EN\_Home/Housing\_Construction/KfWCO2Buil.jsp</a>, accessed on July 3, 2007.
- Kjellman, C.R., R.G. Haasl, and C.A. Chappell, 1996: Evaluating commissioning as an energy-saving measure. ASHRAE Transactions, 102(1).
- Kohlhaas, M., 2005: Gesamtwirtschaftliche Effekte der ökologischen Steuerreform. (Macroeconomic effects of the ecological tax reform) DIW, Berlin, 2006.
- Koomey, J.G., C.A. Webber, C.S. Atkinson, and A. Nicholls, 2001: Addressing energy-related challenges for the U.S. buildings sector: results from the clean energy futures study. *Energy Policy* (also LBNL-47356), 29(14), pp. 1209-1222.
- Koomey, J., and F. Krause, 1989: Unit costs of carbon savings from urban trees, Rural trees, and electricity conservation: a utility cost perspective, Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory LBL-27872, Presented at the Heat Island Workshop LBL-27311.

- Koran, W.E., 1994: Expanding the scope of commissioning: monitoring shows the benefits. ASHRAE Transactions, 100(1), pp. 1393-1399.
- Kostengünstige Passivhäuser als europäische Standards, 2005: <www. cepheus.de>, accessed July 3, 2007.
- Krapmeier, H. and E. Drössler (eds.), 2001: CEPHEUS: Living comfort without heating. Springer-Verlag, Vienna, 139 pp.
- Kushler, M., D. York, P. Witte, 2004: Five years. In An examination of the first half decade of Public Benefits Energy Efficiency Policies. American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy Main Report and appendices, Report: U042, April 2004, <a href="http://www.aceee.org/pubs/u041.pdf">http://www.aceee.org/pubs/ u041.pdf</a>>, accessed on July 5, 2007.
- Laitner, S., S. Bernow, and J. DeCicco, 1998: Employment and other macroeconomic benefits of an innovation-led climate strategy for the United States. *Energy Policy*, 26(5), pp. 425-432.
- Lampietti, J.A., A.S. Meyer, 2003: Coping with the cold: Heating strategies for Eastern Europe and Central Asia's urban poor, World Bank Report.
- Larsson, N., 2001: Canadian green building strategies. The 18th International Conference on Passive and Low Energy Architecture. Florianopolis, Brazil.
- Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, 2004: China Energy Databook. Version 6, 2006.
- Leaman, A. and B. Bordass, 1999: Productivity in buildings: the 'killer' variables. *Building Research & Information*, 27(1), pp. 4-19.
- Lebot, B., A. Meier, and A. Anglade, 2000: Global implications of standby power use. In ACEEE Summer study on energy efficiency in buildings, ACEEE, Asilomar, CA.
- Lechtenbohmer, S., V. Grimm, D. Mitze, S. Thomas, M. Wissner, 2005: Target 2020: Policies and measures to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in the EU. WWF European Policy Office, Wuppertal.
- Lee, E.S., D.L. DiBartolomeo, and S.E. Selkowitz, 1998: Thermal and daylighting performance of an automated Venetian blind and lighting system in a full-scale private office. *Energy and Buildings*, 29, pp. 47-63.
- Lee, W.L. and F.W. Yik, 2004: Regulatory and voluntary approaches for enhancing building energy efficiency. *Progress in Energy and Combustion Science*, 30, 477-499.
- Lees, E., 2006: Evaluation of the energy efficiency commitment 2002-05.
- Le Fur, B., 2002 : *Panorama des dispositifs d'économie d'énergie en place dans les pays de L'Union Européenne*. Club d'Amélioration de l'Habitat, Paris.
- Lehrer, D. and F. Bauman, 2003: Hype vs. reality: new research findings on underfloor air distribution systems. In *Greenbuild 2003*, November 2003, Pittsburgh, PA, 12 pp.
- Lenzen, M. and G. Treloar, 2002: Embodied energy in buildings: wood versus concrete - reply to Börjesson and Gustavsson. *Energy Policy*, 30, pp. 249-255.
- Leutgöb, K., 2003: The role of energy agencies in developing the 'classical' EPC-market in Austria. In *Proceedings of First Pan-European Conference on Energy Services Companies: Creating the Market for Energy Services Companies (ESCOs) Industry in Europe.* Milan (Italy), 22-23 May 2003.
- **Levermore,** G., D. Chow, P. Jones, and D. Lister, 2004: Accuracy of modelled extremes of temperature and climate change and its implications for the built environment in the UK. Technical Report 14. Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research.
- Levermore, G.J., 1985: Monitoring and targeting; motivation and training. In *Energy Management Experience Conference*, A.F.C. Sherratt (ed.), CICC, Cambridge, UK, pp. 21-30.
- Levermore, G.J., 2000: Building energy management systems; application to low-energy HVAC and natural ventilation control. Second edition. E&FN Spon, Taylor & Francis Group, London.
- Li, D.H.W. and J.C. Lam, 2003: An investigation of daylighting performance and energy saving in a daylight corridor. *Energy and Buildings*, 35, pp. 365-373.

- LIHEAP, 2005: Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program <a href="http://www.liheap.ncat.org/Funding/lhemhist.htm">http://www.liheap.ncat.org/Funding/lhemhist.htm</a>, accessed April 12, 2007, US Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Families and Children.
- Lin, Z. and S. Deng, 2004: A study on the characteristics of night time bedroom cooling load in tropics and subtropics. *Building and Environment*, **39**, pp. 1101-1114.
- Lindenberger, D., T. Bruckner, H.M. Groscurth, and R. Kümmel, 2000: Optimization of solar district heating systems: seasonal storage, heat pumps, and cogeneration. *Energy*, **25**, pp. 591-608.
- Lippke, B., J. Wilson, J. Perez-Garcia, J. Bowyer, and J. Meil, 2004: CORRIM: life-cycle environmental performance of renewable building materials. *Forest Products Journal*, 54(6), pp. 8-19.
- Liu, M. and D.E. Claridge, 1999: Converting dual-duct constant-volume systems to variable-volume systems without retrofitting the terminal boxes. ASHRAE Transactions, 105(1), pp. 66-70.
- Lovins, A., 1992: Energy-efficient buildings: Institutional barriers and opportunities. Strategic Issues Paper, E-Source, Inc., Boulder, CO.
- Lutzenhiser, L., 1993: Social and behavioral aspects of energy use. *Annual Review of Energy and Environment*, 18.
- Mansur, E., R. Mendelsohn, and W. Morrison, 2005: A discrete-continuous choice model of climate change impacts on energy. Technical paper.
- **Margaree Consultants (ed.),** 2003: Estimating the market potential for the clean development mechanism: Review of models and lessons learned. Washington D.C.
- Martinsen, D., P. Markewitz, and S. Vögele, 2002: Roads to carbon reduction in Germany. International Workshop by Energy Modelling Forum, IEA and IIASA, 24-26 June 2003, Laxenburg, Austria <a href="http://www.iiasa.ac.at/Research/ECS/IEW2003/Papers/2003P\_martinsen">http:// www.iiasa.ac.at/Research/ECS/IEW2003/Papers/2003P\_martinsen</a>. pdf>, accessed on July 5, 2007.
- Markandya, 2000: Energy subsidy reform: an integrated framework to assess the direct and indirect environmental, economics and social costs and benefits of energy subsidy reform. Working paper prepared on behalf of UNEP, Division of Technology, Industry and Economics, December 2000.
- Martin, Y. and Y. Carsalade, 1998: La maîtrise de l'énergie. La documentation Française, January 1998.
- McConahey, E., P. Haves, and T. Christ, 2002: The integration of engineering and architecture: a perspective on natural ventilation for the new San Francisco federal building. In *Proceedings of the 2002* ACEEE Summer study on energy efficiency in buildings, August, Asilomar, CA.
- McCowan, B., T. Coughlin, P. Bergeron, and G. Epstein., 2002: High performance lighting options for school facilities. In 2002 ACEEE Summer study on energy efficiency in buildings, American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy, Washington, pp. 253-268.
- McMahon, J.F. and S. Wiel, 2001: Energy efficiency labels and standards: A guidebook for appliances, equipment and lighting. LBNL, Environmental Energy Technologies Division, 237 pp.
- Menanteau, P., 2001: Are voluntary agreements an alternative policy to efficiency standards for transforming the electrical appliances market. In *European Council for Energy Efficient Economy (ECEEE) summer study*, ECEEE, Stockholm.
- Mestl, S.H., K. Aunan, F. Jinghua, H.M. Seip, J.M. Skjelvik, and H. Vennemo, 2005: Cleaner production as climate investment - integrated assessment in Taiyuan City, China. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 13, pp. 57-70.
- Meyers, S., J.E. McMahon, M. McNeil, and X. Liu, 2002: Impacts of US federal energy efficiency standards for residential appliances. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory.
- Michaelowa, A. and F. Jotzo, 2005: Transaction costs, institutional rigidities and the size of the clean development mechanism. *Energy Policy*, 33, pp. 511-523.
- Mills, E., 2005: The specter of fuel-based lighting. *Science*, **308**(27 May), pp. 1263-1264.

- Mills, E., H. Friedman, T. Powell, N. Bourassa, D. Claridge, T. Haasl, and M.A. Piette, 2005: The cost-effectiveness of commercial-buildings commissioning: a meta-analysis of 224 case studies. *Journal of Architectural Engineering* (October 2005), pp. 20-24.
- Mirasgedis, S., E. Georgopoulou, Y. Sarafidis, C. Balaras, A. Gaglia, and D.P. Lalas, 2004: CO<sub>2</sub> emission reduction policies in the Greek residential sector: a methodological framework for their economic evaluation. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 45, pp. 537-557.
- Mirasgedis, S., Y. Sarafidis, E. Georgopoulou, V. Kotroni, K. Lagouvardos, and D.P. Lalas, 2006: Modeling Framework for estimating the impacts of climate change on electricity demand at regional level: case of Greece, energy conversion and management.
- **Moezzi**, M. and I. Maithili, 2002: What else is transferred along with energy efficiency? In 2004 ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, ACEEE Press, Washington, D.C.
- **Moezzi**, M. and R. Diamond, 2005: Is efficiency enough? Towards a new framework for carbon savings in the California residential sector. California Energy Commission.
- Murakami, S., M.D. Levine, H. Yoshino, T. Inoue, T. Ikaga, Y. Shimoda, S. Miura, T. Sera, M. Nishio, Y. Sakamoto and W. Fujisaki, 2006: Energy consumption, efficiency, conservation and greenhouse gas mitigation in Japan's building sector. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, LBNL-60424.
- Murakoshi, C. and H. Nakagami, 2003: Present condition of ESCO business for carrying out climate change countermeasures in Japan. In *Proceedings of the ECEEE 2003 summer study*, European Council for Energy Efficient Economy, Stockholm, pp. 885-892.
- **Murakoshi**, C. and H. Nakagami, 2005: New challenges of Japanese energy efficiency program by Top Runner approach.
- NAEEEC, 2006: National appliance & equipment energy efficiency program.
- National Bureau of Statistics, 2004: China Energy Statistical Yearbook (2000-2002). China Statistics Press, Beijing.
- Nevin, R. and G. Watson, 1998: Evidence of rational market valuations for home energy efficiency. *Appraisal Journal*, October, pp. 401-409.
- Niu, J.L., L.Z. Zhang, and H.G. Zuo, 2002: Energy savings potential of chilled-ceiling combined with desiccant cooling in hot and humid climates. *Energy and Buildings*, 34, pp. 487-405.
- Novikova, A., D. Ürge-Vorsatz, and C. Liang, 2006: The 'Magic' of the Kyoto Mechanisms: Will it work for buildings? American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy Summer Study 2006. California, USA.
- Oak Ridge National Laboratory, 2001: Improving the methods used to evaluate voluntary energy efficiency. Programs Report for DOE and EPA, <a href="http://www.ornl.gov/~webworks/cppr/y(2001/pres/111104">http://www.ornl.gov/~webworks/cppr/y(2001/pres/111104</a>. pdf>, accessed on July 5, 2007.
- **OECD**, 2001: Working Party on development cooperation and environment policy guidance for strategies for sustainable development. Draft Document. DCD/DAC/ENV(2001)9, March 2001.
- **OECD**, 2003: Environmentally sustainable buildings Challenges and policies.
- **OECD/IEA**, 2004: Coming from the cold. Improving district heating policy in transition economies, OECD/IEA, Paris.
- **Oikonomou,** V., M. Patel, L. Muncada, T. Johnssons, and U. Farinellie, 2004: A qualitative analysis of White, Green Certificates and EU CO<sub>2</sub> allowances, Phase II of the White and Green project. Utrecht University Copernicus Institute and contribution of Lund University Sweden, Utrecht, the Netherlands.
- **O'Neal,** D.L., A. Rodriguez, M. Davis, and S. Kondepudi, 2002: Return air leakage impact on air conditioner performance in humid climates. *Journal of Solar Energy Engineering*, **124**, pp. 63-69.
- **OPET Network,** 2004: OPET building European research project: final reports <a href="http://www.managenergy.net/indexes/I315.htm">http://www.managenergy.net/indexes/I315.htm</a>>, accessed on July 5, 2007.
- **Ostertag,** K., 2003: No-regret potentials in energy conservation An analysis of their relevance, size and determinants. Physica-Verlag, Heidelberg, New York.

- Ott, W., M. Jakob, M. Baur, Y. Kaufmann, A. Ott, and A. Binz, 2005: Mobilisierung der energetischen Erneuerungspotenziale im Wohnbaubestand. On behalf of the research program Energiewirtschaftliche Grundlagen (EWG) of the Swiss Federal Office of Energy (SFOE), Bern.
- **PNNL and CENEf**, 2004: National inventory of energy-related emissions of greenhouse gases in Russia. Moscow.
- Parker, P., I.H. Rowlands, and D. Scott, 2000: Assessing the potential to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in Waterloo region houses: Is the Kyoto target possible? *Environments*, 28(3), pp. 29-56.
- Payne, A., R. Duke, and R.H. Williams., 2001: Accelerating residential PV expansion: supply analysis for competitive electricity markets. *Energy Policy*, 29, pp. 787-800.
- **Petersdorff,** C., T. Boermans, J. Harnisch, S. Joosen, F. Wouters, 2005: Cost effective climate protection in the building stock of the New EU Member States. Beyond the EU Energy perfomance of Buildings Directive. ECOFYS, Germany.
- Peuser, F.A., K.H. Remmers, and M. Schnauss, 2002: Solar thermal systems: Successful planning and construction. James & James & Solarprazis, Berlin, 364 pp.
- Price, L., S. De la Rue du Can, S. Sinton, E. Worrell, N. Zhou, J. Sathaye, and M. Levine, 2006: Sectoral trends in global energy use and greenhouse gas emissions. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA.
- Quinlan, P., H. Geller, S. Nadel, 2001: Tax incentives for innovative energy-efficient technologies (updated). American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy, Washington D.C. Report Number E013.
- **RAO**, 2006: Electricity prices for households. United Energy Systems of Russia, <<u>http://www.rao-ees.ru/ru/info/about/main\_gacts/show.cgi?tarif1204.htm</u>>, accessed on December 5, 2006.
- **Reddy,** A., 1991: Barriers to improvements in energy efficiency. Paper presented at the International Workshop on Reducing Carbon Emissions from the Developing World.
- Reddy, B.S., and P. Balachandra, 2006: Dynamics of technology shift in the households sector implications for clean development mechanism. *Energy Policy*, 34(2006), pp. 2586-2599.
- Reinhart, C.F., 2002: Effects of interior design on the daylight availability in open plan offices. In 2002 ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy, Washington, pp. 309-322.
- Reinhart, C.F., K. Voss, A. Wagner, and G. Löhnert, 2000: Lean buildings: Energy efficient com-mercial buildings in Germany. In *Proceedings* of the 2000 ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy, pp. 257-298.
- REN21, 2005: Renewables 2005 Global Status Report. Renewable Energy Policy Network, Worldwatch Institute, Washington D.C.
- **Rezessy,** S. and P. Bertoldi, 2005: Are voluntary agreements an effective energy policy instrument? Insights and experiences from Europe. In *American Council for Energy Efficient Economy (ACEEE) Summer Study on energy efficiency in industry*, ACEEE.
- Rezessy, S., K. Dimitrov, D. Ürge-Vorsatz, and S. Baruch, 2006: Municipalities and energy efficiency in countries in transition: Review of factors that determine municipal involvement in the markets for energy services and energy efficient equipment, or how to augment the role of municipalities as market players. *Energy Policy*, 34(2), pp. 223-237.
- **Rezessy,** S., P. Bertoldi, J. Adnot, and M. Dupont, 2005: Energy service companies in Europe: assembling the puzzle. In *Preliminary analysis of the results to date from the first European ESCO database*, ECEEE summer study.
- Roberts, S., and W. Baker, 2003: Towards effective energy information. Improving consumer feedback on energy consumption. Center for sustainable energy. Con/Spec/2003/16, <a href="http://www.cse.org.uk/pdf/">http://www.cse.org.uk/pdf/</a> pub1014.pdf>, accessed on July, 2007.
- **Rosenfeld,** A.H., 1999: The art of energy efficiency: Protecting the environment with better technology. *Annual Review of Energy and the Environment*, **24**, pp. 33-82.

- Rosenfeld, A.H., H. Akbari, J.J. Romm, and M. Pomerantz, 1998: Cool communities: strategies for heat island mitigation and smog reduction. *Energy and Buildings*, 28, pp. 51-62.
- Ross, J.P. and A. Meier., 2002: Measurements of whole-house standby power consumption in California homes. *Energy*, 27, pp. 861-868.
- Roth, K.W., F. Goldstein, and J. Kleinman, 2002: Energy consumption by office and telecommunications equipment in commercial buildings. Volume 1: Energy Consumption Baseline, Arthur D. Little Inc., Cambridge (MA), 201 pp. <a href="http://www.eere.energy.gov/buildings/info/documents/pdfs/office\_telecom-vol1\_final.pdf">http://www.eere.energy.gov/buildings/ info/documents/pdfs/office\_telecom-vol1\_final.pdf</a>>, accessed on July 3, 2007.
- Roth, K., P. Llana, W. Detlef, and J. Brodrick, 2005: Automated whole building diagnostics. *ASHRAE Journal*, **47**(5).
- Rubinstein, F. and S. Johnson, 1998: Advanced lighting program development (BG9702800) Final Report. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, California, 28 pp.
- Safarzadeh, H. and M.N. Bahadori, 2005: Passive cooling effects of courtyards. *Building and Environment*, 40, pp. 89-104.
- Saikawa, M., K. Hashimoto, M. Itoh, H. Sakakibara, and T. Kobayakawa, 2001: Development of CO<sub>2</sub> heat pump water heater for residential use. *Transactions of Japan Society of Refrigeration and Air Conditioning Engineers*, 18(3), pp. 225-232.
- Sailor, D., 2001: Relating residential and commercial sector electricity loads to climate-evaluating state level sensitivities and vulnerabilities. *Energy 2001*, 26(7), pp. 645-657.
- Sailor, D.J., 2002: Urban Heat Island: Opportunities and challenges for mitigation and adaptation. Toronto-North American Heat Island Summit, Portland State University.
- Sathaye, J. and S. Meyers, 1995: Greenhouse gas mitigation assessment: a guidebook. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht/Boston/London.
- Schaefer, C., C. Weber, H. Voss-Uhlenbrock, A. Schuler, F. Oosterhuis, E. Nieuwlaar, R. Angioletti, E. Kjellsson, S. Leth-Petersen, M. Togeby, and J. Munksgaard, 2000: *Effective policy instruments for energy efficiency in residential space heating an International Empirical analysis.* University of Stuttgart, Institute for Energy.
- Schleich, J. and E. Gruber, 2007: Beyond case studies: Barriers to energy efficiency in commerce and the services sectors. *Energy Economics* (forthcoming).
- Schlomann, B., W. Eichhammer, and E. Gruber, 2001: Labelling of electrical appliances - An evaluation of the Energy Labelling Ordinance in Germany and resulting recommendations for energy efficiency policy. In Proceedings of the European Council for an Energy Efficient Economy (ECEEE), Summer Study 2001.
- Schweitzer, M. and L. Berry, 1999: Metaevaluation of National Weatherization Assistance Program based on State Studies, 1996-1998. Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, TN.
- Scott, S., 1997: Household energy efficiency in Ireland: A replication study of ownership of energy saving items. *Energy Economics*, 19, pp. 187-208.
- Seefeldt, F., 2003: Energy Performance Contracting success in Austria and Germany - dead end for Europe? In Proceedings of the European Council for Energy Efficient Economy 2003 Summer Study. European Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy, Stockholm.
- Sherman, M.H. and D.A. Jump., 1997: Thermal energy conservation in buildings. In CRC Handbook of Energy Efficiency. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, pp. 269-303.
- **Shipworth**, M., 2000: *Motivating home energy action A handbook of what works*. The Australian Greenhouse Office.
- Shonder, J.A., M.A. Martin, H.A. McLain, and P.J. Hughes, 2000: Comparative analysis of life-cycle costs of geothermal heat pumps and three conventional HVAC systems. *ASHRAE Transactions*, **106**(Part 2), pp. 51-560.
- Shorrock, L., 2001: Assessing the effect of grants for home energy efficiency improvements. In Proceedings of the European Council for an Energy Efficient Economy (ECEEE) Summer Study 2001.
- SIA, 2006: A Swiss building standard no.380/4, information available at </br><td

- Singer, T., 2002: IEA DSM Task X- Performance Contracting- Country Report: United States. International Energy Agency, Paris.
- Sinton, J.E., K.R. Smith, J.W. Peabody, L. Yaping, Z. Xiliang, R. Edwards, and G. Quan, 2004: An assessment of programs to promote improved household stoves in China. *Energy for Sustainable Development*, 8(3), pp. 33-52.
- Smith, D.L. and J.J. McCullough, 2001: Alternative code implementation strategies for states <a href="http://www.energycodes.gov/implement/pdfs/strategies.pdf">http://www.energycodes.gov/implement/pdfs/ strategies.pdf</a>>, accessed on July 3, 2007.
- Smith, K., S. Mehta, and M. Maeusezahl-Feuz, 2004: Indoor smoke from solid fuels. In *Comparative quantification of health risks: Global and regional burden of disease due to selected major risk factors*. World Health Organization, Geneva, pp. 1437-1495.
- Smith, K.R., R. Uma, V.V.N. Kishore, J. Zhang, V. Joshi, and M.A.K. Khalil, 2000: Greenhouse implications of household fuels: An analysis for India. *Annual Review of Energy and Environment*, 25, pp. 741-63.
- Socolow, R.H., 1978: Saving energy in the home: Princeton's experiments at Twin Rivers. Ballinger Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Sorrell, S., 2003: Who owns the carbon? Interactions between the EU Emissions Trading Scheme and the UK Renewables Obligation and Energy Efficiency Commitment. *Energy and Environment*, 14(5), pp. 677-703.
- Springer, D., G. Loisos, and L. Rainer, 2000: Non-compressor cooling alternatives for reducing residential peak load. In 2000 ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy, Washington, pp. 319-330.
- Suriyamongkol, D., 2002: Non-technical losses in electrical power systems.
- Swedish Energy Agency, 2004: Energy in Sweden: Facts and figures 2004. Swedish Energy Agency, Eskilstuna, 40 pp.
- Szlavik, M., T. Palvolgyi, D. Urge-Vorsatz, M. Fule, B. Bakoss, G. Bartus, M. Bulla, M. Csutora, K. Czimber, M. Fule, P. Kaderjak, K. Kosi, Z. Lontay, Z. Somogyi, K. Staub, L. Szendrodi, J. Szlavik, T. Tajthy, L. Valko, and G. Zilahy, 1999: *Economics of GHG Limitations. Country Case Study. Hungary.* UNEP Collaborating Centre for Energy and Environment, Riso National Laboratory: Denmark.
- Tangen, K. and G. Heggelund, 2003: Will the Clean Development Mechanism be effectively implemented in China? *Climate Policy*, 3(3), pp. 303-307.
- Taylor, P.B., E.H. Mathews, M. Kleingeld, and G.W. Taljaard, 2000: The effect of ceiling insulation on indoor comfort. *Building and Environment*, **35**, pp. 339-346.
- **The Energy Conservation Act,** 2001: Extraordinary. Part II. Section 1(October-1): Chapter I, IV and The schedule. The Gazette of India.
- Thorne, J. and C. Egan, 2002: An evaluation of the federal trade commission's energy guide appliance label: Final Report and Recommendations. ACEEE, pp. 39, <a href="http://aceee.org/Pubs/a021full.pdf/">http://aceee.org/Pubs/a021full. pdf/</a>>, accessed on July 3, 2007.
- Todesco, G., 2004: Integrated design and HVAC equipment sizing. ASHRAE Journal, 46(9), pp. S42-S47.
- **Turnbull**, P.W. and G.A. Loisos, 2000: Baselines and barriers: Current design practices in daylighting. In *ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings*, American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy, Washington, pp. 329-336.
- Ueno, T., F. Sano, O. Saeki, and K. Tsuji, 2006: Effectiveness of an energyconsumption information system on energy savings in residential houses based on monitored data. *Applied Energy*, 83, pp. 166-183.
- UK government, 2006: Climate Change. The UK programme 2006, Crown.
- **UK/DEFRA**, 2004: Framework for sustainable development on the Government estate, Part E Energy. UK Sustainable Development Unit Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs.
- Ullah, M.B. and G. Lefebvre, 2000: Estimation of annual energy-saving contribution of an automated blind system. *ASHRAE Transactions*, **106**(Part 2), pp. 408-418.

- UN, 2002: Global challenge global opportunity. Trends in sustainable development. Published by The United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs for the World Summit on Sustainable Development Johannesburg, 26 August - 4 September, 2002, <a href="http://www.un.org/esa/sustdev/publications/critical\_trends\_report\_2002">http://www.un.org/esa/sustdev/publications/critical\_trends\_report\_2002</a>. pdf>, accessed on July 5, 2007.
- **UNEP,** 2000: The GHG Indicator: UNEP guidelines for calculating greenhouse gas emissions for businesses and non-commercial organisations. Geneva/Paris.
- **UNEP OECD/IEA,** 2002: Reforming energy subsidies, An explanatory summary of the issues and challenges in removing or modifying subsidies on energy that undermine the pursuit of sustainable development. UNEP Division of Technology, Industry and Economics.
- **UNFCCC NC1 of Croatia**, 2001: The first national communication of the Republic of Croatia to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). Ministry of Environmental Protection and Physical Planning of Croatia, Zagreb.
- **UNFCCC 3NC of Poland,** 2001: Republic of Poland. Third National Communication to the Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). Ministry of Environment and National Fund for Environmental Protection and Water Management of Poland, Institute of Environmental Protection, Warsaw.
- UNFCCC 3NC of Russia, 2002: Third National Communication to the Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) of the Russian Federation. Inter-Agency Climate Change Commission of the Russian Federation, Moscow.
- **UNFCCC**, 2006: Promotion of measures to limit HFC, PFC and SF6 emissions in Japan.
- **Ürge-Vorsatz**, D. and G. Miladinova, 2005: Energy efficiency policy in an enlarged European Union: the Eastern perspective. In *European Council for an energy efficient economy summer study*, pp. 253-265.
- **Ürge-Vorsatz,** D., G. Miladinova, and L. Paizs, 2006: Energy in transition: From the iron curtain to the European Union. *Energy Policy*, **34**, pp. 2279-2297.
- Ürge-Vorsatz, D., L. Mez, G. Miladinova, A. Antipas, M. Bursik, A. Baniak, J. Jánossy, D. Nezamoutinova, J. Beranek, and G. Drucker, 2003: The impact of structural changes in the energy sector of CEE countries on the creation of a sustainable energy path: Special focus on investments in environmentally friendly energies and impact of such a sustainable energy path on employment and access conditions for low income consumers. European Parliament, Luxembourg.
- **US Congress**, 2005: Energy Policy Act of 2005 (Public Law 109-58). Washington D.C.
- USDOE/EERE, 2005: Indicators of energy intensity in the United States. U.S. Department of Energy Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy.
- **USDOE**, 2006: Weatherization Assistance Program. U.S. Department of Energy Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy.
- USDOE/FEMP, 2005: FY 2004 Year in Review. U.S. Department of Energy, F.E.M.P.
- **US EPA**, 2005: Investing in our future. Energy Star and other voluntary programs, 2004 Annual report, United States Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D.C.
- **US EPA**, 2006: Clean Air Act. Washington, United States <a href="http://www.epa.gov/oar/caa/">http://www.epa.gov/oar/caa/</a>, accessed on July 3, 2007.
- Van Wie McGrory, L., J. Harris, M. Breceda Lapeyre, S. Campbell, M. della Cava, J. González Martínez, S. Meyer, and A.M. Romo, 2002: Market leadership by example: Government sector energy efficiency in developing countries. In *Proceedings: 2002 ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings.*
- Van Wie McGrory, L., D.Fridley, J. Harris, P. Coleman, R. Williams, E. Villasenor, and R. Rodriguez, 2006: Two paths to transforming markets through public sector energy efficiency bottom up versus top down. In *Proceedings: ACEEE 2005 Summer Study*.

- Verbruggen, A. and V. Bongaerts, 2003: Workshop documentation. In SAVE 2001 project, "Bringing energy services to the liberalized market (BEST)".
- Vine, E., J. Hanrin, N. Eyre, D. Crossley, M. Maloney, and G. Watt, 2003: Public policy analysis of energy efficiency and load management in changing electricity businesses. Energy Policy, 31, pp. 405-430.
- Vine, E., 2005: An international survey of the energy service company (ESCO) industry. *Energy Policy*, 33(5), pp. 691-704.
- VROM, 2006: Subsidy energy savings for low income households (Teli). VROM, (Ministry of Housing Spatial Planning and the Environment) the Netherlands.
- Voss, K., 2000a: Solar energy in building renovation results and experience of international demonstration buildings. *Energy and Buildings*, 32, pp. 291-302.
- Voss, K., 2000b: Solar renovation demonstration projects, results and experience. James & James, London, 24 pp.
- Webber, C., R. Brown, M. McWhinney, and J. Koomey, 2003: 2002 Status report: savings estimates for the energy star voluntary labeling program. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory.
- World Energy Council, 1999: The challenge of rural energy poverty in developing countries. World Energy Council and Food and Agriculture Organization, <a href="http://www.worldenergy.org/wec-geis/publications/">http://www.worldenergy.org/wec-geis/publications/</a> reports/rural/exec\_summary/exec\_summary.asp>, accessed on July 3, 2007, London.
- World Energy Council, 2001: Energy Efficiency Policies and Indicators. London.
- World Energy Council, 2004: Energy Efficiency: A Worldwide review. Indicators, Policies, Evaluation.
- Weiss, W., I. Bergmann, and G. Faninger, 2005: Solar heating worldwide, markets and contribution to the energy supply 2003. IEA Solar Heating and Cooling Programme, Graz, Austria.
- Western Regional Air Partnership, 2000: Air Pollution Prevention Meeting Summary <a href="http://wrapair.org/forums/ap2/meetings/000531/">http://wrapair.org/forums/ap2/meetings/000531/</a> 000531sum.html>, accessed on July 5, 2007.
- Westling, H., 2003: Performance contracting. Summary Report from the IEA DSM Task X within the IEA DSM Implementing Agreement. International Energy Agency, Paris.
- Wiel, S. and J.E. McMahon, 2005: Energy-efficiency labels and standards: a guidebook for appliances, equipment, and lighting. 2nd edition. Collaborative Labeling and Appliance Standards Program (CLASP). Washington D.C., CLASP.

- Winkler, H., R. Spalding-Fecher, and L. Tyani, 2002: Multi-project baseline for potential CDM projects in the electricity sector in South Africa. In *Developing Energy Solutions for Climate Change*. Energy & Development Research Centre: University of Cape Town, Cape Town.
- Withers, C.R. and J.B. Cummings, 1998: Ventilation, humidity, and energy impacts of uncontrolled airflow in a light commercial building. *ASHRAE Transactions*, **104**(2), pp. 733-742.
- Woerdman, E., 2000: Implementing the Kyoto protocol: Why JI and CDM show more promise than international emission trading. *Energy Policy*, 28(1), pp. 29-38.
- Wuppertal Institute, 2002: Bringing energy efficiency to the liberalised electricity and gas markets how energy companies and others can assist end-users in improving energy efficiency, and how policy can reward such action. Wuppertal: Wuppertal Inst. für Klima, Umwelt, Energie.
- XENERGY, 2001: Impact analysis of the Massachusetts 1998 residential energy code revisions. Prepared for the Massachusetts Board of Building Regulations and Standards, Boston.
- Yanagihara, T., 2006: Heat pumps the trump card in fight against global warming. *The Japan Journal* (October 2006), pp. 22-24.
- York, D. and M. Kushler, 2005: ACEEE's 3rd National scorecard on utility and public benefits energy efficiency programs: A national review and update of state-level activities. ACEEE, Washington, D.C., October 2005.
- Yoshikawa, S., 1997: Japanese DHC system uses untreated sewage as a heat source. CADDET Energy Efficiency Newsletter, June 1997, pp. 8-10.
- Zhao, P.C., L. Zhao, G.L. Ding, and C.L. Zhang, 2003: Temperature matching method of selecting working fluids for geothermal heat pumps. *Applied Thermal Engineering*, 23, pp. 179-195.
- Zhivov, A.M. and A.A. Rymkevich, 1998: Comparison of heating and cooling energy consumption by HVAC system with mixing and displacement air distribution for a restaurant dining area in different climates. ASHRAE Transactions, 104(Part 2), pp. 473-484.
- Zhou, N., 2007: Energy use in China: Sectoral trends and future outlook. LBNL, Energy Analysis Division. LBNL-61904.